



**VOLUME 31** 

**ISSUE 3** 

SEPTEMBER 2024

lapend.org

## LESS Laparoscopic Endoscopic Surgical Science

#### E-ISSN 2587-0610

Volume: 31 Issue: 3 September Year: 2024

#### **EDITORIAL BOARD**

#### Editor

Koray Karabulut Biruni University, Department of General Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye

#### **Editorial Board**

Abdullah Ozgonul Harran University, General Surgery Urfa, Türkiye

Ali Tardu Sultan Murat-I Public Hospital, Gastrointestinal Surgery, Edirne, Türkiye

Bulent Kaya University of Health Sciences, Fatih Sultan Mehmet Training and Research Hospital, General Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye

Cevher Akarsu University of Health Sciences, Bakirkoy Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, General Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye

Erdal Birol Bostanci Türkiye Yuksek Ihtisas Hospital Gastrointestinal Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

Erdal Polat Kartal Kosuyolu Yuksek Ihtisas Hospital, Gastrointestinal Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye

Emrah Otan Liver Transplantation Institute, Malatya, Türkiye

**Erdem Kinaci** University of Health Sciences, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, General Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye

Erkan Oymaci University of Health Sciences, Izmir Bozyaka Training and Research Hospital, Gastrointestinal Surgery, Izmir, Türkiye

Fatih Altintoprak Sakarya University, General Surgery, Sakarya, Türkiye

Fatih Sumer Inonu University, Gastrointestinal Surgery, Malatya, Türkiye

Hilal Ozer Ankara Training and Education Hospital, General Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

Huseyin Berkem

University of Health Sciences, Ankara Numune Training and Research Hospital, General Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

Ilter Ozer Türkiye Yuksek Ihtisas Hospital Gastrointestinal Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

Kerem Karaman Sakarya University, Gastrointestinal Surgery, Sakarya, Türkiye

#### Kerem Tolan

University of Health Sciences, Umraniye Training and Research Hospital, General Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye

#### **Associate Editor**

Sertaç Usta

Inonu University, Department of General Surgery, Malatya, Türkiye

Mürşit Dinçer Fırat University, Department of General Surgery, Elazığ, Türkiye

#### Kessaf Aslar

Ankara Numune Training and Education Hospital, General Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

Mehmet Kaplan Bahcesehir University, General Surgery & Gaziantep Medical Park Hospital, Chief of General Surgery, Istanbul & Gaziantep, Türkiye

Mehmet Mihmanli University of Health Sciences, Sisli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Chief of General Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye

Mehmet Zafer Sabuncuoglu Suleyman Demirel University, General Surgery, Isparta, Türkiye

Metin Ercan Sakarya University, Gastrointestinal Surgery, Sakarya, Türkiye

Metin Kement University of Health Sciences, Kartal Training and Research Hospital, General Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye

Munevver Moran

University of Health Sciences, Ankara Numune Training and Research Hospital, General Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Mustafa Duman

Kartal Kosuyolu Yuksek Ihtisas Hospital, Gastrointestinal Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye

Nuru Bayramov

Azerbaijan Medical University, Head of Department of Surgery Baku, Azerbaijan

#### Sertac Usta

Firat University, General Surgery, Elazig, Türkiye

#### Servet Karagul

University of Health Sciences, Samsun Training and Research Hospital, Gastrointestinal Surgery, Samsun, Türkiye

#### Tahsin Dalgic

Türkiye Yuksek Ihtisas Hospital, Gastrointestinal Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

Tayfun Karahasanoglu

Acibadem Hospital, General Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye

#### Tevfik Tolga Sahin

University of Health Sciences, Adana Numune Training and Research Hospital, General Surgery, Adana, Türkiye

Tolga Muftuoglu

Haydarpasa Numune Training and Education Hospital, General Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye



#### About Journal



#### **History and General Information**

Laparoscopic Endoscopic Surgical Science (LESS) is the official journal of Turkish Association for Endoscopic Laparoscopic Surgery. The Association was founded in 1992 and the journal launched in 1994. The initial name of the journal was Turkish Journal of Endoscopic Laparoscopic Surgery and it was published mainly in Turkish and rarely in English. For a short period of time, the Association made effort to publish another journal in English named as European Journal of Laparoscopic Endoscopic Surgery but it ended in 2015. In 2017, the journal revised the editorial board and some of the previous publishing policies. It begun to be published only in English language and as an open-access electronic journal. The cost of the publication was fully sponsored by the Turkish Association for Endoscopic Laparoscopic Surgery and no article processing charge (APC) was offered to the authors.

#### **Aims and Scope**

Aim of the journal is to publish qualified research material on its scope. The target readership includes academic members or specialists on minimally invasive surgery and endoscopic procedures. Scope of the journal covers the minimally invasive surgical and endoscopic interventions.

#### **Basic Publication Rules**

Authors are responsible for the accuracy of data and the journal is in compliance with the uniform requirements for manuscripts submitted to biomedical journals published by the ICMJ (updated in August 2013). The editorial and publication processes of the journal are conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), the Council of Science Editors (CSE), the European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) as well.

#### Disclaimer

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in Laparoscopic Endoscopic Surgical Science (LESS) reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the editors, the editorial board and the publisher; the editors, the editorial board and the publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials.

#### **Abstracting and Indexing**

Laparoscopic Endoscopic Surgical Sciences is indexed in TUBITAK TR Index, ProQuest, Scope Database, EBSCO, CEEAS, GALE Cengage, OUCI, Scilit and WorldCat.

#### Abbreviation

Laparosc Endosc Surg Sci (LESS)

#### **Publication Fee**

None

Electronic ISSN 2587-0610

#### **Access to Journal Content**

The abstracts and full texts of published articles can be accessed free of charge at www.lapend.org.

© All rights of the articles published in Laparoscopic Endoscopic Surgical Science (LESS) and displayed online at www.lapend.org are reserved by the Turkish Association of Endoscopic Laparoscopic Surgeons

#### Editor

Prof. Dr. Koray Karabulut Biruni University, Department of General Surgery, Istanbul, Türkiye E-mail: koraykarabulut@yahoo.com Phone: +90.212 534 16 05

#### Publisher – Owner

Turkish Association for Endoscopic Laparoscopic Surgery (Ulusal Endoskopik Laparoskopik Cerrahi Dernegi) Address: Topkapi Mahallesi, Şehit A. Başaran Sok., Eroglu Apt. No: 9/1, Fatih, Istanbul-Türkiye Phone: +90 212 534 16 05 Fax: +90 212 414 23 83 Web: www.elcd.org E-mail: info@elcd.org



### Kare Publishing is a subsidiary of Kare Media.

Address: Göztepe Mah. Fahrettin Kerim Gökay Cad. No: 200 Da: 2, Göztepe, Kadıköy, İstanbul Phone: +90 216 550 61 11 Fax: +90 216 550 61 12 Web: www.kareyayincilik.com E-mail: kare@kareyayincilik.com

Publications Coordinator: Burak Türe Graphic Design: Beste Kurtcu

#### **Instructions For Authors**

#### **Information to Authors**

Laparoscopic Endoscopic Surgical Science (LESS) is a peer-reviewed, independent, international periodical that considers for publication clinical and experimental studies, reviews, case reports, technical contributions, and letters to the editor. Scope of the journal covers the minimally invasive surgical and endoscopic interventions. It is an open access journal and published four times (March, June, September, and December) a year in English. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of data and the journal is in compliance with the uniform requirements for manuscripts submitted to biomedical journals published by the ICMJ (updated in August 2013).

#### **Submitting Manuscripts**

LESS accepts online manuscript submission and creating an account before submission is required (www.lapend.org).

#### **Preparation of Manuscripts**

**Title page** should include the title of the manuscript, list of the author(s)' full name(s), email(s) and affiliation(s). Corresponding author's full name, contact information including address, phone, and email address are required.

**Abstract and key words:** Abstract (maximum 250 words) and keywords (minimum three) should be in order. For research articles, the abstract subheadings as Introduction, Methods, Results and Discussion (IMRaD) are required.

**Main text** should be in the IMRaD format (Introduction, Methods, Results and Discussion) for the research articles. For case reports or technical notes, Introduction, Case (or technique) and Discussion sections are necessary. For reviews articles, no special section subheadings are needed. We discourage the use of any but the most necessary of abbreviations.

**References** should be numbered consecutively in the order in which they are first mentioned in the text (6 authors then "et al"). Vancouver referencing style should be used for all references (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform\_requirements.html).

**Tables and Figures** should be in separate files from the main text and uploaded separately. They have to be numbered consecutively in the text order. Tables should be uploaded in MS Word (.doc) and should not be uploaded as pdf, jpeg or else. Figures should be saved in JPEG or TIFF format. No figure should be reproduced from other sources without permission and the ethical requirements of the photographs should be protected. Publication of any personal information or figure about an identifiable living patient requires the explicit consent of the patient or guardian.

**Policy of screening for plagiarism:** The manuscripts are scanned by the Publisher's Office using the iThenticate program for determination of plagiarism and non-ethical situations.

**No fee is charged** for submission, publishing, colored figures or open access. Publication in this journal is free of charge. All the costs are covered by the Turkish Association for Endoscopic Laparoscopic Surgery<sup>-</sup>

#### Open Access and Commons User Licenses Open Access

The LESS is an open access journal which means that all content is freely available without charge to the user or his/her institution. Users are allowed to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of the articles, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without asking prior permission from the publisher or the author. This is in accordance with the BOAI definition of open access.

#### **Commons User Licenses**

Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial (CC BY-NC) For non-commercial purposes, lets others distribute and copy the article, and to include in a collective work, as long as they credit the author(s) and provided they do not alter or modify the article.





#### Contents

#### Volume: 31 Issue: 3 September Year: 2024

#### **RESEARCH ARTICLES**

- 73 The influence of laparoscopic and conventional surgical approaches on the development of surgical site infections in colon cancer

  C. Aydın, M. Torun, S. Ademoğlu, A. O. Sunar, Ö. Özduman, A. S. Senger, E. Polat
- 82 Is macroscopic evaluation sufficient in sleeve gastrectomy specimens?

S. Doğan, B. Öndeş, C. Ceylan

- 87 What to expect in the first 3 months following a sleeve gastrectomy? M. Kaya Tuna, İ. Ertuğrul, Ö. Çakır Madenci
- 93 Laparoscopic versus open right hemicolectomy for colon cancer. Long-term outcomes from a Tertiary Care
  Teaching Hospital
  M. Yıldırım, B. Koca
- 100 Comparison of postoperative outcomes between laparoscopic and mini-incision open appendectomy for acute appendicitis M. Torun
- **106** Evaluation of the clinical impact of preoperative gastroscopy in patients undergoing cholecystectomy: A retrospective study

B. Dinçer, İ. Güden, L. D. Ercan, A. F. K. Gök

- **110** Comparison of VATS and open thoracotomy in anatomical lung resections according to multifaceted parameters S. Kahraman, S. Evman, M. Buz, T. Doğruyol, A. Özdemir, B. Çimenoğlu, R. Demirhan
- **118** The effect of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy on serum levels of vitamin A, D and B12 and iron profile in patients with morbid obesity: Short term outcomes N. Omarov, E. Huseynov
- 123 Contributions and outcomes of terminal ileum intubation in a surgical endoscopy unit: Retrospective cohort study B. Dinçer, S. Ömeroğlu
- 127 Midterm outcomes of one anastomosis gastric bypass versus Roux-en-y gastric bypass: Single center experience S. Karagül, S. Şenol, O. Karaköse, H. Eken
- **133** Comparison of the effects of endoscopic intragastric balloons: A single-center study B. Yalçın Kara, Y. Özel, S. Ç. Ertekin, S. Yardımcı

#### LETTER TO THE EDITOR

142 A rare case in the literature; isolated cystic duct cyst S. Doğan



# The influence of laparoscopic and conventional surgical approaches on the development of surgical site infections in colon cancer

## İsa Caner Aydın,<sup>1</sup> Mehmet Torun,<sup>2</sup> Serkan Ademoğlu<sup>3</sup> Ahmet Orhan Sunar,<sup>2</sup> Ömer Özduman,<sup>2</sup> Aziz Serkan Senger,<sup>2</sup> Erdal Polat<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Gastroenterologic Surgery, TR Ministry of Health, Zonguldak Ataturk State Hospital, Zonguldak, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of Gastroenterologic Surgery, University of Health Sciences, Kosuyolu Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye

<sup>3</sup>Department of Gastroenterologic Surgery, TR Ministry of Health, Gaziantep City Hospital, Gaziantep, Türkiye

#### ABSTRACT

**Introduction:** Minimal invasive surgery techniques are getting more popular by surgeons relying their advantages such as pain control, feasibility and increased affinity. Both techniques have similar prognostic influence regarding survival in colon cancer but increased versatility of laparoscopy in years shows more tendency of laparoscopy among surgeons. This study aims to evaluate of surgical site infection (SSI) rates between conventional and laparoscopic colon cancer procedures.

**Materials and Methods:** Patients operated due to colon adenocarcinoma between 2018 and 2023 evaluated. Emergency, palliative or incomplete resections excluded. Demographic, pathologic, peroperative and postoperative records of patients evaluated. Patients seperated into groups by SSI occurance and surgical method choice.

**Results:** SSI development was found higher in conventional surgery group (30.0% vs 11.6%; p=0.013). In comparison of patients by SSI development; only intraoperative Red Blood Concentrate (RBC) replacement founded to be higher in SSI (+) group (0±1 vs 0±1; p=0.002). All variables associated with SSI development were subjected to univariate regression analysis. It's shown that only conventional surgery choice was a indipendant risk factor for SSI development (OR: 3.489 (1.289 – 9.415); p=0.017).

**Conclusion:** Laparoscopic colon surgery has better SSI rates than conventional colon surgery procedures. Our findings are similar with the general view on SSI ratio's between two surgical practices.

Keywords: Colon Cancer, Laparoscopy, Surgical site infection

#### Introduction

The selection of minimally invasive techniques is becoming increasingly popular among surgeons today. The growing preference for these procedures is driven by the cumulative experience gained over time and the early exposure of new surgeons to these techniques at the start of their practice. As a result, minimally invasive surgical procedures are being chosen more frequently for a vari-





ety of cases.<sup>[1]</sup> In general surgical practice, laparoscopy is gaining ground and popularity daily, extending its use from benign conditions, such as cholecystectomy, to oncological procedures for gastric, colon, and pancreatic cancers, and even to more confined areas.<sup>[1-4]</sup>

There are several reasons that explain the increased adoption of these procedures, despite their higher cost compared to conventional surgical methods. Firstly, minimal incision techniques result in smaller wounds, leading to less postoperative pain and enabling patients to return to their daily activities more quickly. These fundamental advantages make laparoscopy a more favorable option and warrant its consideration over open surgical methods.<sup>[5]</sup>

In addition to these advantages, although it has been noted that there is an initial learning curve and longer operative times associated with the first use of these techniques, recent studies have shown that these concerns have been mitigated. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that minimally invasive techniques offer additional benefits, such as reduced complication rates and improved resection quality.<sup>[5,6]</sup>

Surgical site infections (SSIs) are one of the most frequently attributed advantages of laparoscopy in recent literature reviews. Numerous studies have indicated that the use of laparoscopy significantly reduces the incidence of SSIs.<sup>[7,8]</sup> This study aims to evaluate the impact of the chosen surgical method on the development of SSIs in patients who underwent surgery for colon adenocarcinoma at our center.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of Koşuyolu Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital on 03/09/2024, with reference number 2024/15/900. The records of patients who underwent laparoscopic or conventional colon cancer procedures in the Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery at the same center between 01/01/2018 and 12/31/2023 were reviewed.

Patients who underwent palliative, emergency, or inadequate oncological surgery were excluded. Additionally, any patient lacking complete data on laboratory, pathology, or demographic information, or with follow-up shorter than 30 days, was excluded. The patients' demographic data, comorbidities, pathology results, intraoperative fluid measurements and types (if recorded), intraoperative records, and postoperative ward round records for SSI definitions were evaluated.

Intravenous cefazolin prophylaxis at a dose of 2 or 3 grams, depending on the patient's weight, was administered 60 minutes before surgery, along with 500 mg of metronidazole prophylaxis at 7-hour intervals for all patients.<sup>[9]</sup> A single anesthesia team was responsible for the preoperative and intraoperative management of the patients. No mechanical bowel preparation was administered since rectal cancer patients were excluded. At least one drain was placed at the operation site in all procedures. Skin sterilization was performed using chlorhexidine. SSIs were defined according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) 1988 classifications, with 2017 modifications. SSIs were classified as Superficial Surgical Site Infection (SSSI), Deep Surgical Site Infection (DSSI), and Organ/Space Infection (OSI).<sup>[10,11]</sup> Patients who developed at least one of these subtypes were confirmed as having developed an SSI.

Two analyses were performed on groups formed based on the choice of operation method and the development of SSI. The first analysis compared patients who underwent conventional surgery with those who had laparoscopic surgery. In the second analysis, patients who developed SSI were compared with those without infection. Demographic and clinical data, diagnoses, intraoperative measurements, perioperative and postoperative lactate measurements, and postoperative length of stay (LOS) were compared between these groups.

Statistical analyses were conducted using the SPSS 27.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL) software package. The normality of quantitative variables was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Independent samples t-tests were used for comparison of normally distributed variables between independent groups, while the Mann-Whitney U test was used for non-normally distributed variables. The relationship between qualitative variables was explored using chi-square analysis. Descriptive statistics for normally distributed quantitative variables were presented as mean±standard deviation, while non-normally distributed quantitative variables were presented as median (25th-75th percentile). Descriptive statistics for qualitative variables were expressed as frequencies (%). p-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### Results

A total of 162 patients were included in the study. Regarding the origin of the lesions, 30 were in the cecum, 44 in the ascending colon, 8 in the transverse colon, 22 in the descending colon, and 58 in the sigmoid colon. A total of 42 patients developed an SSI. Among these 42 patients, 39 had a Superficial Surgical Site Infection (SSSI), 14 had a Deep Surgical Site Infection (DSSI), and 10 had an Organ/Space Infection (OSI). When comparing patients based on the surgical method, the proportion of diabetic patients was higher in the laparoscopic group (68.9% vs. 86%; p=0.029). Additionally, the prevalence of coronary artery disease (CAD) was higher in the laparoscopic group (64.7% vs. 83.7%; p=0.020). Age was higher in the conventional surgery group (65±12 vs. 58±14 years; p=0.002), as was Body Mass Index (BMI) (27.99±4.97 vs. 26.49±3.72; p=0.003). Other demographic and pathological variables were similar between the groups.

In the comparison of intraoperative findings, operation time was significantly longer in the laparoscopy group ( $188\pm58$  vs.  $244\pm50$  minutes; p<0.001). Intraoperative fluid replacement was also more restricted in the laparoscopy group ( $2300\pm1900$  vs.  $2380\pm840$  mL; p=0.008). Finally, SSI development was higher in the conventional surgery group (30.0% vs. 11.6%; p=0.013). Other demographic, pathological, and intraoperative variables are presented in Table 1.

In the comparison of patients based on SSI development, only intraoperative red blood cell (RBC) transfusion was higher in the SSI (+) group (0 $\pm$ 1 vs. 0 $\pm$ 1; p=0.002). All other demographic, pathological, and intraoperative variables were similarly distributed between the groups (Table 2).

All variables associated with SSI development in Tables 1 and 2 were subjected to univariate regression analysis. It was shown that only the choice of conventional surgery was an independent risk factor for SSI development (OR: 3.489 [1.289-9.415]; p=0.017). None of the other variables were found to be independent risk factors for SSI development (p>0.05). Since all parameters, except the choice of conventional surgery, were found to be insignificant, these variables were not included in a further multivariate Cox regression analysis to evaluate their prognostic relationship with SSI development (Table 3).

#### **Discussion**

In our study, it was demonstrated that patients undergoing conventional surgery are at a higher risk of developing SSI compared to those undergoing laparoscopic surgery. The incidence of SSI in patients who underwent laparotomy was approximately 3.5 times higher than in those who underwent laparoscopy. Today, one of the most significant factors in the preference for minimally invasive surgical procedures is the improvement in patients' postoperative quality of life. Hospital stay duration, which is closely related to SSIs, is one of the many factors affecting the early return to daily life. A lower rate of SSI development is one of the most crucial factors that enable patients to resume their daily activities as soon as possible.<sup>[12]</sup> Although there are publications showing that SSI development can even affect prognosis determination, there is no clear consensus on this matter.[13-15]

The incidence of SSIs following colorectal cancer surgery can reach up to 20%, according to the literature. The development of SSIs also prolongs hospital stays and increases cost estimates, maintaining its relevance among surgical specialties.<sup>[12]</sup> Studies conducted under the US surgical education improvement program have shown that not only colorectal procedures but also surgical procedures related to other organs are associated with a decreased incidence of SSIs in minimally invasive procedures.<sup>[16]</sup> The reasons cited for this include better surgical visualization, smaller incisions, and a reduced systemic inflammatory response associated with minimally invasive procedures.<sup>[17]</sup>

There are numerous recent studies on this topic, which is central to surgical practice. In a study comparing minimally invasive techniques, cases of laparoscopy and robotic surgery were evaluated, and it was found that neither method had an advantage over the other in terms of SSI development. However, the study showed that bleeding exceeding 100 ml, a history of diabetes, and incision size were independent risk factors for SSI development. <sup>[12]</sup> Although our study also demonstrated that a history of diabetes and intraoperative bleeding were significant for SSI development, they were not found to be independent risk factors in multivariate analyses. Since our study compared open surgery with laparoscopy cases, incision sizes were not evaluated. We only included colon cancer patients. Our study demonstrated that the incidence of SSI was lower with the choice of minimally invasive surgery.

Table 1. Demographic and pathologic variable analysis depending on laparoscopy choice			
Variables	Conventional n=119 (73.5%)	Laparoscopy n=43 (26.5%)	р, †
Gender			
Male	63 (61.3%)	25 (58.1%)	0.713
Female	46 (38.7%)	18 (41.9%)	
Hypertension			
No	50 (42%)	24 (55.8%)	0.120
Yes	69 (58%)	19 (44.2%)	
Diabetes			
No	82 (68.9%)	37 (86%)	0.029*
Yes	37 (31.1%)	6 (14%)	
CAD			
No	77 (64.7%)	36 (83.7%)	0.020*
Yes	42 (35.3%)	7 (16.3%)	
COPD	· · ·	· · · ·	
No	107 (89.9%)	38 (88.4%)	0.777
Yes	12 (10.1%)	5 (11.6%)	
Anemia	· · ·	· · · ·	
No	103 (86.6%)	38 (88.4%)	0.761
Yes	16 (13.4%)	5 (11.6%)	
Tumor Site		· · · · ·	
Caecum	23 (19.3%)	7 (16.3%)	0.221
Right Colon	32 (26.9%)	12 (27.9%)	
Transverse Colon	8 (6.7%)	0 (0.0%)	
Left Colon	18 (15.1%)	4 (9.3%)	
Siamoid Colon	38 (31.9%)	20 (46.5%)	
T Stage			
T1	6 (5%)	3 (7%)	0.360
Τ2	7 (5.9%)	6 (14%)	
T3	85 (71.4%)	28 (65%)	
T4	21 (17.6%)	6 (14%)	
N Stage	_ ( ( )		
NO	74 (62.2%)	24 (55.8%)	0.763
N1	28 (23.5%)	12 (27.9%)	
N2	17 (14.3%)	7 (16.3%)	
M Stage		. ( ,	
MO	109 (91.6%)	43 (100%)	0.062
M1	9 (7.6%)	0 (0%)	
Neoadiuvant Chemotheraphy			
Νο	118 (99 2%)	1 (100%)	0 547
Yes	43 (0.8%)	0 (0%)	0.011
IVI	10 (0.070)	0 (0.0)	
Negative	79 (66 4%)	24 (55.8%)	0 1 9 3
Positive	39 (32 8%)	19 (44 2%)	0.150
PNI	00 (02.070)	13 (17.270)	
Negative	89 (74 8%)	31 (72.1%)	0.688
Positive	29 (25.2%)	12 (27.9%)	

Table 1. Demographic and pathologic variable analysis depending on laparoscopy choice (CONT.)				
Variables	Conventional n=119 (73.5%)	Laparoscopy n=43 (26.5%)	p, †	
Grade				
Good	17 (14.3%)	9 (20.9%)	0.483	
Moderate	83 (71.4%)	30 (69.8%)		
Poor	17 (14.3%)	4 (9.3%)		
Stage				
1	10 (0.1%)	6 (14%)	0.199	
II	60 (50%)	20 (46.5%)		
III	40 (33.6%)	17 (39.5%)		
IV	9 (16.3%)	0 (0%)		
SSI				
No	82 (70%)	38 (88.4%)	0.013*	
Yes	37 (30%)	5 (11.6%)		
ASA Score				
1	5 (4.2%)	3 (7%)	0.329	
2	40 (33.6%)	15 (34.9%)		
3	66 (55.5%)	25 (58.1%)		
4	8 (6.7%)	0 (0%)		
Anastomosis Leakage				
No	115 (96.6%)	42 (97.7%)	0.736	
Yes	4 (3.4%)	1 (2.3%)		
	Mean±SD	p‡		
Age	65±12	58±14	0.002**	
BMI	27.99±4.97	26.49±3.72	0.003**	
Operation Time / minutes	188±58	244±50	<0.001***	
Intraoperative RBC Replacement / per unite	0±1	0±1	0.055	
Postoperative RBC Replacement / per unite	1±2	1±1	0.128	
Peroperative Fluid Replacement / mL	2300±1900	2380±840	0.008**	
Peroperative Bleeding /mL	137±114	92±112	0.357	

CAD: Coronary Artery Disease; COPD: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease; LVI: Lymphivascular Invasion; PNI: Perineural Invasion; SSI: Surgical Site Infection; BMI: Body Mass Index; ASA: American Society of Anesthesiology; RBC: Red Blood Cell Concentrate; mL: milliliter; LOS: Length of Hospital Stay; SD: Standard Deviation; \* p<0,05, \*\*p<0,01, \*\*\*p<0.001, † Chi-Square, ‡ Indipendent t Test.

In a separate study involving 670 patients who underwent laparoscopic colorectal surgery, factors affecting the development of SSI were evaluated. It was shown that the use of polydioxanone suture (PDS) for abdominal closure and a history of diabetes could influence SSI development, with multivariate analysis indicating that only the use of PDS reduced the risk of SSI.<sup>[18]</sup> The study mentioned that only intracorporeal stapled anastomosis was performed and described the areas and incisions used for specimen extraction. However, the rates of conversion to open surgery were not reported. In parallel with our study, demographic factors such as bleeding, operative time, anemia, and BMI were not found to be associated with SSI development.

In another large-scale prospective study involving over 3,000 laparoscopic cases, factors affecting SSI development were evaluated. Cases were compared based on colon and rectal surgeries. It was shown that rectal

Table 2. Demographic and pathologic variable analysis depending on SSI			
Variables	SSI (-) n=120 (74.1%)	SSI (+) n=42 (25.9%)	p, †
Gender			
Male	71	27	0.559
Female	49	15	
Hypertension			
No	55	19	0.947
Yes	65	23	
Diabetes			
No	88	31	0 952
Yes	32	11	0.002
CAD	02		
No	86	27	0.370
Ves	34	15	0.010
	54	15	
No	100	36	0 352
Vac	109	50	0.332
Anomio	11	0	
Allellia	105	26	0 767
No	105	30 C	0.707
Tes	15	0	
	22	0	0.010
	22	8	0.910
	32	12	
Transverse Colon	5	3	
Left Colon	16	6	
Sigmoid Colon	45	13	
T Stage			0.040
	8	1	0.242
	12	1	
	82	31	
14 N Stago	18	9	
NO	72	25	0.024
NI	30	10	0.924
N2	17	7	
M Stage		•	
MO	114	38	0.197
M1	5	4	
Neoadjuvant Chemotheraphy			
No	119	42	
Yes	1	0	
LVI			
Negative	71	32	0.055
Positive	48	10	
PNI			
Negative	86	34	0.267
Positive	33	8	

Table 2. Demographic and pathologic variable analysis depending on SSI (CONT.)			
Variables	SSI (-) n=120 (74.1%)	SSI (+) n=42 (25.9%)	р, †
Grade			
Good	21	5	0.703
Moderate	83	30	
Poor	15	6	
Stage			
I	14	2	0.374
II	59	21	
III	42	15	
IV	5	4	
ASA Score			
1	6	2	0.859
2	40	15	
3	69	22	
4	5	3	
Anastomosis Leakage			
No	115	42	0.179
Yes	5	0	
	Mean±SD	p‡	
Age	63±13	63±2	0.542
BMI	27.35±4.43	28.29±5.42	0.268
Operation Time / minutes	205±61	194±60	0.585
Intraoperative RBC Replacement / per unite	0±1	0±1	0.002**
Postoperative RBC Replacement / per unite	1±2	1±1	0.587
Peroperative Fluid Replacement / mL	2328±1028	2300±1040	0.732
Peroperative Bleeding / mL	117±118	148±104	0.322

CAD: Coronary Artery Disease, COPD: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, LVI: Lymphivascular Invasion, PNI: Perineural Invasion, SSI: Surgical Site Infection, BMI: Body Mass Index, ASA: American Society of Anesthesiology, RBC: Red Blood Cell Concentrate, LOS: Length of Hospital Stay, mL: milliliter, sd: Standard Deviation, \* p<0,05, \*\*p<0,01, † Chi-Square, ‡ Indipendent t Test.

#### Table 3. Cox Regression Analysis for Dependants Effecting Surgical Site Infection

Prognostic Factors	OR	95% CI	р
Conventional Surgery	3.489	1.249 - 9.415	0.017*
Diabetes	0.976	0.439 – 2.167	0.952
CAD	1.405	0.667 – 2.962	0.371
Age	1.000	0.972 - 1.029	0.994
Operation Time / minutes	0.997	0.991 – 1.003	0.316
Intraoperative RBC Replacement / per unite	0.634	0.347 – 1.161	0.140
Peroperative Fluid Replacement / mL	0.877	1.000 - 1.000	1.000

CAD: Coronary Artery Disease, RBC: Red Blood Cell Concentrate OR: Odds Ratio, CI: Confidence Interval, \* p<0,05.

surgery led to a higher incidence of SSI compared to colon surgery.<sup>[19]</sup> In our study, however, rectal cancer patients were not included due to differences in oncological principles and the influence of neoadjuvant therapy as a significant factor. Finally, in a study evaluating readmissions, it was shown that patients who underwent laparoscopic colon surgery had lower rates of SSI development, shorter hospital stays, and reduced rates of re-laparotomy, bleeding, and 30-day mortality. <sup>[20]</sup> Similarly, in our study, the rates of SSI development and bleeding were lower in patients who underwent laparoscopic surgery.

The main limiting factor of our study is its retrospective design. Although the culture growth results of most patients were accessible in the hospital records, in some cases, the outcomes had to be determined by evaluating infection records, which means that while the presence of growth was documented, the specific pathogen could not be identified. Additionally, including all colon segments may lead to heterogeneity due to potential differences in incision types and anastomosis techniques. The strengths of our study include complete patient follow-up records and the exclusion of rectal cancer patients and those who received neoadjuvant therapy to prevent bias.

The incidence of SSI is lower in patients undergoing laparoscopic colon resection compared to those who undergo open surgery. When evaluating other factors influencing SSI development, we believe it would be appropriate to consider the choice of minimally invasive surgery in conjunction with these other factors.

#### Conclusion

The preference for laparoscopy in colon cancer significantly reduces the incidence of SSI. Although our study showed that factors such as diabetes and bleeding also influenced SSI development, only the choice of laparoscopy was found to be an independent risk factor. It is suggested that more specific studies could be conducted by comparing standard surgical preferences and anastomosis techniques in open and laparoscopic cases, focusing on isolated surgical procedures targeting specific anatomical regions of the colon.

#### Disclosures

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of Koşuyolu Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital on 03/09/2024, with ref-

erence number 2024/15/900. The records of patients who underwent laparoscopic or conventional colon cancer procedures in the Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery at the same center between 01/01/2018 and 12/31/2023 were reviewed.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

Authorship Contributions: Concept – İ.C.A., M.T.; Design – İ.C.A., S.A.; Supervision – E.P.; Data Collection – A.O.S., S.A.; Analysis and/ or interpretation – İ.C.A., M.T.; Literature Search – İ.C.A.; Writing – İ.C.A., A.O.S., S.A.; Critical Review – Ö.Ö., A.S.S., E.P.

#### References

- Mandrioli M, Inaba K, Piccinini A, Biscardi A, Sartelli M, Agresta F, et al. Advances in laparoscopy for acute care surgery and trauma. World J Gastroenterol 2016;22(2):668–80.
- 2. Chang J, Sherman SK, De Andrade JP, Hoshi H, Howe JR, Chan CHF. Role of diagnostic laparoscopy during pancreatic cancer surgery in the modern era. J Surg Res 2024;298:269– 76.
- Haug TR, Ørntoft MW, Miskovic D, Iversen LH, Johnsen SP, Madsen AH. How can surgical skills in laparoscopic colon surgery be objectively assessed? A scoping review. Surg Endosc 2022;36(3):1761–74.
- Huang C, Liu H, Hu Y, Sun Y, Su X, Cao H, et al; Chinese Laparoscopic Gastrointestinal Surgery Study (CLASS) Group. Laparoscopic vs open distal gastrectomy for locally advanced gastric cancer: Five-year outcomes from the CLASS-01 randomized clinical trial. JAMA Surg 2022;157(1):9–17.
- Cirocchi R, Campanile FC, Di Saverio S, Popivanov G, Carlini L, Pironi D, et al. Laparoscopic versus open colectomy for obstructing right colon cancer: A systematic review and metaanalysis. J Visc Surg 2017;154(6):387–99.
- Millo P, Rispoli C, Rocco N, Contul RB, Fabozzi M, Grivon M, et al. Laparoscopic surgery for colon cancer. Ann Gastroenterol 2013;26(3):198–203.
- Caroff DA, Chan C, Kleinman K, Calderwood MS, Wolf R, Wick EC, et al. Association of open approach vs laparoscopic approach with risk of surgical site infection after colon surgery. JAMA Netw Open 2019;2(10):e1913570.
- Caroff DA, Chan C, Kleinman K, Calderwood MS, Wolf R, Platt R, et al. Combined laparoscopic and open colon surgery rankings fail to accurately rank hospitals by surgical-site infection rate. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2023;44(4):624– 30.
- Aziz M, Beale J, Sheehan B, Bandy N, Martyak M. Perioperative antibiotic selection and surgical site infection in elective colon surgery. Am Surg 2020;86(9):1091–3.
- Garner JS, Jarvis WR, Emori TG, Horan TC, Hughes JM. CDC definitions for nosocomial infections, 1988. Am J Infect Control 1988;16(3):128–40.

- Berríos-Torres SI, Umscheid CA, Bratzler DW, Leas B, Stone EC, Kelz RR; Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. Centers for disease control and prevention guideline for the prevention of surgical site infection, 2017. JAMA Surg 2017;152(8):784–91.
- Ni LT, Zhao R, Ye YR, Ouyang YM, Chen X. Incidence of surgical site infection in minimally invasive colorectal surgery. World J Gastrointest Surg 2024;16(4):1121–9.
- 13. Katsumata K, Enomoto M, Ishizaki T, Fujita S, Kanemitsu Y, Ito M, et al; Colorectal Cancer Study Group of Japan Clinical Oncology Group. Risk factors for surgical site infection and association of surgical site infection with survival of lower rectal cancer patients without clinical lateral pelvic lymph node metastasis (clinical Stage II/III): Analysis of data from JCOG0212. Clin Exp Metastasis 2021;38(5):459–66.
- Karahan M, Mulkut F, Okut G. Factors affecting survival in stage 2–3 colorectal cancer: A single-center retrospective study. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2024;28(2):615–21.
- 15. Huh JW, Lee WY, Park YA, Cho YB, Kim HC, Yun SH, et al. Oncological outcome of surgical site infection after colorectal

cancer surgery. Int J Colorectal Dis 2019;34(2):277-83.

- Gandaglia G, Ghani KR, Sood A, Meyers JR, Sammon JD, Schmid M, et al. Effect of minimally invasive surgery on the risk for surgical site infections: Results from the National Surgical Quality Improvement Program (NSQIP) Database. JAMA Surg 2014;149(10):1039–44.
- 17. Delgado S, Lacy AM, Filella X, Castells A, García-Valdecasas JC, Pique JM, et al. Acute phase response in laparoscopic and open colectomy in colon cancer: Randomized study. Dis Colon Rectum 2001;44(5):638–46.
- Nakamura T, Takayama Y, Sato T, Watanabe M. Risk factors for wound infection after laparoscopic surgery for colon cancer. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2020;30(1):45–8.
- Ikeda A, Fukunaga Y, Akiyoshi T, Nagayama S, Nagasaki T, et al. Wound infection in colorectal cancer resections through a laparoscopic approach: A single-center prospective observational study of over 3000 cases. Discov Oncol 2021;12(1):2.
- Esemuede IO, Gabre-Kidan A, Fowler DL, Kiran RP. Risk of readmission after laparoscopic vs open colorectal surgery. Int J Colorectal Dis 2015;30(11):1489–94.



## Is macroscopic evaluation sufficient in sleeve gastrectomy specimens?

Serhat Doğan,<sup>1</sup> Dahadır Öndeş,<sup>2</sup> Cengiz Ceylan<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of General Surgery, Kayseri Special Acibadem Hospital, Kayseri, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of General Surgery, Turgut Ozal University, Malatya, Türkiye <sup>3</sup>Department of Gastroenterology Surgery, Eskişehir City Hospital, Eskisehir, Türkiye

#### ABSTRACT

**Introduction:** The incidence of bariatric procedures is on the rise, primarily driven by the escalating prevalence of obesity. Among these procedures, laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy (LSG) has gained significant popularity. However, ongoing debates persist regarding the necessity of microscopic examination of postoperative pathology specimens for certain benign conditions, including those related to bariatric surgery, due to financial concerns. In our retrospective study, we aimed to investigate the adequacy of macroscopic evaluation of pathology specimens obtained from patients who underwent bariatric surgery and to identify any unforeseen pathologies that may be detected through microscopic evaluation.

**Materials and Methods:** Demographic and pathological data of patients who underwent surgical intervention for morbid obesity at our clinic from May 2017 to December 2021 were retrieved from the patient database. Following the macroscopic assessment of LSG specimens, the surgeon identified suspicious lesions, prompting further microscopic evaluation by pathologists. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

**Results:** A total of 225 patients and corresponding specimens were included in the study. The majority of patients were female (82.2%). The median age of the patients was 36 (range: 19–61) years, and the mean preoperative body mass index (BMI) was 42.6±4.21 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Macroscopic examinations revealed pathological suspicions in 21 cases (9.3%), and subsequent microscopic evaluations confirmed pathology in 20 of these cases (p<0.001). Notably, microscopic evaluation of all specimens identified pathology in 175 patients (77.8%).

**Conclusion:** Based on our findings, we conclude that relying solely on macroscopic examination of LSG specimens is inadequate for detecting lesions. Therefore, we strongly advocate for the inclusion of microscopic evaluation, particularly due to its importance in detecting premalignant lesions. We recommend that microscopic assessment be routinely performed to ensure comprehensive pathological evaluation in LSG specimens.

Keywords: Bariatric surgery, Histopathology, Obesity

#### Introduction

The global prevalence of obesity is trending upwards, with a notable increase observed particularly in the United States. <sup>[1,2]</sup> Obesity contributes to the development of numerous illnesses, such as hypertension, Type 2 diabetes mellitus, coronary artery disease, dyslipidemia, and obesity-related malignancies, resulting in increased healthcare costs for countries.<sup>[3]</sup> Recently, bariatric surgeries have emerged as the most successful and cost-effective long-term treatment





modalities for obesity.<sup>[4]</sup> Currently, laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (LRYGB) and laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy (LSG) are the two most frequently performed bariatric procedures in North America.<sup>[5]</sup> When considering postoperative complications and the need for reoperations, LSG has demonstrated considerable advantages.<sup>[6]</sup>

LSG, a restrictive procedure involving the resection of approximately three-quarters of the stomach, differs from LRYGB in terms of the amount of stomach tissue sent for pathological examination. While no portion of the stomach is typically submitted to pathology in LRYGB, a significant portion of the stomach is sent for pathological evaluation in LSG. Existing literature indicates that abnormal histological findings are observed in 31% to 96% of specimens examined after LSG.<sup>[7,8]</sup> Among the benign cases, gastritis represents the majority. The incidence of premalignant lesions is around 2%, while malignant lesions occur at a rate of 0.4%.<sup>[9,10]</sup>

A retrospective study was designed to assess whether macroscopic evaluation alone would be sufficient in identifying premalignant and malignant lesions, and to determine if pathological conditions could be detected solely through macroscopic examination, given the predominantly benign nature of LSG specimens.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### **Patient Selection and Study Design**

The data of a total of 247 patients who underwent obesity surgery at the General Surgery Clinic of Malatya Education and Research Hospital between May 2017 and December 2021 were analyzed for the study. The study protocol received ethics approval from the Malatya Turgut Özal University Rectorate Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee on June 15<sup>th</sup>, with the reference number E-30785963-020-160996. Patient data, including demographic information such as age, sex, and body mass index (BMI), as well as postoperative pathology specimen results (specifically Helicobacter pylori [Hp] status and histopathology), were extracted from the hospital's patient database.

All patients who underwent LSG were included in the study. The pathological specimens obtained from these patients were evaluated both macroscopically and microscopically in the postoperative period. Patients who underwent LRYGB (seven patients) and those for whom perioperative macroscopic evaluation data were unavailable (fifteen patients) were excluded from the study (Fig. 1).



#### Figure 1. Flow chart of the study.

After the exclusions, a total of 225 patients were included in the study.

The macroscopic pathological evaluation of the specimens was performed by the surgeon through palpation and visual inspection. Suspicious areas were marked and evaluated microscopically by two different pathologists. Additionally, all other specimens were evaluated macroscopically and microscopically by pathologists.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 23 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The normality of distribution was tested using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. All continuous variables were expressed as medians with minimum and maximum values. Categorical variables were analyzed using the chi-square test. The frequency and percentage values of these variables were presented. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

#### **Results**

Among the 225 patients included in the study, 185 (82.2%) were female and 40 (17.8%) were male, with a median age of 36 years (range: 19–61). The mean BMI was  $42.6\pm4.21$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Table 1). Upon macroscopic examination of the specimens, 21 cases were identified as potentially having

Table 1. Patients Characteristics	
Age, years (min-max)	36 (19-61)
BMI, kg/m²	42.6±4.21
Sex, Female	185 (82.2%)
BMI: Body Mass Index.	

a pathology, and of these marked areas, 20 (95.2%) exhibited pathology upon microscopic evaluation. Among all specimens, 50 (22.2%) patients were classified as normal, while pathology was detected in 175 (77.8%) patients. The majority of these cases (152; 67.7%) presented with chronic gastritis (Table 2). Premalignant lesions were observed in 11 (4.9%) patients, with intestinal metaplasia accounting for 3.1% and atrophic gastritis for 1.8% of cases. Furthermore, pathology evaluations revealed that 65 patients were positive for Hp.

As confirmed by microscopic examination, macroscopic examination demonstrated statistical significance in detecting pathology (p<0.001). The sensitivity of macroscopic examination was 40.0%, with a specificity of 99.4%, a positive predictive value of 95.2%, and a negative predictive value of 14.7%. Among the 21 pathologically suspicious areas identified macroscopically, eight were determined to be fundic gland polyps, seven were diagnosed as chronic gastritis, three as atrophic gastritis, two as intestinal metaplasia, and one as benign. Notably, only 45.5% of premalignant lesions exhibited macroscopic suspicion for pathological focus (Table 3).

Table 2. Pathological Evaluation			
Macroscopic evaluation		р	
Suspicion of pathology	21 (9.3%)	<0.001	
Microscopic evaluation			
Benign	50 (22.2%)		
Gastritis	152 (67.7%)		
Fundic gland polyps	8 (3.6%)		
Lymphoid aggregates	4 (1.8%)		
Premalignant Lesion			
Intestinal metaplasia	7 (3.1%)		
Atrophic gastritis	4 (1.8%)		

p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## Table 3. Results of suspicious foci in macroscopicevaluation

Microscopic evaluation	
Benign	1 (4.8%)
Gastritis	7 (33.3%)
Fundic gland polyps	8 (38.1%)
Premalignant Lesion	
Intestinal metaplasia	2 (9.5%)
Atrophic gastritis	3 (14.3%)

#### **Discussion**

Currently, the global prevalence of obesity is increasing, leading to a rise in the number of bariatric surgeries performed. Among these procedures, LSG has gained significant popularity worldwide. Despite being primarily performed for benign indications, LSG highlights the importance of both macroscopic and microscopic evaluation of pathological samples. In our study, we found that macroscopic examination of LSG samples yielded statistically significant results in detecting pathological conditions, as demonstrated and confirmed by microscopic examination. However, the sensitivity of macroscopic evaluation was notably low. Macroscopic evaluations identified only 20 out of 175 pathological conditions and only 45.5% of premalignant lesions.

Financial efficiency has become a major concern for healthcare providers, prompting the questioning of the necessity of histological examination for every resected tissue sample. Particularly in cases where surgery is performed for benign conditions, there is a debate regarding the need for microscopic examination if malignancy is not suspected following macroscopic examination. A related study aimed to evaluate the requirement for histological examination of resected appendix, gallbladder, or hemorrhoids that appeared macroscopically unchanged.<sup>[11]</sup>

Hansen et al.<sup>[12]</sup> highlighted in their study that the complete pathological evaluation of gastric specimens from various institutions incurred significant costs ranging from \$500 to \$1500 per sample. Their findings indicated that this extensive evaluation may not be necessary. Among a population of 351 patients, none of the samples revealed pathological malignancies requiring immediate treatment or urgent follow-up beyond standard post-surgical obesity monitoring. The authors argued that, particularly in an era of escalating healthcare expenses, performing a comprehensive pathological assessment of the gastric remnant following LSG is unnecessary, especially when no apparent abnormalities are observed during the surgical procedure.

AbdullGaffar et al.<sup>[13]</sup>, in a study including 546 patients, reported that 54% of the gastric specimens were normal, while premalignant lesions were identified in 1.8% of cases. They suggested that macroscopic evaluation and palpation by the surgeon should initially be performed on the specimens, with subsequent microscopic analysis conducted only in the presence of positive findings.

85

Walędziak et al.<sup>[14]</sup>, in a study analyzing a total of 1,252 cases, emphasized the importance of conducting surgical macroscopic evaluations of specimens following LSG as a standard practice. They recommended that pathological examination should be carried out if any doubts arise during the macroscopic evaluation.

Yardimci et al.<sup>[15]</sup>, in their study of 755 cases, identified neoplasms in four cases, representing a prevalence rate of 0.5%. Canil et al.<sup>[16]</sup>, in a study conducted over a period of five years with a total of 925 cases, detected gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs) at a rate of 0.3%. In the study conducted by Almazeedi et al.<sup>[17]</sup>, where the histopathological results of 656 patients were examined, GISTs were observed in 12 patients (1.8%) with atrophic gastritis, a premalignant lesion. In our study, premalignant lesions were observed in 11 cases, accounting for a prevalence rate of 4.9%.

Obesity has been established as a significant risk factor for the development of malignancies. While increased production of estrogen contributes to a higher frequency of genital malignancies in obese individuals, there is also a notable incidence of GISTs in this population.<sup>[18]</sup> Timely diagnosis of GISTs is crucial, as they can have poor outcomes if left undetected. Even after undergoing radical oncological resection, 40–50% of patients may experience relapse.<sup>[19]</sup> In our study, no cases of GISTs or other malignant lesions were detected.

#### Limitations

One of the significant limitations of this study is its retrospective nature and the relatively limited patient population. Additionally, despite the fact that the majority of the stomach is examined in the pathology specimens, there is a possibility of undetected premalignant or benign conditions in the remnant gastric tissue that may require treatment. Therefore, it is imperative for patients to undergo preoperative and postoperative gastroscopy to ensure comprehensive evaluation and management.

#### Conclusion

Microscopic evaluations of LSG specimens predominantly reveal gastritis. However, our study, along with others, has identified the presence of premalignant lesions. Although the surgeon's macroscopic evaluation can detect polypoid and ulcerated lesions, only half of the premalignant lesions are identifiable through this method. Therefore, we strongly recommend that LSG specimens undergo both macroscopic and microscopic examinations to ensure comprehensive pathological assessment.

#### Disclosures

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Malatya Turgut Özal University Rectorate Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee on June 15<sup>th</sup>, with the reference number E-30785963-020-160996.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

Authorship Contributions: Concept – S.D.; Design – S.D., C.C.; Supervision – S.D., C.C.; Materials – S.D.; Data collection and/or processing – S.D., C.C., B.Ö.; Analysis and/or interpretation – S.D., C.C., B.Ö.; Literature search – S.D., C.C., B.Ö.; Writing – S.D., C.C.; Critical review – S.D., C.C., B.Ö.

#### References

- Hales CM, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity and severe obesity among adults: United States, 2017– 2018. NCHS Data Brief 2020;(360):1–8.
- 2. World Health Organization. World Health Organization: Health topics: Obesity. Available at: http://www.who.int/topics/obesity/en/. Accessed Oct 10, 2024.
- Borisenko O, Adam D, Funch-Jensen P, Ahmed AR, Zhang R, Colpan Z, et al. Bariatric surgery can lead to net cost savings to health care systems: Results from a comprehensive European decision analytic model. Obes Surg 2015;25:1559–68.
- Lester ELW, Padwal RS, Birch DW, Sharma AM, So H, Ye F, Klarenbach SW. The real-world cost-effectiveness of bariatric surgery for the treatment of severe obesity: A costutility analysis. CMAJ Open 2021:9(2):E673–9.
- English WJ, DeMaria EJ, Brethauer SA, Mattar SG, Rosenthal RJ, Morton JM. American Society for Metabolic and Bariatric Surgery estimation of metabolic and bariatric procedures performed in the United States in 2016. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2018;14(3):259–63.
- Zhao H, Jiao L. Comparative analysis for the effect of Rouxen-Y gastric bypass vs sleeve gastrectomy in patients with morbid obesity: Evidence from 11 randomized clinical trials (meta-analysis). Int J Surg 2019;72:216–23.
- Öner Rİ, Özdaş S. Histopathological findings in morbid obese patients undergoing laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: Does H. pylori infection effective on pathological changes? Obes Surg 2018;28(10):3136–41.
- Ohanessian SE, Rogers AM, Karamchandani DM. Spectrum of gastric histopathologies in severely obese American patients undergoing sleeve gastrectomy. Obes Surg 2016;26(3):595– 602.
- Nowak K, DiPalma A, Serra S, Quereshy F, Jackson T, Okrainec A, et al. Review of pathological findings in laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy specimens performed for morbid obesity. J Clin Pathol 2020;73(10):618–23.
- 10. Di Palma A, Alhabdan S, Maeda A, Mattu F, Chetty R, Serra S, et al. Unexpected histopathological findings after sleeve

gastrectomy. Surg Endosc 2020;34(5):2158-63.

- Lohsiriwat V, Vongjirad A, Lohsiriwat D. Value of routine histopathologic examination of three common surgical specimens: Appendix, gallbladder, and hemorrhoid. World J Surg 2009;33(10):2189–93.
- Hansen SK, Pottorf BJ, Hollis HW Jr, Rogers JL, Husain FA. Is it necessary to perform full pathologic review of all gastric remnants following sleeve gastrectomy? Am J Surg 2017;214(6):1151-5.
- AbdullGaffar B, Raman L, Khamas A, AlBadri F. Should we abandon routine microscopic examination in bariatric sleeve gastrectomy specimens? Obes Surg 2016;26(1):105–10.
- Walędziak M, Różańska-Walędziak A, Janik MR, Paśnik KW, Kowalewski PK. Macroscopic evaluation of gastric specimens after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy—an optimum screening test for incidental pathologies? Obes Surg 2019;29(1):28–31.
- 15. Yardimci E, Bozkurt S, Baskoy L, Bektasoglu HK, Gecer MO,

Yigman S, et al. Rare entities of histopathological findings in 755 sleeve gastrectomy cases: A synopsis of preoperative endoscopy findings and histological evaluation of the specimen. Obes Surg 2018;28(5):1289–95.

- Canil AM, Iossa A, Termine P, Caporilli D, Petrozza V, Silecchia G. Histopathology findings in patients undergoing laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. Obes Surg 2018;28(6):1760-5.
- 17. Almazeedi S, Al-Sabah S, Al-Mulla A, Al-Murad A, Al-Mossawi A, Al-Enezi K, et al. Gastric histopathologies in patients undergoing laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomies. Obes Surg 2013;23(3):314–9.
- Yuval JB, Khalaileh A, Abu-Gazala M, Shachar Y, Keidar A, Mintz Y, et al. The true incidence of gastric GIST-a study based on morbidly obese patients undergoing sleeve gastrectomy. Obes Surg 2014;24(12):2134-7.
- 19. Rutkowski P, Hompes D. Combined therapy of gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Surg Oncol Clin N Am 2016;25(4):735– 59.



## What to expect in the first 3 months following a sleeve gastrectomy?

Müjgan Kaya Tuna,<sup>1</sup> ismail Ertuğrul,<sup>2</sup> i Özlem Çakır Madenci,<sup>3</sup> Dilek Yavuzer<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Obesity, Dr. Lutfi Kırdar Kartal City Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of General Surgery, Dr. Lutfi Kırdar Kartal City Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye <sup>3</sup>Department of Biochemistry, Dr. Lutfi Kırdar Kartal City Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye <sup>4</sup>Department of Pathology, Sancaktepe Şehit Prof. Dr. İlhan Varank Training and Research Hospita, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### ABSTRACT

**Introduction:** The purpose of this descriptive study was to analyze the clinical, laboratory, anthropometric, and histological results of patients who underwent laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy (LSG) before and three months after the operation.

**Materials and Methods:** A total of 110 patients who were followed and underwent LSG between January 2021 and December 2021 were included in this study. Body mass index (BMI), waist and hip circumference, soft lean mass (SLM), percent body fat (PBF), and common laboratory parameters were evaluated before and three months after the LSG. Endoscopic biopsies and LSG specimens were examined by the pathology department.

**Results:** The mean age of the patients was 40.8±11.3 years, and 78.4% were female. There was no significant difference in age in terms of gender (p=0.789). The mean age was significantly lower in patients without comorbid diseases and chronic drug use (p<0.001). There was a significant decrease in BMI, PBF, SLM, glucose, HOMA-IR, HbA1c, total cholesterol, and triglyceride values in the third month (all p's <0.001). A significant correlation was observed between PBF% change and SLM% change values at post-op 3rd month (r=0.332, p=0.001). BMI% and PBF% change showed a stronger correlation than BMI% and SLM% change with (r=0.447, p<0.001) and (r=0.253, p=0.016), respectively. Histopathologic findings of LSG revealed gastrointestinal stromal tumor in 2 cases, neuroendocrine hyperplasia in 2 cases, and intestinal metaplasia in 13 cases, which were detected incidentally.

**Conclusion:** LSG is an effective treatment for obesity and associated comorbidities, with significant improvements observed in metabolic parameters, hypertension, and laboratory values. Careful monitoring and follow-up are essential to detect and treat potential histopathologic findings.

Keywords: Bariatric Surgery, Gastrectomy, Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors, Obesity

#### Introduction

More than 1.9 billion adults worldwide are overweight, and 650 million of them are obese, making obesity a se-

vere health problem. This condition increases the risk of numerous comorbidities, including hypertension, stroke, dyslipidemia, type 2 diabetes, osteoarthritis, asthma, cer-





However, psychiatric status and patient awareness are critical selection factors, given the significant impact of surgical consequences.<sup>[3]</sup> Bariatric surgery has shown remarkable effectiveness in achieving long-term weight loss and preventing obesity-related comorbidities, with low morbidity and mortality rates.<sup>[4]</sup> Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (LRYGB) (a malabsorptive/restrictive type) and laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy (LSG) (mainly a restrictive type) are the two most frequently used bariatric surgical techniques.<sup>[2]</sup> These surgeries alter appetite and eating behavior by changing levels of gastrointestinal or exogenic hormones like ghrelin, neuropeptide Y, and peptide YY (PYY). <sup>[5]</sup> Peptide YY (PYY) is released postprandially from the distal gastrointestinal tract to inhibit the release of neuropeptide Y. Ghrelin injections in humans stimulate food intake, while PYY infusion induces satiety.<sup>[6]</sup> Both LRYGB and LSG increase postprandial PYY levels, but only LSG significantly suppresses postprandial ghrelin levels.<sup>[7]</sup>

one comorbid condition when non-surgical therapies, in-

cluding lifestyle changes and drugs, fail.<sup>[2]</sup>

LSG offers other benefits, such as short recovery periods, quick weight loss, and safety, making it the preferred surgery for obesity.<sup>[8]</sup> During an LSG, the greater curvature of the stomach is detached, and a gastric remnant is constructed.<sup>[9]</sup> Despite the removal of 80% of the stomach, active gastritis remains prevalent in the remaining region. Hormonal secretion continues from the antrum, and detection of activity in the remnant can impair weight loss, which may be explained by hormonal mechanisms.<sup>[10]</sup> Despite the lack of guidelines, histopathologic examination of bariatric surgery specimens provides an opportunity for surgeons to explore various gastric pathologies that may affect obese patients.<sup>[11]</sup>

In this study, we aimed to assess the clinical, biochemical, and anthropometric data, as well as the histopathological findings, in patients who underwent LSG before and three months after surgery.

#### **Materials and Methods**

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Kartal Dr. Lutfi Kırdar City Hospital (Decision number: 514/194/32, Date: 27.01.2021). One hundred and ten patients (24 females, 86 males), aged 22–66 years, with a BMI >35–67 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, who were followed at the obesity out-

patient clinic between October 2016 and December 2020 and underwent LSG between January 2021 and December 2021, were included.

A multidisciplinary team at the obesity center of Kartal Dr. Lutfi Kırdar City Hospital evaluated the patients. The patients' psychosomatic and endocrine profiles were reviewed to identify contraindications before surgery. Patients were followed for at least six months before surgery to track changes in their lifestyles, such as eating behaviors and physical activity. A psychiatrist evaluated patients with eating disorders, and a physiotherapist informed them about the physical exercises required after surgery. Subsequently, these patients were evaluated by a multidisciplinary committee consisting of a bariatric surgery team and endocrinologists, and those suitable for LSG were selected. The surgery was performed by the same surgical team using the classical LSG technique. Terminal malignancies, severe psychiatric disorders, bipolar disorder, psychosis, and post-traumatic stress disorder were contraindications for surgery. Anthropometric measurements (weight, BMI, waist circumference, hip circumference, soft lean mass (SLM), and percent body fat (PBF)) were analyzed using a Tanita MC-580 body composition analyzer (TANITA MC-580, Japan) preoperatively, as well as within the first and third months after the LSG. BMI (body weight/height<sup>2</sup> (kg/m<sup>2</sup>)) was calculated, and patients were classified as overweight (BMI = 25.0-29.9 $kg/m^2$ ), obese (BMI = 30–40 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), and morbidly obese  $(BMI > 40 \text{ kg/m}^2).^{[9]}$ 

Upper gastrointestinal endoscopy (UGIE) was performed preoperatively on all patients, and biopsies were taken from the corpus and antrum, even without significant macroscopic lesions. Endoscopic and sleeve gastrectomy biopsy specimens were assessed with routine immunohistochemical and histopathologic methods. The endoscopic biopsies and the LSG specimens were examined microscopically with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining, enhanced with Giemsa stain for Helicobacter pylori (HP) infection, and Periodic Acid-Schiff Alcian Blue (PAS-AB) stain for intestinal metaplasia.<sup>[12]</sup>

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was carried out using the SPSS program (Statistical Package for Social Science, version 11.7; Chicago, IL). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was performed to determine the distribution of the parameters. Descriptive statistics were expressed as mean±standard deviation (SD) and median (2.5–97.5%) as required. The comparison of the variables was done with the Wilcoxon test. Correlations were determined by Spearman correlation analysis, and p <0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

#### Results

The study included 110 patients, and patient characteristics are shown in Table 1. The mean±SD age of the patients was 40.8±11.3 years, with a range of 22–66 years, and 78.4% were female. Age differences between males and females were not statistically significant (p=0.789). Patients without comorbid diseases and chronic drug use had a significantly lower mean age (p<0.001). The median duration of diabetes was five years, and 33 patients

Table 1. Patient demographics				
Patients	n	%		
Age (mean±SD) (years)	40.8±11.3			
Gender (Female/Male)	91/25	78.4/21.6		
Diabetes Mellitus	42	36.2		
Hypertension	31	26.7		
Hyperlipidemia	10	8.6		
Hypothyroidism	9	7.8		
Depression	3	2.6		
Gastritis	2	1.7		

were receiving oral anti-diabetic (OAD) therapy, whereas 36.2% of the cases were diabetic, and 26.1% were taking insulin. After the procedure, 11.9% of diabetics continued their OAD medication. Table 2 shows the median (2.5–97.5 percentile) values for the anthropometric and clinical laboratory parameters before and three months after LSG. There was a significant decrease in BMI, PBF, SLM, glucose, HOMA-IR, HbA1c, total cholesterol, and triglyceride values at the 3<sup>rd</sup> month. Pre-op and post-op 3rdmonth BMI levels are given in Figure 1. Pearson analysis showed a significant correlation between PBF% change and SLM% change values (r=0.332, p=0.001). BMI% and PBF% change showed a better correlation than BMI% and SLM% change, with (r=0.447, p<0.001) and (r=0.253, p=0.016), respectively. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors were observed in 2 cases, neuroendocrine hyperplasia in 2 cases, and intestinal metaplasia in 13 cases, all detected incidentally during the histopathologic examination. The diameters of the gastrointestinal stromal tumors were 3 mm, and micronodular linear-type neuroendocrine hyperplasia was detected.

A standard HP eradication protocol, consisting of clarithromycin, amoxicillin + clavulanic acid, and a proton pump inhibitor, was administered for one week to the 50 patients with confirmed HP infection based on biopsy results. Histopathological findings of the patients are given in Table 3.

Table 2. Median (2.5-97.5) percentile values for the anthropometric and laboratory parameters before and 3<sup>rd</sup> month after the LSG

	Before LSG	After LSG	р
	Median (2.5-9	7.5 Percentile)	
BMI (kg/m²)	46.7 (37.4-60.3)	38.9 (28.5-50.1)	*<0.001
PBF (%)	44.0 (29.8-49.3)	41.1 (23.2-49.3)	*<0.001
SLM (%)	62.9 (50.9-93.5)	55.5 (44.8-79.3)	*<0.001
Glucose (mg/dL)	109 (79-337)	95 (72-153)	*<0.001
HOMA-IR	5.2 (2.4-25)	2.2 (1.0-4.68)	*<0.001
HbA1c (%)	5.8 (5.6-6.4)	5.4 (5.2-5.8)	*< 0.001
Total Cholesterol (mg/dL)	208 (135-285)	197 (119-266)	*0.044
LDL Cholesterol (mg/dL)	124 (75-206)	127 (67-194)	0.631
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	136 (55-353)	108 (53-242)	*0.001
HDL Cholesterol (mg/dL)	43 (30-48)	43 (32-71)	0.982
Hemoglobin (g/L)	12.7 (9.0-16.0)	12.8 (10.2-16.5)	0.618
*p<0.05 statistically significant.			



Table 3. Histopathological findings of the patients			
Histopathological findings	n (%)		
Chronic gasritis	99 (90)		
Helicobacter Pylori	50 (45.4)		
Intestinal metaplasia	13 (11.8)		
Lymphoid aggregate	30 (27.2)		
Gastrointestinal stromal tumor 2 (1.8)			
Neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia	2 (1.8)		
No specific pathology	10 (9)		



#### **Discussion**

Diabetes and hypertension were the most prevalent comorbid diseases in our patients, while individuals without comorbid disorders and drug use were younger. In the third month following surgery, we observed a significant decrease in BMI, PBF, SLM, glucose, HOMA-IR, HbA1c, total cholesterol, and triglyceride levels.

Upper body and visceral fat are strongly associated with comorbid diseases such as insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome.<sup>[13]</sup> According to Piché et al.,<sup>[14]</sup> individuals who are overweight and have excess visceral adipose tissue are at a higher risk. Additionally, overweight patients are more likely to suffer from type II diabetes, chronic back pain, malignancies, and cardiovascular and gallbladder diseases.<sup>[15]</sup> Waist circumference (WC), hip circumference (HC), and waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) are predictors of central or visceral obesity and are considered independent risk factors for cardiovascular diseases.<sup>[13]</sup> In the current study, the patients' WC and HC dropped by 13.3% and 12.1%, respectively. After the operation, the incidence of comorbidities and chronic drug use significantly decreased. Our findings are consistent with previous studies that have reported the benefits of bariatric surgery in improving metabolic parameters and comorbidities such as hypertension and diabetes.<sup>[4]</sup> Bariatric surgery has been found to significantly improve hypertension and diabetes, with recovery rates of 61.7% and 78%, respectively.<sup>[4]</sup> Sjöström et al.<sup>[16]</sup> reported a more than three-fold decrease in the risk of developing diabetes in the surgery group compared to those treated with nonsurgical procedures.

Our study observed a decrease of 6.6% in SLM and 13.4% in PBF in the third month after LSG, with a significant correlation between the percentage changes in SLM and PBF. Studies have shown that optimal weight loss after bariatric surgery should come from PBF without a decrease in lean mass and bone mineral content, referring to SLM.<sup>[17]</sup> Schneider et al.<sup>[18]</sup> reported a greater decrease in SLM following LSG compared to LRYGB. Belfiore et al.<sup>[19]</sup> highlighted the importance of preserving SLM and maintaining it at least at a physiological level, with the final goal of achieving SLM and PBF levels similar to those of individuals with normal weight.<sup>[20]</sup> Additionally, Vaurs et al.<sup>[21]</sup> reported that metabolic parameters improved significantly three months after surgery, with patients experiencing the least muscle loss showing better glycemic improvement. Schauer et al.<sup>[22]</sup> compared intensive medical treatment with LSG in 150 diabetic obese adults and found that LSG achieved a greater improvement in HbA1c (<6%) than the medical treatment group.

Dyslipidemia is a significant risk factor for atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease, and it is a leading cause of excessive mortality in obese patients.<sup>[23]</sup> Salman et al.<sup>[24]</sup> reported significant improvement in carotid intima-media thickness and dyslipidemia after surgery in their study, while Buchwald et al.<sup>[4]</sup>'s meta-analysis showed that surgical procedures significantly improved hypercholesterolemia and hypertriglyceridemia at the 2-year followup. Also, Sirbu et al.<sup>[25]</sup> reported a significant improvement in both HOMA-IR and dyslipidemia six months after LSG. In our study, metabolic parameters, including HOMA-IR, HbA1c, total cholesterol, and triglyceride values, decreased significantly in the third month after surgery.

Our institution performs routine histopathologic evaluations before and after LSG, and our study found that chronic gastritis was the most common finding, observed in 99% of patients. The higher prevalence of chronic gastritis might be due to dietary habits and the more frequent presence of HP in the population (50%). Chronic gastritis could lead to premalignant lesions such as atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia, which could eventually result in gastric adenocarcinoma.<sup>[26]</sup> Our study also reported 2 gastrointestinal stromal tumors, 2 neuroendocrine cell hyperplasias, and 13 cases of intestinal metaplasia, all of which require careful follow-up and treatment.

One limitation of our study is that the majority of our study group was women, limiting the evaluation of gender effects. Future studies with larger patient populations, including different comorbidities and longer follow-up periods, are necessary to evaluate the long-term effects of LSG.

#### Conclusion

In conclusion, our study shows that LSG is an effective treatment for obesity and associated comorbidities, with significant improvements observed in metabolic parameters, hypertension, and laboratory values. Careful monitoring and follow-up are essential to detect and treat potential histopathologic findings.

#### Disclosures

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Kartal Dr. Lutfi Kırdar City Hospital (Decision number: 514/194/32, Date: 27.01.2021).

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

Authorship Contributions: Concept – M.K.T.; Design – M.K.T.; Supervision – Ö.Ç.M.; Materials – Ö.Ç.M.; Data collection and/or processing – M.K.T.; Analysis and/ or interpretation – Ö.Ç.M.; Literature search – M.K.T.; Writing – M.K.T.; Critical review – Ö.Ç.M., D.Y.

#### References

- Afshin A, Forouzanfar MH, Reitsma MB, Sur P, Estep K, Lee A, et al; GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators. Health effects of overweight and obesity in 195 countries over 25 years. N Engl J Med 2017;377:13–27.
- Schirmer B, Schauer PR. The surgical management of obesity. In: Brunicardi F, Andersen D, Hunter J, et al., editors. Schwartz's principles of surgery. 9th ed. USA: McGraw-Hill Companies; 2010. p. 952–3.
- Herpertz S, Kielmann R, Wolf AM, Hebebrand J, Senf W. Do psychological variables predict weight loss or mental health after obesity surgery? A systematic review. Obes Res 2004;12:1554–69.
- 4. Buchwald H, Avidor Y, Braunwald E, Jensen MD, Pories W,

Fahrbach K, et al. Bariatric surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2004;292(14):1724–37.

- Wren AM, Seal LJ, Cohen MA, Brynes AE, Frost GS, Murphy KG, et al. Ghrelin enhances appetite and increases food intake in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86(12):5992.
- Batterham RL, Cowley MA, Small CJ, Herzog H, Cohen MA, Dakin CL, et al. Gut hormone PYY(3-36) physiologically inhibits food intake. Nature 2002;418(6898):650–4.
- Karamanakos SV, Vagenas K, Kalfarentzos F. Weight loss, appetite suppression, and changes in fasting and postprandial ghrelin and peptide-YY levels after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy: A prospective, double-blind study. Ann Surg 2008;247(3):401–7.
- Currò G, Komaei I, Lazzara C, Sarra F, Cogliandolo A, Latteri S, et al. Management of staple line leaks following laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy for morbid obesity. Surg Technol Int 2018;33:111–8.
- Townsend CM, Beauchamp RD, Evers BM, Kenneth LM. Sabiston textbook of surgery: The biological basis of modern surgical practice. 20th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2016. p. 1160–87.
- Zhao H, Jiao L. Comparative analysis for the effect of Rouxen-Y gastric bypass vs sleeve gastrectomy in 1,013 patients with morbid obesity: Evidence from 11 randomized clinical trials (meta-analysis) 2019. Int J Surg 2019;72:216–23.
- Komaei I, Currò G, Mento F, Cassaro G, Lazzara C, Barbera A, et al. Gastric histopathologic findings in South Italian morbidly obese patients undergoing laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: Is histopathologic examination of all resected gastric specimens necessary? Obes Surg 2020;30(3):1339–46.
- Sabbah NA, Saoud CZ, Deeb M, Nasser SM. Helicobacter pylori prevalence in laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy specimen. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2020;2020:8843696.
- Mongraw-Chaffin M, Hairston KG, Hanley AJG, Tooze JA, Norris JM, Palmer ND, et al. Association of visceral adipose tissue and insulin resistance with incident metabolic syndrome independent of obesity status: The IRAS family study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2021;29(7):1195–202.
- 14. Piché ME, Tchernof A, Després JP. Obesity phenotypes, diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases. Circ Res 2020;126(11):1477–500.
- Guh DP, Zhang W, Bansback N, Amarsi Z, Birmingham CL, Anis AH. The incidence of co-morbidities related to obesity and overweight: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 2009;9:88.
- Sjöström L, Lindroos AK, Peltonen M, Torgerson J, Bouchard C, Carlsson B, et al. Lifestyle, diabetes, and cardiovascular risk factors 10 years after bariatric surgery. N Engl J Med 2004;351(26):2683–93.
- Palazuelos-Genis T, Mosti M, Sánchez-Leenheer S, Hernández R, Garduño O, Herrera MF. Weight loss and body composition during the first postoperative year of a laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Obes Surg 2008;18(1):1–4.
- 18. Schneider J, Peterli R, Gass M, Slawik M, Peters T, Wölnerhanssen BK. Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy and

Roux-en-Y gastric bypass lead to equal changes in body composition and energy metabolism 17 months postoperatively: A prospective randomized trial. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2016;12(3):563-70.

- Belfiore A, Cataldi M, Minichini L, Aiello ML, Trio R, Rossetti G, et al. Short-term changes in body composition and response to micronutrient supplementation after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. Obes Surg 2015;25(11):2344–51.
- Li P, Ji G, Li W, Zhao L, Zhu L, Zhu S. The relationship between BMI, body composition, and fat mass distribution in Rouxen-Y gastric bypass patients. Obes Surg 2020;30(4):1385–91.
- Vaurs C, Diméglio C, Charras L, Anduze Y, Chalret du Rieu M, Ritz P. Determinants of changes in muscle mass after bariatric surgery. Diabetes Metab 2015;41(5):416-21.
- 22. Schauer PR, Kashyap SR, Wolski K. Bariatric surgery versus intensive medical therapy in obese patients with diabetes. N

Engl J Med 2012;366(17):1567-76.

- Vigilante A, Signorini F, Marani M, Paganini V, Viscido G, Navarro L, et al. Impact on dyslipidemia after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. Obes Surg 2018;28(10):3111-5.
- 24. Salman MA, Salman AA, El Sherbiny M, Elkholy S, Youssef A, Labib S, et al. Changes of carotid intima-media thickness after sleeve gastrectomy in high cardiovascular risk patients: A prospective study. Obes Surg 2021;31(8):3541–7.
- Sirbu A, Copăescu C, Martin S, Barbu C, Olaru R, Fica S. Six months results of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy in treatment of obesity and its metabolic complications. Chirurgia (Bucur) 2012;107(4):469–75.
- Di Palma A, Alhabdan S, Maeda A, Mattu F, Chetty R, Serra S, et al. Unexpected histopathological findings after sleeve gastrectomy. Surg Endosc 2020;34(5):2158–63.



### Laparoscopic versus open right hemicolectomy for colon cancer: Long-term outcomes from a Tertiary Care Teaching Hospital

#### 💿 Murat Yıldırım, 💿 Bülent Koca

Department of General Surgery, Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, Faculty of Medicine, Tokat, Türkiye

#### ABSTRACT

**Introduction:** The aim of this study was to compare the short- and long-term outcomes of laparoscopic surgery and open surgery in right colon cancer.

**Materials and Methods:** Demographic, clinicopathological, postoperative complications, mortality and long-term oncological outcomes of 162 patients who underwent laparoscopic (n=61) or open (n=101) surgery for colon cancer between January 2014 and December 2019 were compared in two groups.

**Results:** The operation time was significantly longer in the laparoscopic group (p<0.001). Length of hospital stay, tumor stage, T stage, N stage, tumor diameter and number of excised lymph nodes were significantly higher in the OS group. Postoperative morbidity and mortality rates were similar in both groups. The surgery was converted to open surgery in five patients (8.1%) in the LS group. There was no significant difference between the groups in terms of overall survival (p=0.086) and disease-free survival (p=0.089).

**Conclusion:** Laparoscopic and open right hemicolectomy operations had similar results in terms of short-term complications, mortality and long-term oncological findings.

Keywords: Colon cancer, Right hemicolectomy, Laparoscopy

#### Introduction

Colorectal cancer continues to be one of the major healththreatening diseases today. It is the third most common cancer worldwide.<sup>[1]</sup> In addition, there has been an increase in the incidence of right colon cancers in recent years. They account for approximately 40% of colon tumors.<sup>[2]</sup> Today, the laparoscopic approach has become popular, especially in the surgery of left colon and rectal cancers. The advantages of laparoscopic colectomy include less wound infection, less postoperative pain, rapid recovery, and shorter hospitalization.<sup>[3,4]</sup> Moreover, this approach is associated with similar oncological outcomes and better postoperative recovery compared to open surgery.<sup>[5]</sup> However, the situation is somewhat different for the right colon. Data are more limited in oncological right hemicolectomies. Concerns include the high learning curve due to the proximity of laparoscopic right hemicolectomy to important anatomical structures, vascular variations, the length of the operation, and the inability to remove enough lymph nodes. For these reasons, laparoscopy is less preferred, and controversy on this issue continues.<sup>[6,7]</sup>





The aim of the present study was to review the postoperative complications and long-term oncological outcomes of patients who underwent laparoscopic right hemicolectomy for right colon cancer and to compare them with open surgery.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Between January 2014 and December 2019, right hemicolectomy surgeries performed for colon cancer in the oncological surgery clinic of Tokat Gaziosmanpasa University Training and Research Center were retrospectively analyzed from the prospective database. Due to the retrospective design of the study, ethical approval and informed consent were not required. However, the study was conducted in accordance with the Ethical Principles of the Helsinki Declaration. Patients with distant metastases, immunosuppressive conditions, patients who underwent emergency surgery due to obstruction and/or perforation, and patients under 18 years of age were excluded from the study.

Patients diagnosed with colon cancer, whose diagnosis was preoperatively confirmed histopathologically as adenocarcinoma, were included. The patients were staged preoperatively with multi-slice abdominal and thoracic CT. PET/CT was used in necessary cases. The decision to perform the operation was made by the multidisciplinary tumor council, which convenes weekly in our clinic. The surgeries were performed by senior colorectal surgeons. The surgical procedure included both open and laparoscopic D2 lymphadenectomy and the standard right hemicolectomy procedure.

Demographic data (age, gender), American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) status, preoperative body mass index (BMI), tumor localization, tumor staging, number of excised reactive and metastatic lymph nodes, duration of surgery, intraoperative and postoperative complications, time to start oral feeding, duration of postoperative hospital and intensive care unit stays, relapse status, survival, and oncological follow-up data were analyzed. Postoperative complications were defined as surgical and non-surgical complications occurring from the postoperative period until discharge. Mortality was defined as death within 30 days from the date of surgery.

Recurrence was defined as the appearance of new lesions in the anastomosis and/or surrounding colon wall and/ or in the lymphatic drainage zone of the previously resected tumor, confirmed by clinical findings, scanning tomography, positron emission tomography-CT (PET-CT), or pathological examination. Recurrence of the disease in the peritoneum or other organs was considered distant metastasis.

#### **Statistical Analyses**

Statistical analyses of the data obtained in this study were performed using SPSS software (Version 22, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Continuous variables were analyzed using the Student's t-test or the Mann-Whitney U test. The Chi-square test was used in the analysis of categorical variables. The survival rate was analyzed using the Kaplan-Meier method, and the groups were compared with the log-rank test. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Results

The study cohort consisted of a total of 162 patients. There were 61 patients in the laparoscopic surgery (LS) group and 101 patients in the open surgery (OS) group. Demographic and clinicopathological data are presented in Table 1. The mean age was 68.28±12.3 years across all groups. The mean age in the LS group (32 females and 29 males) was 69.3±11.4 years, while the mean age in the OS group (50 females and 51 males) was 67±12.8 years. There was no significant difference between the groups in terms of age or gender (p>0.05). According to the ASA classification, comorbidities were similar in the two groups. There was no difference between the groups in terms of cancer localization, BMI, or the number of metastatic lymph nodes (p>0.01).

Tumor diameter and lymph node count were significantly higher in the OS group (p<0.001 and p=0.035, respectively). Average tumor stage was significantly more advanced in the OS group's T and N stages (p=0.03, p=0.01, and p=0.003, respectively).

A total of five patients (8.1%) in the LS group underwent open surgery. Two patients had extensive adhesions due to previous open cholecystectomy and prostate operations. Conversion took place due to ureteral injury in one patient, bleeding in one patient, and duodenum invasion of the tumor in another patient.

Preoperative, intraoperative, and postoperative data are presented in Table 2. There was no significant difference between the LS and OS groups in terms of time to liquid

Table 1. Demographic and clinicopathological data			
	LS (n=61)	OS (n=101)	р
Age (years) (mean±SD)	69.3±11.4	67±12.8	0.39
Gender (n,%)			
Female	32 (52.4)	50 (49.5)	0.71
Male	29 (47.5)	51 (50.4)	
BMI(mean±SD)	27±5.6	28.5±6.3	0.09
ASA(n)			0.26
1	2	0	
2	14	10	
3	34	62	
4	11	29	
Location of cancer, (n,%)			
Caecum	32 (52.4)	52 (51.4)	0.18
Ascending colon	16 (26.2)	38 (37.6)	
Transverse colon	13 (21.3)	11 (10.8)	
Stage(n)			
1	15	10	0.032*
2	21	35	
3	25	56	
T Stage(n)			0.019*
1	4	5	
2	23	34	
3	23	73	
N Stage(n)			0.003*
0	37	42	
1	16	21	
2	8	38	
Tumor diameter (mean±SD)	3.8±1.8	5.6±2.9	<0.001*
Number of lymph nodes (mean±SD)	16.8±6.4	20.7±9.4	0.035*
Number of metastatic lymph nodes (mean±SD)	2.9±3.2	3.4±3.9	0.353
Conversion (n, %)	5 (8.1)	-	
*Significant.			

diet initiation (3.0 and 3.4 days, respectively, p=0.18). The mean operative time for LS was significantly longer than for OS (156 minutes vs. 113 minutes, respectively, p<0.001). The length of hospital stay was longer in the OS group (9.2 vs. 6.5 days, respectively, p<0.001).

Overall, there was no significant difference between the two groups for intraoperative and postoperative complications. Anastomotic leakage was observed in three patients (2.9%) in the OS group and in two patients (3.2%) in the LS group. Wound site infection was more common in the OS group (six patients vs. one patient). The distribution of complications is given in Table 2.

In terms of 30-day mortality, one patient in the LS group and three patients in the OS group died after surgery. All deaths in the OS group were due to underlying medical comorbidities. The patient in the LS group, on the other hand, was re-operated on twice for postoperative anastomotic leakage but died due to sepsis.

#### Survival

The Kaplan-Meier curves comparing the overall and disease-free survival rates in the two groups are presented in Figures 1 and 2. There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of overall survival

Table 2. Preoperative, intraoperative and postoperative data of the patients							
	LS (n=61)	OS (n=101)	р				
Mean operating time (min)	156±45	113±50.7	<0.001*				
Duration of hospitalization (day) (mean±SD)	6.5+3.7	9.2+4.8	<0.001*				
ICU length of stay (day) (mean±SD)	4.2±8.7	2.7±4.5	0.16				
liquid diet (day) (mean±SD)	3±1.6	3.4±1.9	0.185				
Intraoperative complication (n)							
Bleeding	2	3	-				
Organ wounding	1	1					
Other	1	2					
Postoperative Complication(n,%)	6 (9.8%)	14 (13.8%)	0.252				
Anastomotic leakage	2	3					
Anastomotic bleeding	1	0					
Intra-abdominal sepsis	1	2					
lleus	3	5					
Wound complications	1	6					
Chylous ascites	1	1					
Incisional hernia	-	1					
Pulmonary	3	1					
Cardiac	1	-					
Other	-	-					
Reoperation (30-day) (n,%)	2 (3.2)	3 (2.9)	-				
Mortality (n,%)	1 (1.6)	3 (2.9)	0.26				

\*Significant; ICU:Intensive care unit.



Figure 1. Overall survival in the study groups (p=0.086).

(p=0.086) and disease-free survival (p=0.089). The five-year overall survival in the OS and LS groups was 71.5% and 73%, respectively, while the five-year disease-free survival was 66.6% and 65.5%, respectively. There were two



**Figure 2.** Disease-free survival in the study groups (p=0.089).

loco-regional cases in the LS group, and no systemic recurrence was detected. In the OS group, there were three loco-regional and three systemic recurrences.

#### **Discussion**

In 1991, Jacobs et al.<sup>[8]</sup> described laparoscopic colectomy, and since then, there has been rapid progress in laparoscopic colon surgery. Many colorectal procedures can now be performed with laparoscopy. The safety of the laparoscopic approach for short- and long-term oncological outcomes, especially in left colon and rectal cancer surgery, has been demonstrated in many studies.<sup>[9,10]</sup> However, there is still debate about whether laparoscopic colectomy has advantages over open surgery in terms of short- and long-term outcomes for right-sided colon cancers.<sup>[11,12]</sup>

In the present study, there was no significant difference between patients who underwent laparoscopy or open surgery for demographic data and comorbidities. The results were consistent with previous studies.<sup>[13]</sup> However, unlike previous studies <sup>[13,14]</sup>, open surgery was used more frequently as tumor size increased in the present study. T stage and N stage were significantly higher in the open group. In larger tumors, open surgery may be preferred due to oncological safety concerns and lack of experience, especially in early cases.

Additionally, the total number of lymph nodes excised in our study was significantly higher in the open group (mean: 16 in the LS group, 20 in the OS group, p = 0.035). Some patients in the laparoscopic group had fewer than 12 lymph nodes removed, which was inconsistent with previous studies.<sup>[14,15]</sup> However, debate on this issue continues in the literature. A meta-analysis of 27 studies involving 3,049 patients reported no difference in the number of lymph nodes removed by laparoscopy and laparotomy.<sup>[12]</sup> On the other hand, Jurowich et al.<sup>[16]</sup> conducted a study using propensity score analysis of data from nearly 5,000 patients in the DGAV StuDoQ|Colon Cancer registry and found that significantly fewer lymph nodes were removed in the laparoscopic group. In their study, the probability of excising  $\geq$ 20 lymph nodes was significantly higher in the open surgery group (OR: 3.45, CI 95%: 2.22-5.26; p<0.0001).

The mean operation time was significantly longer in laparoscopic surgeries, while the length of hospital stay was longer in the open surgery group. This was comparable to previous studies.<sup>[17,18]</sup> We attributed this to the long learning curve and the anatomical variations in the laparoscopic group. In the present study, we noted that the first laparoscopic surgeries took longer, but the duration of the operation decreased as experience increased. Our conversion rate of 8.1% was comparable to the 0-16% conversion rates reported in previous studies.[13,17,20-22] Although the overall complication rate was slightly higher in the open group than in the laparoscopic group, the difference was not significant. Different results have been presented in the literature on this subject. In the Arezzo et al.<sup>[12]</sup> study, the incidence of overall complications was significantly lower in the laparoscopic group (16.8%) compared to the open group (24.2%). Rausa et al.<sup>[23]</sup> reported a higher overall complication rate in patients who underwent open right hemicolectomy. On the other hand, Jurowich et al.<sup>[16]</sup> found no difference between the two approaches for postoperative complications. Likewise, Li et al.<sup>[24]</sup> reported that there was no significant difference in postoperative complication frequency between the laparoscopy and open right hemicolectomy groups.

In our study, although the 30-day mortality rates were lower in the laparoscopic group (1 patient vs. 3 patients), there was no significant difference between the groups. This finding contradicts a recent large case series from the Netherlands<sup>[25]</sup>, which reported that 30-day mortality rates were significantly lower in the laparoscopic group (2.2% vs 3.6%, p<0.001). In contrast, Arezzo et al.<sup>[12]</sup> reported in their meta-analysis that there was no significant difference between the laparoscopy and open surgery groups (RR=0.53, 95% CI=0.13–2.11, p=0.37). Mortality rates in the study by Ding et al.<sup>[26]</sup> were also similar to the results of the present study.

Considering long-term oncological outcomes, there was no significant difference between the two groups for five-year OS and DFS. Undoubtedly, the number of patients included in this study was low for comparing oncological outcomes. Furthermore, the retrospective nature of the study may have affected the results. To make a more reliable comparison between the two groups, larger sample sizes and randomized prospective studies are needed. However, based on our findings, it can be stated that the laparoscopic technique does not impair oncological outcomes in patients undergoing resection for colon cancer. These results are similar to the findings of previous studies.<sup>[2729]</sup>

The retrospective design of our study has inherent limitations. Some patients may have been missed due to coding errors. In addition, the study utilized single-center data, which should be confirmed with multicentric prospective randomized controlled trials.

#### Conclusion

Laparoscopic and open right hemicolectomy surgery approaches had similar outcomes in terms of postoperative complications, mortality, and long-term oncological findings. The present study indicated that the laparoscopic approach did not offer significant advantages except for shorter hospital stays. On the contrary, the number of excised lymph nodes was lower. However, this did not affect long-term oncological outcomes. With increased laparoscopic experience and the routine practice of D3 dissection, the laparoscopic procedure can be performed safely with advantages such as smaller incisions, earlier recovery after surgery, shorter hospital stays, and faster return to normal life compared to open surgery.

#### Disclosures

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethics committee approval was not obtained for the retrospective study. However, the study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

Authorship Contributions: Concept – M.Y.; Design – M.Y., B.K.; Supervision – M.Y.,B.K.; Materials – .M.Y.; Data collection and/or processing – M.Y.; Analysis and/ or interpretation – M.Y.,B.K.; Literature search –M.Y.; Writing – M.Y.; Critical review – M.Y.,B.K.

#### References

- Lu JY, Xu L, Xue HD, Zhou WX, Xu T, Qiu HZ, et al. The radical extent of lymphadenectomy - D2 dissection versus complete mesocolic excision of laparoscopic right colectomy for rightsided colon cancer (RELARC) trial: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials 2016;17(1):582.
- Levi F, Randimbison L, La Vecchia C. Trends in subsite distribution of colorectal cancers and polyps from the Vaud Cancer Registry. Cancer 1993;72:46–50.
- 3. Yamamoto S, Watanabe M, Hasegawa H, Kitajima M. Prospective evaluation of laparoscopic surgery for rectosigmoidal and rectal carcinoma. Dis Colon Rectum 2002;45:1648–54.
- Veldkamp R, Kuhry E, Hop WC, Jeekel J, Kazemier G, Bonjer HJ, et al. Laparoscopic surgery versus open surgery for colon cancer: Short-term outcomes of a randomised trial. Lancet Oncol 2005;6(7):477–84.

- Chaouch MA, Dougaz MW, Bouasker I, Jerraya H, Ghariani W, Khalfallah M, et al. Laparoscopic versus open complete mesocolon excision in right colon cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Surg 2019;43(12):3179–90.
- Barlehner E, Benhidjeb T, Ander S, Schicke B. Laparoscopic surgery for colon and rectal cancer. Surg Technol Int 2004;13:93-9.
- Xiao Y, Qiu HZ, Wu B, Lin GL, Xiong GB, Niu BZ, et al. Outcome of laparoscopic radical right hemicolectomy with complete mesocolic resection and D3 lymphadenectomy. Zhonghua Wai Ke Za Zhi 2014;52(4):249–53.
- Jacobs M, Verdeja JC, Goldstein HS. Minimally invasive colon resection (laparoscopic colectomy). Surg Laparosc Endosc 1991;1:144–50.
- van der Pas MH, Haglind E, Cuesta MA, Fürst A, Lacy AM, Hop WC, et al; COlorectal cancer Laparoscopic or Open Resection II (COLOR II) Study Group. Laparoscopic versus open surgery for rectal cancer (COLOR II): Short-term outcomes of a randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2013;14(3):210–8.
- Bonjer HJ, Deijen CL, Abis GA, Cuesta MA, van der Pas MH, de Lange-de Klerk ES, et al; COLOR II Study Group. A randomized trial of laparoscopic versus open surgery for rectal cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;372(14):1324–32.
- Matsuda T, Yamashita K, Hasegawa H, Utsumi M, Kakeji Y. Current status and trend of laparoscopic right hemicolectomy for colon cancer. Ann Gastroenterol Surg 2020;4(5):521–7.
- Arezzo A, Passera R, Ferri V, Gonella F, Cirocchi R, Morino M. Laparoscopic right colectomy reduces short-term mortality and morbidity: Results of a systematic review and metaanalysis. Int J Colorectal Dis 2015;30(11):1457–72.
- Zheng MH, Feng B, Lu AG, Li JW, Wang ML, Mao ZH, et al. Laparoscopic versus right hemicolectomy with curative intent for colon carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2005;11:323–6.
- Tan WS, Chew MH, Ooi BS, Ng KH, Lim JF, Ho KS, et al. Laparoscopic versus open right hemicolectomy: A comparison of short-term outcomes. Int J Colorectal Dis 2009;24(11):1333–9.
- Siani LM, Ferranti F, Marzano M, De Carlo A, Quintiliani A. Laparoscopic versus open right hemicolectomy: 5-year oncology results. Chir Ital [Article in Italian] 2009;61(5-6):573–7.
- Jurowich C, Lichthardt S, Kastner C, Haubitz I, Prock A, Filser J, et al. Laparoscopic versus open right hemicolectomy in colon carcinoma: A propensity score analysis of the DGAV StuDoQ|ColonCancer registry. PLoS One 2019;14(6):e0218829.
- 17. Tong DK, Law WL. Laparoscopic versus open right hemicolectomy for carcinoma of the colon. JSLS 2007;11(1):76–80.
- Zhao LY, Chi P, Ding WX, Huang SR, Zhang SF, Pan K, et al. Laparoscopic vs open extended right hemicolectomy for colon cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2014;20(24):7926–32.
- Stergios K, Pergialiotis V, Frountzas M, Nalwaya P, Kontzoglou K, Mohapatra SD. Laparoscopic versus open colectomies: Enhanced surgical skills and rigorous patient selection may improve operative times without compromising outcomes. J Surg 2017;4(3):555–36.

- Ng SS, Lee JF, Yiu RY, Li JC, Leung WW, Leung KL. Emergency
  laparoscopic-assisted versus open right hemicolectomy for obstructing right-sided colonic carcinoma: A compar-
- ative study of short-term clinical outcomes. World J Surg 2008;32:454–8. 21. Alkhamesi NA, Martin J, Schlachta CM. Cost-efficiency of la-
- paroscopic versus open colon surgery in a tertiary care center. Surg Endosc 2011;25(11):3597–604.
- 22. Bae SU, Saklani AP, Lim DR, Kim DW, Hur H, Min BS, et al. Laparoscopic-assisted versus open complete mesocolic excision and central vascular ligation for right-sided colon cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2014;21(7):2288–94.
- Rausa E, Kelly ME, Asti E, Aiolfi A, Bonitta G, Bonavina L. Right hemicolectomy: A network meta-analysis comparing open, laparoscopic-assisted, total laparoscopic, and robotic approaches. Surg Endosc 2019;33(4):1020–32.
- Li T, Meng XL, Chen W. Safety and short-term efficacy of a laparoscopic complete mesocolic excision for the surgical treatment of right hemicolon cancer. Clin Surg Res Commun 2018;2(2):29–33.

- Bosker RJI, Van't Riet E, de Noo M, Vermaas M, Karsten TM, Pierie JP. Minimally invasive versus open approach for rightsided colectomy: A study in 12,006 patients from the Dutch Surgical Colorectal Audit. Dig Surg 2019;36(1):27–32.
- Ding J, Liao GQ, Xia Y, Zhang ZM, Liu S, Yan ZS. Laparoscopic versus open right hemicolectomy for colon cancer: A metaanalysis. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2013;23(1):8–16.
- 27. Leung KL, Meng WC, Lee JF, Thung KH, Lai PB, Lau WY. Laparoscopic-assisted resection of right-sided colonic carcinoma: A case-control study. J Surg Oncol 1999;71:97–100.
- Fujita J, Uyama I, Sugioka A, Komori Y, Matsui H, Hasumi A. Laparoscopic right hemicolectomy with radical lymph node dissection using the no-touch isolation technique for advanced colon cancer. Surg Today 2001;31:93–6.
- 29. Cirocchi R, Campanile FC, Di Saverio S, Popivanov G, Carlini L, Pironi D, et al. Laparoscopic versus open colectomy for obstructing right colon cancer: A systematic review and metaanalysis. J Visc Surg 2017;154(6):387–99.



### Comparison of postoperative outcomes between laparoscopic and mini-incision open appendectomy for acute appendicitis

#### Mehmet Torun

Departmant of Gastrointestinal Surgery, University of Health Sciences Kosuyolu Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

#### ABSTRACT

**Introduction:** Acute appendicitis is one of the most common causes of emergency abdominal surgery. Laparoscopic and open (mini-incision) appendectomy are the two primary surgical techniques used for treatment, each offering unique advantages.

This study aims to compare postoperative outcomes, including wound infection rates and pain levels, between laparoscopic and mini-incision open appendectomy.

**Materials and Methods:** A prospective study was conducted from July 2021 to July 2022 in Van, Türkiye, with 239 patients. After excluding 13 patients, 226 were analyzed. Surgeries were performed by a single surgeon. Data on age, gender, wound infection rates, postoperative pain (measured by the Visual Analog Scale), and length of hospital stay were collected. Statistical analysis was conducted using Mann-Whitney U and Chisquare tests.

**Results:** No significant differences were found between the laparoscopic and mini-incision open groups in terms of age, gender, wound infection rates, or postoperative pain at 12 and 24 hours (p>0.05). The wound infection rate was slightly lower in the laparoscopic group, but the difference was not statistically significant.

**Conclusion:** Both laparoscopic and mini-incision open appendectomy are safe and effective methods for treating acute appendicitis. No significant differences were observed in terms of wound infection rates, postoperative pain, or patient demographics. Larger studies with longer follow-up periods are recommended to further evaluate long-term outcomes.

Keywords: Acute appendicitis, Laparoscopic appendectomy, Open appendectomy, Postoperative pain, Wound infection

#### Introduction

Acute appendicitis is one of the most common causes of emergency abdominal surgeries worldwide, with laparoscopic and open appendectomy being the two primary surgical techniques employed.<sup>[1]</sup> Laparoscopic surgery, introduced in the late 20<sup>th</sup> century, offers several advantages such as reduced postoperative pain, faster recovery, and smaller incisions.<sup>[2]</sup> However, open appendectomy, particularly mini-incision techniques, remains a preferred method in many settings due to its simplicity and





cost-effectiveness.<sup>[3]</sup> The choice between laparoscopic and open appendectomy often depends on the surgeon's experience, patient factors, and hospital resources.<sup>[4]</sup> Despite numerous studies comparing these techniques, there remains debate regarding their relative efficacy in terms of wound infection rates, postoperative pain, and recovery times.<sup>[5]</sup> Recent studies have suggested that both methods are comparable in terms of safety and outcomes, though laparoscopic surgery may offer slight advantages in specific patient populations.<sup>[6]</sup> This study aims to evaluate the differences in postoperative outcomes, including wound infection and pain, between laparoscopic and mini-incision open appendectomy.

#### **Materials and Methods**

This prospective study was conducted between July 2021 and July 2022 in the Başkale district of Van, Türkiye, and included a total of 239 patients. All surgeries were performed by a single surgeon to ensure consistency in surgical technique. Patients received a single preoperative dose of cefazolin for prophylaxis. Postoperatively, all patients were administered a single intravenous dose of paracetamol at the 6<sup>th</sup> hour for pain management.

Exclusion criteria included patients under 18 years of age, patients over 80 years of age, and those in whom another pathology besides acute appendicitis was identified during surgery. Based on these criteria, 13 patients were excluded from the study. Data were collected on patient demographics, surgical details, and postoperative outcomes for the remaining 226 patients.

The criteria evaluated in this study included patient age, gender, type of surgery (laparoscopic or open), postoperative pain levels measured using the Visual Analog Scale (VAS) at 12 and 24 hours, wound infection rates, and length of hospital stay. In addition, any postoperative complications such as wound infection and the need for reintervention were recorded. Statistical analysis was performed to compare outcomes between the laparoscopic and open appendectomy groups.

This study was conducted in accordance with the principles outlined in the Helsinki Declaration. As it was a retrospective study, ethical committee approval was not required.

#### What is original about this article?

This study provides a direct comparison of postoperative outcomes between laparoscopic and mini-incision open appendectomy in a specific population from a rural region in Türkiye. It offers valuable insights by using a prospective design, ensuring consistency through a single surgeon performing all procedures, and focusing on shortterm postoperative metrics such as pain, wound infection rates, and hospital stay. Additionally, it addresses a gap in the literature by analyzing outcomes in a setting with limited resources, contributing to the global understanding of how these two surgical techniques perform in diverse healthcare environments.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

In the descriptive statistics of the data, mean, standard deviation, median, minimum, maximum, frequency, and percentage values were used. The distribution of the variables was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests. For the analysis of quantitative independent data that did not follow a normal distribution, the Mann-Whitney U test was employed. The Chi-square test was used for the analysis of qualitative independent data. SPSS 28.0 software was used for the analyses.

#### Results

There was no statistically significant difference (p>0.05) in the average age and gender distribution of patients who underwent laparoscopic and mini-incision open acute appendectomy. The average age in the laparoscopic group was 32.8±12.8 years, while in the open surgery group it was 30.3±11.3 years. The gender distribution was similar in both groups, with 61.4% female and 38.6% male in the laparoscopic group, and 59.8% female and 40.2% male in the mini-incision open group (Table 1).

Among patients who underwent laparoscopic surgery, 92.8% did not experience wound infection, while 7.2% developed a wound infection. In the mini-incision open surgery group, 88.8% did not develop wound infections, while 11.2% experienced wound infections. However, the difference in wound infection rates between the two groups was not statistically significant (p>0.05) (Table 2).

According to the Visual Analog Scale (VAS) scores measured for postoperative pain levels, there was no significant difference in the VAS scores between the laparoscopic and mini-incision open surgery groups at both 12 hours and 24 hours postoperatively (p>0.05). The average 12-hour VAS score in the laparoscopic group was Table 1. Demographic characteristics, surgical method, wound infection rates, and postoperative pain (VAS Scores) of patients undergoing acute appendectomy

	Min-Maks.	Median	Mid.:	tSD/n-%
Age	13.0-66.0	27.0	31.1±11.8	
Sex				
Famale			152	60.3%
Male			100	39.7%
Acute App. Operation Type				
Laparoscopic			83	32.9%
Minimal Insision Open			169	67.1%
Wound Infection				
(-)			227	90.1%
(+)			25	9.9%
VAS Scores				
12.Hour	1.0-8.0	5.0	4.	6±2.1
24.Hour	0.0-5.0	2.0	1.9	9±1.0

Table 2. Comparison of demographic data, wound infection rates, and postoperative pain (VAS Scores) between laparoscopic and mini-incision open appendectomy groups

	Acute Appendectomy Operation Type				р
	Laparoscopic (n=83)		Minimal Insısıon Open (n=169)		
	Mid.±SD/n-%	Median	Mid.±SD/n-%	Median	
Age	32.8±12.8	29.0	30.3±11.3	27.0	0.162 <sup>m</sup>
Sex					
Famele	51/61.4%		101/59.8%		0.798 <sup>x<sup>2</sup></sup>
Erkek	32/38.6%		68/40.2%		
Wound Infection					
(-)	77/92.8%		150/88.8%		0.316 <sup>x<sup>2</sup></sup>
(+)	6/7.2%		19/11.2%		
VAS Scores					
12.Hour	4.6±2.0	5.0	4.7±2.1	5.0	0.866 <sup>m</sup>
24.Hour	1.8±0.9	2.0	2.0±1.1	2.0	0.292 <sup>m</sup>

<sup>m</sup>Mann-whitney u test / X<sup>2</sup>Ki-kare test.

4.6±2.0, while the 24-hour VAS score was  $1.8\pm0.9$ . In the mini-incision open group, the average 12-hour VAS score was  $4.7\pm2.1$ , and the 24-hour VAS score was  $2.0\pm1.1$ . These findings suggest that there is no significant difference between the two surgical methods in terms of wound infection rates, pain levels (VAS scores), and patient demographics (Fig. 1).

#### Discussion

In this study, no statistically significant differences were found between laparoscopic and mini-incision open appendectomy in terms of wound infection rates, postoperative pain levels, and patient demographics. These findings support existing literature that highlights the comparable safety and efficacy of both surgical methods



Figure 1. Comperasion MIA vs laparoscopic appendectomy.

for treating acute appendicitis.<sup>[7,8]</sup> While laparoscopic surgery is often favored due to its minimally invasive nature, which is typically associated with faster recovery times, smaller incisions, and reduced postoperative pain, our study did not observe significant differences in pain outcomes between the two groups at 12 and 24 hours postoperatively. This aligns with findings from other recent studies, suggesting that pain levels may not always be a decisive factor in determining the optimal surgical approach for appendicitis.<sup>[9]</sup>

Wound infection rates were slightly lower in the laparoscopic group (7.2%) compared to the mini-incision open group (11.2%), but the difference was not statistically significant. This finding indicates that both techniques are safe and that proper surgical technique and postoperative care can effectively mitigate the risk of wound infection regardless of the method used.<sup>[10]</sup> Additionally, the overall wound infection rates in both groups are consistent with infection rates reported in other studies on appendectomy, further emphasizing the safety of both approaches.<sup>[11]</sup>

In terms of demographic factors, no significant differences were found between the groups in age or gender distribution. This suggests that patient characteristics such as age and gender do not play a major role in determining the choice of surgical method. Rather, the decision may be more influenced by surgeon preference, hospital resources, and the availability of laparoscopic equipment.<sup>[12]</sup> Furthermore, the lack of significant differences in pain scores between the two groups, both at 12 and 24 hours postoperatively, suggests that both methods provide comparable pain relief in the immediate postoperative period.<sup>[13]</sup>

One of the strengths of this study is that it contributes to
the growing body of evidence indicating that both laparoscopic and mini-incision open appendectomy are viable treatment options for acute appendicitis. Both techniques demonstrated similar outcomes in terms of safety and patient comfort. This supports the idea that surgeon expertise and hospital protocols may have more influence over the selection of the surgical method than the patient's condition alone.<sup>[14]</sup> However, while our study did not find significant differences in short-term outcomes, some studies suggest that laparoscopic appendectomy may offer long-term benefits, such as reduced adhesion formation and fewer complications related to wound healing.<sup>[15]</sup>

One limitation of this study is its relatively small sample size, which may have reduced the statistical power to detect subtle differences between the two surgical groups. A larger cohort would allow for a more robust comparison and might reveal more nuanced differences in outcomes, such as long-term complications or recovery times.<sup>[16]</sup> Another limitation is the short follow-up period, which focused on immediate postoperative outcomes like pain and wound infection, rather than longer-term complications such as chronic pain or recurrence of symptoms.<sup>[17]</sup> Future research should aim to address these limitations by including larger patient populations and following up over longer periods to assess outcomes like recurrence rates, chronic pain, and overall quality of life.<sup>[18]</sup>

Moreover, patient-specific factors such as obesity, comorbidities, and the severity of appendicitis at presentation may also influence surgical outcomes and should be taken into account in future studies. Previous research has indicated that laparoscopic surgery may be particularly beneficial in patients with obesity, as the smaller incisions reduce the risk of wound complications in this population.<sup>[19]</sup> Understanding which patient groups benefit most from each surgical approach could help to further individualize treatment and improve overall outcomes.<sup>[20]</sup>

In conclusion, this study supports the growing consensus that both laparoscopic and mini-incision open appendectomy are safe and effective treatment options for acute appendicitis. Although no significant differences were found in terms of wound infection rates, pain scores, or patient demographics, both surgical techniques provide good clinical outcomes when performed by experienced surgeons. Moving forward, larger-scale studies with longer follow-up periods and a focus on specific patient populations may help to better define the advantages of each method and guide clinical decision-making.

#### Disclosures

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was conducted in accordance with the principles outlined in the Helsinki Declaration. As it was a retrospective study, ethical committee approval was not required.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

# References

- 1. Andersson RE. The natural history and traditional management of appendicitis. Br J Surg 2007;94(8):1045–50.
- Semm K. Endoscopic appendectomy. Endoscopy 1983;15(2):59-64.
- Eapen A, Falconer M, Shankar P. Open versus laparoscopic appendectomy. Clin Surg 2019;4:1–5.
- 4. Sauerland S, Lefering R, Neugebauer EA. Laparoscopic versus open surgery for suspected appendicitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010;(10):CD001546.
- Bhangu A, Søreide K, Di Saverio S, Assarsson JH, Drake FT. Acute appendicitis: Modern understanding of pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management. Lancet 2015;386(10000):1278– 87.
- Guller U, Hervey S, Purves H, Muhlbaier LH, Peterson ED, Eubanks S, et al. Laparoscopic versus open appendectomy: Outcomes comparison based on a large administrative database. Ann Surg 2004;239(1):43–52.
- Jaschinski T, Mosch CG, Eikermann M, Neugebauer EA. Laparoscopic versus open appendectomy: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Gastroenterol 2015;15:48.
- Rehman SU, Munir A, Rashid A. Clinical outcomes of laparoscopic vs mini-incision open appendectomy: A comparative study. J Am Coll Surg 2022;234(3):123–9.
- 9. Gupta N, Singh PK, Verma V. postoperative pain and recovery in laparoscopic vs mini-incision open appendectomy: A randomized controlled trial. Am J Surg 2022;225(2):244–51.
- Zeeshan M, Qayyum MS, Bashir R, Ahsan M, Saadi, AR, Raza MA. Comparison of wound infection rate in open appendectomy (OA) vs laparoscopic appendectomy (LA). J Popul Ther Clin Pharmacol 2024;31(6):688–93.
- Kumar S, Jalan A, Patowary BN, Shrestha S. laparoscopic appendectomy versus open appendectomy for acute appendicitis: A prospective comparative study. Kathmandu Univ Med J 2016;14(55):244–8.
- Chan CY, Tsim N. Long-term outcomes of laparoscopic versus open appendectomy for complicated appendicitis: A 5-year follow-up study. Surgical Endosc 2021;35(7):3222-8.
- Slim K, Pezet D, Chipponi J. Laparoscopic or open appendectomy? Critical review of randomized, controlled trials. Dis Colon Rectum 1998;41(3):398–403.
- 14. Siam B, Al-Kurd A, Simanovsky N, Awesat H, Cohn Y, Helou B, Eid A, Mazeh H. Comparison of appendectomy outcomes

between senior general surgeons and general surgery residents. JAMA Surg 2017;152(7):679-85.

- 15. Andersson RE. Short-term complications and long-term morbidity of laparoscopic and open appendicectomy in a national cohort. Br J Surg 2014;101(9):1135–42.
- 16. Mehta V, Nerlekar HV. Open versus laparoscopic appendicectomy: A comparative study. Int Surg J 2017;7(4):15795–808.
- Biondi A, Di Stefano C, Ferrara F, Bellia A, Vacante M, Piazza L. Laparoscopic versus open appendectomy: A retrospective cohort study assessing outcomes and cost-effectiveness. World J Emerg Surg 2016;11(1):44.
- Jaschinski T, Mosch CG, Eikermann M, Neugebauer EA, Sauerland S. Laparoscopic versus open surgery for suspected appendicitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018;11(11):CD001546.
- Katkhouda N, Mason RJ, Towfigh S, Gevorgyan A, Essani R. Laparoscopic versus open appendectomy: A prospective randomized double-blind study. Ann Surg 2005;242(3):439– 50.
- Yong JL, Law WL, Lo CY, Lam CM. A comparative study of routine laparoscopic versus open appendectomy. JSLS 2006;10(2):188–92.

# Evaluation of the clinical impact of preoperative gastroscopy in patients undergoing cholecystectomy: A retrospective study

🔟 Burak Dinçer,<sup>1,2</sup> 🗈 İnan Güden,<sup>3</sup> 🕩 Leman Damla Ercan,<sup>3</sup> 🕩 Ali Fuat Kaan Gök<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Surgical Oncology, Ankara Oncology Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of General Surgery, Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye <sup>3</sup>Department of General Surgery, Istanbul Medical Faculty, Istanbul University, Istanbul, Türkiye

# ABSTRACT

**Introduction:** The role of esophagogastroduodenoscopy (EGD) in the preoperative period for patients scheduled for cholecystectomy due to cholelithiasis is controversial. Some studies recommend routine application, while others suggest selective application. Our study aimed to evaluate EGD findings in patients who underwent EGD before cholecystectomy.

**Materials and Methods:** In our single-center retrospective study, patients who underwent cholecystectomy between 2020 and 2023 and had an EGD in the preoperative period were included. Patients who did not have a preoperative EGD, those who underwent cholecystectomy as part of another surgical procedure, and those with missing data were excluded from the study. Patients were evaluated based on demographic, clinical, endoscopic, and pathological findings.

**Results:** A total of 336 patients were analyzed. The median age was 53 years (range 24–87), and 216 (64.3%) of the patients were women. Endoscopic pathology was detected in 180 (53.6%) of the patients. Histopathological abnormalities were detected in 199 (87.3%) of 228 patients. Helicobacter pylori (HP) positivity was detected in 90 patients (39.5%), atrophic gastritis in 45 patients (19.7%), and intestinal metaplasia in 41 patients (18%). Statistically, significantly more active and severe gastritis findings were observed in mucosal areas that appeared endoscopically pathological (p<0.001 and p<0.001, respectively).

**Conclusion:** It can be concluded that the routine application of EGD before cholecystectomy may impact the clinical approach.

Keywords: Cholelithiasis, Esophagogastroduodenoscopy, Gastritis

# Introduction

Epigastric abdominal pain is a common condition in the population and can result from various diseases, with cholelithiasis and gastritis being particularly prominent in its differential diagnosis. The distinct treatment approaches for these two etiological factors make accurate diagnosis crucial. Cholelithiasis can be detected via abdominal ultrasonography (US), while gastritis is typically diagnosed through clinical findings and esophagogastroduodenoscopy (EGD). The preferred treatment for symptomatic cholelithiasis is laparoscopic cholecystectomy, whereas medical treatments for gastritis are based on the





presence of *H. pylori* and pathological findings. Some patients with symptomatic cholelithiasis may also have concomitant gastritis, and it is important to consider that in some cases, the symptoms may be attributable solely to gastritis, with cholelithiasis being asymptomatic.<sup>[1]</sup> This may be the underlying condition in patients with persistent abdominal pain after laparoscopic cholecystectomy, initially considered due to symptomatic cholelithiasis.<sup>[2]</sup>

EGD is the gold standard for diagnosing and evaluating gastritis, but it is more invasive and costly than abdominal US. The necessity of performing EGD before cholecystectomy is debated in the literature; however, some studies suggest that it aids in identifying asymptomatic cholelithiasis cases accompanied by gastritis and helps reduce unnecessary cholecystectomies.<sup>[3–6]</sup> In our study, we aimed to examine the preoperative gastroscopy findings in patients scheduled for cholecystectomy and evaluate the rates of pathological findings.

# **Materials and Methods**

In our single-center retrospective study, we evaluated 336 patients who underwent cholecystectomy and preoperative EGD between 2020 and 2023. Patients participating in our study were informed, and written consent was obtained. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Şişli Etfal Training and Research Hospital (30.01.2024, No: 2565).

Patients over the age of 18 who underwent cholecystectomy for gallbladder diseases between 2020 and 2023 were included. Patients who underwent cholecystectomy as part of a larger surgical procedure (e.g., pancreaticoduodenectomy), did not undergo preoperative gastroscopy, or had missing archival data were excluded. The patients were evaluated based on demographic, clinical, endoscopic, and pathological data.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) version 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Categorical data were expressed as numbers and percentages, while continuous data were expressed as median and range. Chi-square tests (Pearson's chi-square, Fisher's exact test, etc.) were used to compare categorical data. All p-values were twosided, and results were evaluated at a significance level of p<0.05 with a 95% confidence interval.

# **Results**

A total of 336 patients were included in the study. The median age was 53 years (range 24–87), and 216 (64.3%) of the patients were women. It was observed that 136 (40.5%) of the patients had an American Society of Anesthesiology (ASA) score of I, 156 (46.4%) had ASA II, and 44 (13.1%) had ASA III. Among the EGDs performed, 156 (46.4%) were macroscopically normal, while endoscopic pathology was detected in 180 (53.6%) of the patients. Gastroscopic biopsies were taken from 228 (67.9%) patients (Table 1).

Histopathological abnormalities were detected in 199 (87.3%) of the 228 patients for whom biopsies were taken. Helicobacter pylori (HP) was found to be positive in 90 patients (39.5%). Atrophic gastritis was detected in 45 patients (19.7%), and intestinal metaplasia was detected in 41 patients (18%) (Table 2).

# Table 1. Demographic and clinicopathologic features of the participants

Variables	Ν	%
All Patients	336	100
Age (Median 53, Range 24-87)		
18-49	128	38.1
50-69	164	48.8
≥70	44	13.1
Gender		
Female	216	64.3
Male	120	35.7
ASA Score		
ASAI	136	40.5
ASA II	156	46.4
ASA III	44	13.1
Endoscopic Findings		
Normal EGD	156	46.4
Antral gastritis	76	22.6
Pangastritis	48	14.3
Bile reflux gastritis	36	10.7
Peptic ulcer	20	6
Biopsy Sampling		
No	108	32.1
Yes	228	67.9

ASA: American Society of Anesthesiology.

Table 2.	Patho	odica	findinas

Variables	Ν	%
All Biopsied Patients	228	100
Histopathological Findings		
Normal	29	12.7
Abnormal	199	87.3
HP Detection		
No	138	60.5
Yes	90	39.5
Atrophic gastritis		
No	183	80.3
Yes	45	19.7
Intestinal Metaplasia		
No	187	82
Yes	41	18
HP. Helicobacter pylori.		

When the 199 patients with histopathological abnormalities were examined, mild gastritis findings were observed in 74 (37.2%) patients, moderate gastritis in 98 (49.2%), and severe gastritis in 27 (13.6%). Of the 199 patients, 44 (22.1%) had inactive gastritis, 45 (22.6%) had mild activity, 82 (41.2%) had moderate activity, and 28 (14.1%) had severe activity. Statistically, significantly more active and severe gastritis findings were observed in mucosal areas that appeared endoscopically pathological (p<0.001 and p<0.001, respectively) (Table 3).

# Discussion

Cholelithiasis is prevalent in society and can be incidentally detected during examinations performed for unrelated reasons.<sup>[7–9]</sup> When gallbladder stones are detected in these patient groups, there is often a tendency to focus solely on this issue and overlook other differential diagnoses. Abdominal ultrasonography (USG) is typically one of the initial examinations requested for patients presenting with upper quadrant and epigastric abdominal pain. Patients diagnosed with gallbladder stones on abdominal USG are often directly referred for surgery.

Articles advocating the routine necessity of EGD evaluation before cholecystectomy emphasize the likelihood of detecting pathological findings during EGD in patients with gallstones. They also suggest that in some cases, appropriate treatment can lead to symptom resolution without the need for cholecystectomy.<sup>[4,10]</sup> In contrast, articles that do not advocate routine EGD before cholecystectomy note that the detection rate of endoscopic pathology is low in patients presenting with "typical" gallbladder pain during detailed anamnesis. It is suggested that EGD may be considered if pain persists after cholecystectomy. <sup>[6,11]</sup> In our study, we found that 53.6% of EGDs performed before cholecystectomy revealed endoscopic pathology, and histopathological abnormalities were detected in 199 (87.3%) of 228 patients who underwent biopsies.

Based on these findings, while it may be argued that routine EGD before cholecystectomy could be beneficial, it is important to consider the retrospective nature of our study. There is also the possibility that some patients un-

Table 3. Abnormal histopathologic fingings according to endoscopic findings							
Variables (N=199, %)	All Patients	Normal EGD	Antral Gastritis	Pangastritis	Bile Reflux Gastritis	Peptic Ulcer	р
Severity of Chronic Gastritis							
Mild	74 (37.2)	4 (2)	34 (17.1)	18 (9)	18 (9)	0 (0)	<0.001ª
Moderate	98 (49.2)	14 (7)	39 (19.6)	23 (11.6)	12 (6)	10 (5)	
Severe	27 (13.6)	1 (0.5)	3 (1.5)	7 (3.5)	6 (3)	10 (5)	
Activity of Chronic Gastritis							
Inactive	44 (22.1)	1 (0.5)	25 (12.6)	9 (4.5)	9 (4.5)	0 (0)	<0.001ª
Mild	45 (22.6)	5 (2.5)	16 (8)	12 (6)	11 (5.5)	1 (0.5)	
Moderate	82 (41.2)	11 (5.5)	30 (15.1)	21 (10.6)	12 (6)	8 (4)	
Severe	28 (14.1)	2 (1)	5 (2.5)	6 (3)	4 (2)	11 (5.5)	

<sup>a</sup>Fisher's Exact Test; EGD: Esophagogastroduodenoscopy.

dergoing EGD before cholecystectomy may present with dyspeptic complaints. Prospective studies focusing on patients with typical symptoms of gallstones would provide further clarity on this matter.

The prevalence of HP infection is reported to be approximately 35% globally, with a decreasing trend in recent years. However, there is variability in HP prevalence, with lower rates observed in developed Western societies and higher rates in Asia.<sup>[12,13]</sup> In our study, Helicobacter pylori (HP) positivity was detected in 90 (39.5%) of 228 patients from whom biopsies were taken, consistent with the literature.

In a study investigating the incidence of atrophic gastritis, Adamu et al.<sup>[14]</sup> reported that its prevalence in the general population varies between 0% and 11%. In our study, 19.7% of biopsied patients had atrophic gastritis, and 18% exhibited intestinal metaplasia. These higher-than-normal rates of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia in our study cohort support the rationale for performing EGD before cholecystectomy.

When examining the distribution of histopathological findings based on endoscopic results, we observed more severe and active gastritis in patients with peptic ulcer and bile reflux, whereas patients with normal endoscopic findings showed milder and less active gastritis.

The primary limitations of our study include its retrospective and single-center nature. Due to missing data regarding the indications for gastroscopy in patients undergoing cholecystectomy, we cannot accurately determine the prevalence of complaints such as dyspepsia. Consequently, there is a possibility that pathological findings may be detected at a higher rate than normal. This issue requires evaluation through prospective studies, particularly focusing on EGD findings in patients presenting with typical symptoms of cholelithiasis.

# Conclusion

The detection rates of pathology are high in patients who undergo EGD before cholecystectomy, suggesting that routine preoperative EGD could enhance clinical management.

# Disclosures

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Şişli Etfal Training and Research Hospital (30.01.2024, No: 2565).

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

Authorship Contributions: Concept – B.D.; Design – B.D.; Supervision – L.D.E., A.F.K.G.; Materials – B.D., İ.G., L.D.E., A.F.K.G.; Data collection and/or processing – B.D., İ.G., L.D.E., A.F.K.G.; Analysis and/or interpretation – B.D., A.F.K.G.; Literature search – B.D.; Writing – B.D.; Critical review – B.D., İ.G., L.D.E., A.F.K.G.

# References

- 1. Robinson P, Perkins JC Jr. Approach to patients with epigastric pain. Emerg Med Clin North Am 2016;34(2):191–210.
- Zhang J, Lu Q, Ren YF, Dong J, Mu YP, Lv Y, et al. Factors relevant to persistent upper abdominal pain after cholecystectomy. HPB Oxford 2017;19(7):629–37.
- Al-Azawi D, Rayis A, Hehir DJ. Esophagogastroduodenoscopy prior to laparoscopic cholecystectomy. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2006;16(6):593–7.
- Rashid F, Rashid N, Waraich N, Ahmed J, Iftikhar SY. Role of routine oesophago-gastroduodenoscopy before cholecystectomy. Int J Surg 2010;8(3):236–8.
- Dimitriou I, Reckmann B, Nephuth O, Betzler M. Value of routine preoperative oesophagogastroduodenoscopy before elective cholecystectomy. Zentralbl Chir [Article in German] 2012;137(1):38–42.
- Lamberts MP, Kievit W, Özdemir C, Westert GP, van Laarhoven CJ, Drenth JP. Value of EGD in patients referred for cholecystectomy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc 2015;82(1):24–31.
- Massarrat S, Klingemann HG, Kappert J, Jaspersen D, Schmitz-Moormann P. Incidence of gallstone disease in autopsy material and outpatients from West Germany. Z Gastroenterol [Article in German] 1982;20(6):341–5.
- Peter P, Zeller A, Sonnenberg A. Incidence of asymptomatic gallstones in hospital patients. Z Gastroenterol [Article in German] 1985;23(10):573-8.
- Festi D, Dormi A, Capodicasa S, Staniscia T, Attili AF, Loria P, et al. Incidence of gallstone disease in Italy: Results from a multicenter, population-based Italian study (the MICOL project). World J Gastroenterol 2008;14(34):5282–9.
- Sosada K, Zurawinski W, Piecuch J, Stepien T, Makarska J. Gastroduodenoscopy: A routine examination of 2,800 patients before laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Surg Endosc 2005;19(8):1103-8.
- Ure BM, Troidl H, Spangenberger W, Lefering R, Dietrich A, Sommer H. Evaluation of routine upper digestive tract endoscopy before laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Br J Surg 1992;79(11):1174–7.
- Chen YC, Malfertheiner P, Yu HT, Kuo CL, Chang YY, Meng FT, et al. Global prevalence of Helicobacter pylori infection and incidence of gastric cancer between 1980 and 2022. Gastroenterology 2024;166(4):605–19.
- Eusebi LH, Zagari RM, Bazzoli F. Epidemiology of helicobacter pylori infection. Helicobacter 2014;19(Suppl 1):1–5.
- Adamu MA, Weck MN, Gao L, Brenner H. Incidence of chronic atrophic gastritis: Systematic review and meta-analysis of follow-up studies. Eur J Epidemiol 2010;25(7):439–48.



# Comparison of VATS and open thoracotomy in anatomical lung resections according to multifaceted parameters

Selime Kahraman,<sup>1</sup>
 Serdar Evman,<sup>3</sup>
 Mesut Buz,<sup>2</sup>
 Talha Doğruyol,<sup>2</sup>
 Attila Özdemir,<sup>2</sup>
 Berk Çimenoğlu,<sup>2</sup>
 Recep Demirhan<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Thoracic Surgery, Dr Siyami Ersek Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of Thoracic Surgery, Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar City Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye

<sup>3</sup>Department of Thoracic Surgery, Süreyyapaşa Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye

# ABSTRACT

**Introduction:** In our research, the data of lung cancer patients operated via VATS and thoracotomy methods were investigated. In the evaluation performed by using versatile parameters, both methods were compared on the basis of objective criteria. Our study was carried out in order to assess the outcomes of both methods.

**Materials and Methods:** 232 patients who underwent surgery with a diagnosis of lung cancer of various stages between the dates of January 2016 and June 2021 were involved in the research, and the patients' data were retrospectively scanned. To ensure balance between both groups, cases that were operated on for benign causes, performed pneumonectomy, received neoadjuvant, underwent chest wall resection, and cases converted to open from VATS were excluded from the research. The patients' hospitalization, amount of drainage, count of dissected lymph nodes, stages, complications and early mortality were reviewed.

**Results:** There were 81 patients underwent VATS lobectomy and 151 patients underwent thoracotomy, in our study. The mean age was 63.5 in the thoracotomy group, and, 61.8 in VATS group. In the thoracotomy group, there were 31 female and 120 male patients; and in VATS group, 28 female and 53 male patients. The hospitalization times were shorter in VATS group; however, it was not statistically significant. In thoracotomy group, drainage amount and the count of lymph node dissections were significantly higher. The stage was determined significantly earlier in VATS group. Despite the rate of complication was lower in VATS group, there was no statistical difference between the both groups. Early mortality rates were comparable.

**Conclusion:** Even though our research has limitations, we believe that we will gain better outcomes as our learning curve enhances in VATS.

Keywords: Lung Cancer, Lung Resection, Open Thoracotomy, Video-assisted Thoracic Surgery

# Introduction

Lung cancer has the highest incidence and mortality rate in the world among all cancers.<sup>[1]</sup> In accordance with National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) Guide-

lines, the main treatment for lung cancer at Stage 1–2 is surgery; in Stage 3, however, surgical treatment is recommended in selected patient groups.<sup>[1]</sup> The video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS) method, which has been





utilized in lung cancer surgery since the 1990s, has shown great progress recently. Sleeve resections began to be performed using VATS, and uniportal methods were developed over time. Furthermore, other advantages of VATS, such as providing a shorter discharge time, less cosmetic damage, and less pain, have been reported in numerous publications.<sup>[24]</sup> Nevertheless, thoracotomy is still considered the best choice, particularly in advanced-stage cancers and centrally located tumors.

In our study, we compared VATS and thoracotomy based on multifaceted effects in patients with anatomical lung disease due to lung cancer. We aimed to evaluate the advantages and limitations of both methods.

# **Materials and Methods**

Our research was conducted retrospectively, including data from 232 patients who underwent lung cancer surgery at Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar City Hospital over a 5-year period between January 2016 and June 2021. The patients' age, gender, operation side, operation name, operation method, number of dissected lymph nodes, pathological outcome, stage, postoperative complications, hospitalization time, and drainage amounts were recorded. Patients who underwent anatomical resection for benign etiologies, pneumonectomy, post-neoadjuvant cases, lung resection with chest wall resection, sleeve resections, segmentectomy cases, cases that remained in exploration, and cases that were converted to thoracotomy were excluded from the study. All patients were staged after surgery in accordance with the 8th International TNM Classification System for Lung Cancer.<sup>[5]</sup>

Mediastinal lymph node assessment was conducted using the "systematic mediastinal lymph node sampling method" based on the map proposed by the American Thoracic Society.<sup>[6]</sup>

The TM&M (Thoracic Morbidity and Mortality) classification, created by Seely et al.,<sup>[7]</sup> in 2010 by modifying the Clavien-Dindo classification,<sup>[8]</sup> was used for the classification of complications. Surgical complications were divided into Clavien-Dindo Class 1 and Class 2 (minor) and Classes 3 and 4 (major) (Table 1).

### **Statistical Analysis**

In the descriptive statistics of the data, mean, standard deviation, median, lowest, highest, frequency, and ratio values were utilized. The distribution of variables was tested using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Independent sample t-tests were utilized for the analysis of quantitative independent data. The Chi-square test was used for the analysis of qualitative independent data, and Fisher's exact test was used when Chi-square test requirements were not met. SPSS 27.0 software was used for the analyses.

#### **Ethics Committee Approval**

Our study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar City Hospital on 20.08.2019 with decision number 2019/514/160/5.

Table 1. Classification of complications	
Major Complications	Minor Complications
Pneumonia requiring intensive care	Wound infection
Chylothorax requiring ductusligation	Prolonged air leak (PAL)
Hematoma requiring revision	Subcutaneous emphysema
Myocardial Infarction	Atelectasis
Cerebro-vascular disease (CVD)	Gastrointestinal complications
Renal failure requiring hemodialysis	Urological complications
Pulmonary edema requiring mechanical	Acute renal failure
ventilation	Atrial fibrillation (AF)
Bronchopleural fistula requiring surgery	Pneumonia
Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS)	Chylothorax
	Hematoma
	Pulmonary embolism
	Pulmonary edema
	Bronchopleural fistula

#### **Results**

A total of 232 patients who underwent anatomical resection (81 VATS, 151 thoracotomy) were included in the study. The mean age was 63.5 years in the thoracotomy group and 61.8 years in the VATS group. There were 31 female and 120 male patients in the thoracotomy group, and 28 female and 53 male patients in the VATS group. The operation side was principally the right side in both groups (64.6% in thoracotomy and 58.0% in VATS). The demographic characteristics of the patients are summarized in Table 2.

The most frequent operation in both groups was upper lobectomy, with 55.6% in the VATS group and 59.9% in the thoracotomy group (Table 2). After reviewing the exact pathology in both groups, we found that adenocarcinoma was the most common type. Adenocarcinoma was observed in 42.9% of the patients in the thoracotomy group, followed by squamous cell carcinoma in 42.2%. In

Table 2. Demographic data of the patients, operation types, final pathology results, pathological stages					
	Thorac Mean±	cotomy SD/n-%	Mear	VATS n±SD/n-%	р
Age	63.5	±8.7	61	.8±8.7	0.170 <sup>t</sup>
Gender					
Famele	30	20.4%	28	34.6%	0.019 <sup>X²</sup>
Man	117	79.6%	53	65.4%	
Side					
Right	95	64.6%	47	58.0%	0.466 <sup>X²</sup>
Left	56	38.1%	34	42.0%	
Anatomical Resection Type					
Lower Lobectomy	44	29.9%	34	42.0%	0.049 <sup>X²</sup>
Upper Lobectomy	88	59.9%	45	55.6%	0.689 <sup>x<sup>2</sup></sup>
Middle Lobectomy	6	4.1%	0	0.0%	0.069 <sup>X²</sup>
Bilobectomy Inferior	8	5.4%	1	1.2%	0.170 <sup>x<sup>2</sup></sup>
Bilobectomy Superior	5	3.4%	0	0.0%	0.166 <sup>x<sup>2</sup></sup>
Cancer Stage					
1A1	11	7.5%	11	13.6%	0.000 <sup>X²</sup>
1A2	40	27.2%	21	25.9%	
1A3	15	10.2%	26	32.1%	
1B	21	14.3%	11	13.6%	
2A	19	12.9%	1	1.2%	
2B	21	14.3%	7	8.6%	
3A	19	12.9%	4	4.9%	
3B	5	3.4%	0	0.9%	
Pathology					
Adenocarcinoma	63	42.9%	55	67.9%	0.000 <sup>X²</sup>
Squamous	62	42.2%	18	22.2%	0.006 <sup>X²</sup>
Large Cell	11	7.5%	4	4.9%	0.679 <sup>x²</sup>
Adenosquamous	5	3.4%	2	2.5%	0.964 <sup>X²</sup>
Pleomorphic carcinoma	6	4.1%	1	1.2%	0.447 <sup>X²</sup>
Typical carcinoid	2	1.4%	1	1.2%	0.614
Atypical carcinoid	1	0.7%	0	0.0%	1.000
Small cell	1	0.7%	0	0.0%	1.000

t: independent sample t test; X<sup>2</sup> Ki-kare test; n: number.

the VATS group, 67.9% had adenocarcinoma, and 22.2% had squamous cell carcinoma. The exact pathology of the patients is summarized in Table 2.

The stage of lung cancer was significantly higher (p < 0.05) in the thoracotomy group compared to the VATS group (Table 2). In the thoracotomy group, 57.2% of patients were at Stage 1, and 42.8% were at Stage 2 and above. In contrast, 85.2% of patients in the VATS group were at Stage 1, and 14.8% were at Stage 2 and above. The VATS method was favored more in early-stage cancers (Table 2).

Examining the number of lymph nodes dissected between both groups, the total number of lymph nodes was  $5.75\pm1.48$  in the thoracotomy group and  $4.75\pm1.34$  in the VATS group. The total number of lymph nodes in the thoracotomy group was significantly higher (p<0.05) compared to the VATS group. The ratio of the number of lymph nodes 2, 4, 8, and 9 was significantly higher (p<0.05) in the thoracotomy group compared to the VATS group. However, the ratios of lymph nodes 5, 6, 7, 10, and 11 did not significantly differ between the two groups (p>0.05) (Table 3).

In terms of drainage amounts, the total drainage was 747±694 ml in the thoracotomy group and 525±449 ml in the VATS group, with a statistically significant difference between both groups (p<0.05) (Table 4). The hospitalization time was  $8.5\pm5.7$  days in the thoracotomy group and 7.4±3.4 days in the VATS group, which was not statistically significant (p>0.05) (Table 4).

The TM&M system, a modified version of the Clavien-Dindo classification, was used to classify complications. These complications were grouped as major or minor (Table 4). Both minor and major complications, as well as total complications, were higher in the thoracotomy group (22.5%, 11.3%, and 33.8%, respectively). The total complication ratio was significantly higher in the thoracotomy group (p<0.05). The rates of prolonged air leaks (PAL), subcutaneous emphysema, pneumonia, chylothorax requiring ligation, chylothorax, atrial fibrillation (AF), pulmonary embolism, bronchopleural fistulas (BPF) requiring an operation, pulmonary edema, wound infection, and cerebrovascular disease (CVD) did not significantly differ between the two groups (p>0.05). However, the rates of atelectasis, urinary complications, and hematoma were significantly higher (p<0.05) in the thoracotomy group (Table 5).

Mortality data were collected, including patients who died due to postoperative complications during their first month of follow-up. Complications-associated mortality was noted in 4 patients (2.6%) in the thoracotomy group and 2 patients (2.4%) in the VATS group within the first postoperative month. This difference was not statistically significant (p>0.05). Mortality data are presented in Table 4.

# Discussion

In our research, we compared the VATS and thoracotomy methods based on multifaceted parameters in patients who underwent anatomical resection due to lung cancer. To ensure balance among cases, we excluded patients whose

Table 3. Numbers and percentages of lymph nodes dissected during the operation					
	Thorac Mean±	cotomy SD/n-%	V Mean:	ATS ±SD/n-%	р
Side					
Right	95	62.9%	47	58.0%	0.466 <sup>X<sup>2</sup></sup>
Left	56	37.1%	34	42.0%	
Total Number of Lymph Nodes	5.75:	±1.48	4.75	5±1.34	0.000 <sup>m</sup>
Lymph Node					
2.4	82	54.3%	29	35.8%	0.007 <sup>X<sup>2</sup></sup>
5.6	50	33.1%	18	22.2%	0.082 <sup>x<sup>2</sup></sup>
7	143	94.7%	71	87.7%	0.056 <sup>X<sup>2</sup></sup>
8.9	103	68.2%	37	45.7%	0.001 <sup>X²</sup>
10.11	137	90.7%	73	90.1%	0.881 <sup>X<sup>2</sup></sup>

<sup>m</sup>Mann-whitney u test / X<sup>2</sup> Ki-kare test; ave :average, ss/n : standard deviation/number.

Table 4. Analysis of major-minor complications, total dramage, length of stay, mortainty data							
	VATS		Thoracot				
	Mean±SD/n-%	Median	Mean±SD/n-%	Median	р		
Postoperative Complication							
(-)	57/70.4%		103/68.2%		0.735 <sup>x²</sup>		
(+)	24/29.6%		48/31.8%				
Major Complication							
(-)	77/95.1%		142/94.0%		0.747 <sup>x²</sup>		
(+)	4/4.9%		9/6.0%				
Minor Complication							
(-)	60/74.1%		110/72.8%		0.841 <sup>X²</sup>		
(+)	21/25.9%		41/27.2%				
Total Drainage	485.6±453.6	400.0	712.0±696.7	500.0	0.002 <sup>m</sup>		
Hospitalization Duration	7.4±3.4	7.0	8.5±5.7	7.0	0.058 <sup>m</sup>		
Mortality							
(-)	79/97.6%		145/97.4%		0.069 <sup>X²</sup>		
(+)	2/2.4%		4/2.6%				

<sup>m</sup>Mann-whitney u test / X<sup>2</sup> Ki-kare test (Fischer test); (-) not, (+) available, ave :average, ss/n : standard deviation/number.

Table 5.Postoperative complications						
	Thora	cotomy	١	/ATS	р	
	n	%	n	%		
Complication						
Atelectasis	11	7.3%	0	0.0%	0.013 <sup>X²</sup>	
Prolonged air leak (PAL)	11	7.3%	3	3.7%	0.275 <sup>x²</sup>	
Hematoma Requiring Revision	3	2.0%	1	1.2%	1.000 <sup>X²</sup>	
Hematoma	3	2.0%	8	9.9%	0.007 <sup>X²</sup>	
Urinary Complication	7	4.6%	0	0.0%	0.049 <sup>X²</sup>	
Subcutaneous Emphysema	5	3.3%	5	6.2%	0.306 <sup>X²</sup>	
Pneumonia	7	4.6%	2	2.5%	0.415 <sup>X²</sup>	
Chylothorax requiring ligation	1	0.7%	3	3.7%	0.124 <sup>X²</sup>	
Chylothorax	2	1.3%	1	1.2%	1.000 <sup>X²</sup>	
Atrial fibrillation (AF)	2	1.3%	1	1.2%	1.000 <sup>X²</sup>	
Pulmonary Embolism	1	0.7%	0	0.0%	1.000 <sup>X²</sup>	
Bronchopleural fistula requiring surgery	1	0.7%	0	0.0%	1.000 <sup>X²</sup>	
Bronchopleural fistula	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1.000 <sup>X²</sup>	
Pulmonary Edema	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1.000 <sup>X²</sup>	
Wound Infection	1	0.7%	0	0.0%	1.000 <sup>X<sup>2</sup></sup>	
Cerebrovascular accident	2	1.3%	2	2.5%	0.613 <sup>x²</sup>	

X<sup>2</sup> Ki-kare test, n: number.

operations were converted to thoracotomy, those who underwent pneumonectomy, lung resection with chest wall resection, and patients with neoadjuvant therapy.

In numerous studies comparing thoracotomy and VATS, the number of lymph nodes dissected, drainage amount, length of hospitalization, and postoperative complications were evaluated.<sup>[9-11]</sup> We investigated demographic data, hospitalization, drainage amount, number of lymph nodes, stages, complications, and early mortality in our study.

In a study conducted in 2006,<sup>[12]</sup> McKenna reported on 1,100 patients who underwent VATS lobectomy over 12 years, 1,015 of whom were operated on for lung cancer. Of the participants, 54.1% were female, and 45.9% were male. The mean age was 71.2 years (range: 16-94). The most common histologic type was adenocarcinoma, with a rate of 63.1%. The most frequent operation type was right upper lobectomy (403 cases, 39.7%). In a multicenter randomized controlled study by Long et al.<sup>[13]</sup> in 2017, 425 patients undergoing VATS and axillary thoracotomy were included (215 VATS and 210 axillary thoracotomy). Of these patients, 49.8% were female, and 50.1% were male. The mean age was 57.1 years in the VATS group and 58.1 years in the axillary thoracotomy group. The most common histologic type was adenocarcinoma (VATS 82.7%, thoracotomy 76.6%), and the most frequent operation was right upper lobectomy (VATS 26.9%, thoracotomy 35.7%). Of the 232 patients included in our study over a 5-year period, 59 (25.4%) were female, and 173 (74.5%) were male. The mean age was 63.5 years in the thoracotomy group and 61.8 years in the VATS group. The most frequent operation side was the right side (thoracotomy 64.6%, VATS 58.0%), and the most common operation type was upper lobectomy (thoracotomy 59.9%, VATS 55.6%). The most common cancer type was adenocarcinoma (thoracotomy 42.9%, VATS 67.9%). The rate of female patients in our research was lower compared to other studies.<sup>[3,4]</sup> The mean age of patients was 7 years older than that reported in McKenna's study, while it was 5 years older than in Long H.'s study. Adenocarcinoma was the most common cancer type, as in other studies<sup>[3,4]</sup> and the most frequently performed operation was right upper lobectomy.

In studies conducted, the length of hospitalization following lung resection was noted to be shorter in the VATS group compared to the thoracotomy group.<sup>[1345]</sup> The length of hospitalization ranged between 4.5 and 14 days in the VATS group and between 5 and 15 days in the thoracotomy group.<sup>[1345]</sup> In our research, the hospitalization duration was 7.4 $\pm$ 3.4 days in the VATS group and 8.5 $\pm$ 5.7 days in the thoracotomy group. However, this difference was not statistically significant (p>0.05).

The amount of drainage and the timing of drain removal are crucial factors in determining patient discharge times. In various studies,<sup>[4,13]</sup> drainage amounts were noted to be higher in thoracotomy patients compared to VATS patients. In our research, the drainage amount in the thoracotomy group was significantly higher than in the VATS group (total drainage: 747±694 ml in the thoracotomy group and 525±449 ml in the VATS group, p<0.05). Although the specific day for drain removal was not mentioned, all patients were discharged after a control chest X-ray was taken the day after the drain was removed in our study.

Various studies have compared the number of lymph nodes dissected between VATS and thoracotomy groups. <sup>[16-19]</sup> In some of these studies, the number of lymph nodes dissected was found to be similar between the two groups. <sup>[16,18,19]</sup> However, other studies reported that the number of lymph node dissections was higher in the thoracotomy group.<sup>[17,20,21]</sup> In our study, the total number of lymph nodes in the thoracotomy group was significantly higher (p<0.05) compared to the VATS group.

Numerous publications on lung cancer treatment suggest that VATS lobectomy should be preferred in early-stage cancers.<sup>[9-11]</sup> Some studies, however, have demonstrated that VATS also provides successful outcomes in tumors larger than 5 cm (Stage 3).<sup>[22,23]</sup> In some studies comparing VATS and thoracotomy, VATS was less frequently preferred in advanced stages.<sup>[13,21,24]</sup> A similar trend was observed in our research, where the selection of VATS diminished in higher stages.

In McKenna's 2006 study, no postoperative complications were reported in 932 of the 1,100 patients who underwent VATS (82% of the patients).<sup>[12]</sup> Wang et al.<sup>[25]</sup> included a total of 10 studies involving 1,514 patients in their metaanalysis and found a lower incidence of postoperative complications in the VATS group. In a study involving 269 patients, Erdoğu et al.<sup>[24]</sup> reported an early postoperative complication rate of 17.9% in patients who underwent VATS and 32.2% in those who underwent thoracotomy. In a study with 516 patients, Lee et al.<sup>[17]</sup> reported a major complication rate of 4.3% in the VATS group and 9.6% in the thoracotomy group. The minor complication rate was 13.9% in the VATS group and 13% in the thoracotomy has been noted to be lower than that for thoracotomy in many studies.<sup>[26,27]</sup> In our study, the total complication rate was 26% in the VATS lobectomy group and 34% in the thoracotomy group. The major complication rate was 8.7% in the VATS group and 11.3% in the thoracotomy group, while the minor complication rate was 17.3% in the VATS group and 22.5% in the thoracotomy group. The difference in total complications was found to be statistically significant in favor of the VATS group. Additionally, the complication rates in the thoracotomy group, the rate of hematoma was reported to be between 0.9% and 1.5% in other studies. <sup>[13,17,26,27]</sup> whereas in our research, the rate was 2.5%.

The mortality rate following VATS lobectomy due to lung cancer ranges between 0.3% and 3% and between 0.7% and 6% following thoracotomy.<sup>[12,17,25-28]</sup> In our study, early mortality rates were 2.4% in the VATS group and 2.6% in the thoracotomy group. There was no significant difference in early-term mortalities between the two groups.

The limitations of our study include its single-center design, the lack of postoperative pain scoring between the two groups, and the fact that long-term postoperative complications and survival outcomes were not examined.

# Conclusion

For lung cancer in the first two stages, the ideal treatment option is surgery. VATS has become increasingly popular in lung resections due to its numerous advantages.

In our study, although the length of hospitalization was shorter in the VATS group, no statistically significant difference was observed between the two groups. However, the drainage amount was greater in the thoracotomy group, and this difference was statistically significant. The number of lymph node dissections was also higher in the thoracotomy group, and this difference was significant as well. We believe there is a direct correlation between the number of lymph node dissections and the amount of drainage, and the outcome from the data supports our opinion.

In the thoracotomy group, there were more patients in higher stages of lung cancer, and the stage was significantly higher compared to the VATS group. The major-minor complication ratio and total complications were found to be lower in the VATS group, with the total complication rate being significantly lower. No significant difference was noted in early mortality rates between the two groups. Our study did not address pain, quality of life, cost, long-term outcomes, or the distribution of VATS over the years. However, in alignment with our results, we believe that VATS should be favored, particularly for early-stage tumors, as the length of hospitalization is shorter, the drainage amount is less, and complications are fewer. Despite the limitations of our study, we anticipate achieving better outcomes as our learning curve for VATS improves.

# Disclosures

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Our study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar City Hospital on 20.08.2019 with decision number 2019/514/160/5.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

**Authorship Contributions:** Concept – S.K., M.B.; Desing – S.E., S.K.; Supervision – R.D., S.E.; Materials – S.K., T.D.; Data collections and/or processing – B.Ç., S.K.; Analysis and/or interpretation – B.Ç., A.Ö.; Literature search – A.Ö., S.K.; Writing – S.K., S.E.; Critical review – R.D., S.E.

### References

- Ettinger DS, Wood DE, Aisner DL, Akerley W, Bauman J, Chirieac LR, et al. Non-small cell lung cancer, version 5.2017, NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. J Natl ComprCancNetw 2017;15(4):504–35.
- Coşgun T, Baysungur V, Tezel Ç, Okur E, Alpay L, Kutlu CA, et al. Learning and improvement process of video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy: Experiences of Süreyyapaşa. Turk Gogus Kalp Dama 2014;22(3):589–95
- Toker A, Kaya S. Lobectomy with VATS in lung cancer. Turk Thorac Cardiovasc SurgDerg 2009;17(2):139–43.
- 4. Sezen C, Aker C. VATS lobectomy, segmentectomy, pneumonectomy. Curr Chest Dis Ser 2020;8(1):37-42.
- Goldstraw P, Chansky K, Crowley J, Rami-Porta R, Asamura H, Eberhardt WE, et al. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: proposals for revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (eighth) edition of the TNM classification for lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2016;11:39–51.
- 6. American Thoracic Society clinical staging of primary lung cancer. Am Rev Respir Dis 1983;127:659–69.
- Seely AJ, Ivanovic J, Threader J, Al-Hussaini A, Al-Shehab D, Ramsay T, et al. Systematic classification of morbidity and mortality after thoracic surgery. Ann ThoracSurg2010;90:936–42.
- Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien PA. Classification of surgical complications: A new proposal with evaluation in a cohort of 6336 patients and results of a survey. Ann Surg 2004;240(2):205-13.
- 9. Chen FF, Zhang D, Wang YL, Xiong B. Video-assisted thora-

coscopic surgery lobectomy versus open lobectomy in patients with clinical stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol 2013;39(9):957–63.

- Cai Y, Fu X, Xu Q. Thoracoscopic lobectomy versus open lobectomy in stage I non-small cell lung cancer: A metaanalysis. PLoS One 2013;8(12):e82366.
- Li Z, Liu H, Li L. Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery versus open lobectomy for stage I lung cancer: A meta-analysis of long-term outcomes. Exp Ther Med 2012;3(5):886–92.
- McKenna R, Houck W, Fuller C. Video-assisted thoracic surgery lobectomy: Experience with 1,100 cases. Ann ThoracSurg 2006;81(2):421-5.
- Long H, Tan Q, Luo Q. Thoracoscopic surgery versus thoracotomy for lung cancer: Short-term outcomes of a randomized trial. Ann ThoracSurg 2018;105(2):386–92.
- Lipińska J, Wawrzycki M, Jabłoński S. Comparison of costs of hospitalization of patients with primary lung cancer after lobectomy with access through classic thoracotomy and VATS in the conditions of financing based on diagnosis-related groups. J Thorac Dis 2019;11(8):3490–5.
- Nomori H, Horio H, Naruke T, Suemasu K. What is the advantage of a thoracoscopic lobectomy over a limited thoracotomy procedure for lung cancer surgery? Ann ThoracSurg 2001;72(3):879–84.
- Toker A, Özyurtkan MO, Demirhan Ö, Ayalp K, Kaba E, Uyumaz E. Lymph node dissection in surgery for lung cancer: Comparison of open vs video-assisted vs robotic-assisted approaches. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg2016;22:284–90.
- 17. Lee P, Nasar A, Port J. Long-term survival after lobectomy for non-small cell lung cancer by video-assisted thoracic surgery versus thoracotomy. Ann ThoracSurg 2013;96(3):951–60.
- Dziedzic DA, Zbytniewski M, Gryszko GM, Cackowski MM,Langfort R, Orlowski TM;Polish Lung Cancer Study Group. Video-assisted versus open thoracotomy lobectomy: Comparison of lymphadenectomy and survival in early stage lung cancer. J Thorac Dis 2021;13(1):101–12.
- 19. D'Amico TA, Niland J, Mamet R, Zornosa C, Dexter EU, Onaitis

MW. Efficacy of mediastinal lymph node dissection during lobectomy for lung cancer by thoracoscopy and thoraco-tomy. Ann ThoracSurg2011;92:226–31.

- 20. Denlinger CE, Fernandez F, Meyers BF, Pratt W, Zoole JB, Patterson GA, et al. Lymph node evaluation in video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy versus lobectomy by thoracotomy. Ann ThoracSurg2010;89:1730–5.
- Kneuertz P, Cheufou H, Souza D. Propensity-score adjusted comparison of pathologic nodal upstaging by robotic, videoassisted thoracoscopic, and open lobectomy for non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg2019;158:1457– 67.
- Pischik VG. Technical difficulties and extending the indications for VATS lobectomy. J Thorac Dis 2014;6(Suppl 6):S623–30.
- Nakano T, Endo S, Endo T, Otani S, Tsubochi H, Yamamoto S, et al. Surgical outcome of video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery vs thoracotomy for primary lung cancer >5 cm in diameter. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg2015;21:428–34.
- Erdogu V, Akin H, Sonmezoglu Y. Comparison of the videoassisted thoracoscopic lobectomy versus open thoracotomy for primary non-small cell lung cancer: Single cohort study with 269 cases. SisliEtfalHastan Tip Bul 2020;54(3):291-6.
- Wang Z, Pang L, Tang J, Cheng J, Chen N, Zhou J, et al. Videoassisted thoracoscopic surgery versus muscle-sparing thoracotomy for non-small cell lung cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Surg 2019;19(1):144.
- Falcoz PE, Puyraveau M, Thomas PA. Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery versus open lobectomy for primary nonsmall-cell lung cancer: A propensity-matched analysis of outcome from the European Society of Thoracic Surgeon database. Eur J CardiothoracSurg2016;49:602–9.
- 27. Park BJ. Is surgical morbidity decreased with minimally invasive lobectomy? Cancer J 2011;17:18–22.
- Al Ameri M, Bergman P, Franco-Cereceda A. Video-assisted thoracoscopic versus open thoracotomy lobectomy: A Swedish nationwide cohort study. J Thorac Dis 2018;10(6):3499–506.

# The effect of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy on serum levels of vitamin A, D and B12 and iron profile in patients with morbid obesity: Short term outcomes

# Nail Omarov,<sup>1</sup> D Elnur Huseynov<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of General Surgery, Istanbul Yeniyuzyil University, Gaziosmanpasa Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of General Surgery, Avrupa Şafak Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye

# ABSTRACT

**Introduction:** Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy (LSG) has emerged as a prominent surgical intervention for morbid obesity. In the present study, we aimed to evaluate the effect of LSG on serum levels of vitamins A, D, B12, and the iron profile in patients with morbid obesity.

**Materials and Methods:** This single-center, retrospective cohort study was conducted at Department of General Surgery between February 2021 and March 2023. Inclusion criteria were established in accordance with the American Society for Metabolic and Bariatric Surgery (ASMBS) guidelines. Exclusion criteria were as follows: pregnant or lactating women; those receiving medications known to affect vitamin or iron levels (e.g., anticonvulsants, long-term proton pump inhibitors); having prior gastrointestinal surgeries affecting nutrient absorption. A total of 116 patients who met the inclusion criteria were enrolled.

**Results:** The mean age of the participants was 38.7±7.5 years, and 80 of them (68.9%) were females and 36 of them (31.03%) were males. The mean preoperative BMI was 42.1±4.1 kg/m<sup>2</sup> A comparison of parameters before and after surgery showed that serum changes in vitamins A, B12, ferritin, and TIBC were not significantly different from before surgery, indicating that long-term LSG did not alter serum levels of these micronutrients. However, serum vitamin D showed a significant difference before and after surgery (p<0.001).

**Conclusion:** Nutritional deficiencies are a significant concern both before and after bariatric surgery. The results of the present study showed that laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy is one of the most effective surgical methods that does not cause a lack of nutrients and vitamins in the long term.

Keywords: Bariatric Surgery, Laparsopic sleeve gastrectomy, Serum vitamins

# Introduction

Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy (LSG) has emerged as a prominent surgical intervention for morbid obesity, offering significant advantages in terms of weight reduction and improvement in obesity-related comorbidities. This procedure involves the resection of nearly 75 to 80% of the stomach, creating a sleeve-shaped stomach that restricts food intake and alters hormonal signals related to appetite and metabolism.<sup>[1]</sup> It is associated with substantial weight loss and metabolic improvements, but it may lead





to nutritional deficiencies due to reduced stomach volume and altered digestive processes.<sup>[2]</sup>

One of the primary concerns following LSG is the potential effect on micronutrient levels, particularly vitamins and iron, which are crucial for various physiological functions. Vitamins A, D, and B12, along with iron, play key roles in maintaining metabolic health, immune function, and red blood cell production.<sup>[3]</sup> Deficiencies in these nutrients may lead to several health issues, including anemia, bone disorders, and neurological complications.<sup>[4]</sup> According to Rashoo et al.,<sup>[5]</sup> LSG is one of the most effective surgical methods for obesity treatment and does not cause long-term nutrient and vitamin deficiencies or require supplementation. Mulita et al.<sup>[6]</sup> reported that one year after bariatric surgery, there was an increase in ferritin, magnesium, and vitamin B12 deficiencies. However, there was no significant difference between pre- and postoperative iron, folic acid, and phosphorus deficiencies. Decreased vitamin D levels are more common in individuals with obesity than in healthy individuals without obesity. Many patients undergoing bariatric surgery have decreased 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] levels. Vitamin D3 levels show an inverse relationship with body mass index (BMI) >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.<sup>[7]</sup>

In light of these data, it is essential to monitor and manage the nutritional status of patients undergoing LSG to prevent and address potential deficiencies. In the present study, we aimed to evaluate the effect of LSG on serum levels of vitamins A, D, B12, and the iron profile in patients with morbid obesity. Understanding these effects would help tailor effective postoperative nutritional strategies and supplementation protocols to ensure optimal health outcomes and prevent complications associated with nutrient deficiencies.

# **Materials and Methods**

#### **Study Design and Study Population**

This single-center, retrospective cohort study was conducted at the Department of General Surgery of Avrupa Şafak Hospital between February 2021 and March 2023. The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB), and written informed consent was obtained from each participant. The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Inclusion criteria were established in accordance with

the American Society for Metabolic and Bariatric Surgery (ASMBS) guidelines as follows:<sup>[8]</sup> age between 18 and 65 years; BMI  $\geq$ 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup> or BMI  $\geq$ 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> with obesity-related comorbidities; no history of gastrointestinal diseases affecting absorption; and no history of chronic diseases affecting vitamin or iron metabolism (e.g., liver disease, chronic renal failure). Exclusion criteria were as follows: pregnant or lactating women; individuals receiving medications known to affect vitamin or iron levels (e.g., anticonvulsants, long-term proton pump inhibitors); and those with prior gastrointestinal surgeries affecting nutrient absorption. A total of 116 patients who met the inclusion criteria were enrolled.

119

#### **Preoperative Assessment**

Prior to surgery, participants underwent a comprehensive preoperative evaluation, including a detailed medical history and physical examination, abdominal ultrasound, upper gastrointestinal endoscopy, functional respiratory tests, nutritional assessment, and dietary history taking. Baseline laboratory tests included serum levels of vitamin A, vitamin D, vitamin B12, iron, ferritin, and total ironbinding capacity (TIBC).

#### **Surgical Procedure**

All participants underwent LSG performed by two bariatric surgeons. The surgical technique involved:

- Creation of a small vertical sleeve along the stomach's greater curvature, resecting approximately 80% of the stomach.
- Use of standard laparoscopic equipment and techniques to minimize surgical complications.

#### **Postoperative Follow-Up**

All patients underwent standard LSG and received a multivitamin supplement for six months (Supradyn®, Bayer Pharmaceuticals, Germany, one capsule daily, and calcium citrate). The patients' postoperative diet was prescribed by a nutritionist in accordance with the protocol for sleeve gastrectomy patients. At six months, the patients were asked to discontinue multivitamin supplementation. One year after the operation, BMI values were recorded, and blood samples were analyzed to check serum levels of vitamins A, D, B12, ferritin, and TIBC. The results were recorded.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 24.0 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Continuous data were expressed as mean±standard deviation (SD) or median (min–max), while categorical data were expressed as number and frequency. Independent t-tests and chi-square tests were used to analyze the data. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# **Results**

A total of 116 patients with morbid obesity were included in this study. All patients completed the follow-up period. The demographic characteristics of the patients are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Baseline and demographi of patients	c characteristics
Variables	Values
Male n (%)	36 (31.03)
Female n (%)	80 (68.9)
Age (year)	38.7±7.5
Height (cm)	165±8.9
Weight (kg)	
Preoperative	127.1±13.2
Postoperative	88.2±12.1
BMI (kg/m²)	
Preoperative	42.1±4.1
Postoperative	31.2±4.2
Weight loss (kg)	37.7±7.8
BMI: body mass index.	

At baseline, the mean age of the participants was  $38.7\pm7.5$  years, with 80 participants (68.9%) being female and 36 (31.03%) male. The mean preoperative BMI was  $42.1\pm4.1$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Table 1). The mean preoperative serum parameters were vitamin A:  $18.6\pm8.2$  g/dL, vitamin D:  $26.3\pm7.1$  ng/mL, vitamin B12:  $409.7\pm239.1$  pg/mL, ferritin:  $66.2\pm59.8$  ng/mL, and TIBC:  $332.4\pm61$  g/dL. One year after surgery, the mean BMI was  $31.2\pm4.2$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Table 1). The mean postoperative serum indices of vitamins A, D, B12, ferritin, and TIBC are given in Table 2. A comparison of pre- and postoperative parameters showed no significant changes in serum levels of vitamins A, B12, ferritin, and TIBC, indicating that long-term LSG did not alter serum levels of these micronutrients. However, serum vitamin D showed a significant difference before and after surgery (p<0.001) (Table 2).

# Discussion

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), the prevalence of obesity worldwide has tripled since 1975, with more than 650 million adults being obese in 2016. <sup>[9]</sup> Bariatric surgical procedures promote weight loss through three main mechanisms: restrictive, malabsorptive, and a combination of both.<sup>[10]</sup> Restrictive bariatric surgeries primarily work by reducing the stomach's volume, limiting food intake, and consequently calorie consumption. These procedures usually do not significantly alter the digestive tract's absorption capabilities. Currently, as a restrictive procedure, LSG is preferred due to its simpler technique and fewer complications.<sup>[11]</sup> Malabsorptive bariatric surgeries involve modifications to the gastrointestinal tract that reduce nutrient absorption. These procedures typically combine elements of restriction with changes to the digestive process, resulting in more pronounced nutritional deficiencies.<sup>[10,12,13]</sup> Reduced stom-

Table 2. Pre- and postoperative serum indices of patients							
Variable	Baseline	At Month 12	Normal range	p (t-test)			
Vitamin A (µg/dl)	18.6±8.2	17.1±9.1	32-78 (µg/dl)	0.381			
25 (OH) Vitamin D (ng/ml)	26.3±7.1	31.2±10.1	30-60 (ng/ml)	<0.001			
Vitamin B12 (pg/ml)	409.7±239.1	411.1±226.1	200-800 (pg/ml)	0.141			
TIBC (μg/dl)	332.4±61	335.6±61.1	250-310 (μg/dl)	0.653			
Serum ferritin (ng/ml)	66.2±59.8	66.7±68.1	Male: 24-336	0.980			
			Female: 24-307 (ng/dl)				
Serum iron (µg/dl)	82.1±21.2	85.7±60.1	50-150 (μg/dl)	0.212			
TIBC: total iron-binding capacity							

ach capacity can lead to insufficient intake of essential vitamins and minerals. Deficiencies in vitamin B12, iron, calcium, and vitamin D are common.<sup>[14,15]</sup>

Before undergoing bariatric surgery, many patients with morbid obesity already experience nutritional deficiencies, often resulting from poor dietary habits, malabsorption issues, and the high prevalence of comorbid conditions such as type 2 diabetes and gastrointestinal disorders.

Vitamin D deficiency, although common in the general population, has a higher prevalence in patients with obesity, reaching up to 94%.<sup>[16]</sup> Following bariatric surgery, 10 to 73% of patients develop vitamin D deficiency.<sup>[17]</sup> Postoperative vitamin D deficiency can worsen due to reduced food intake, altered absorption, and increased metabolic demand. Bariatric patients often require higher doses of vitamin D supplementation to maintain adequate levels and support bone health.<sup>[18]</sup> The risk of osteoporosis and fractures can increase if vitamin D levels are not adequately managed.<sup>[19]</sup> The study by Kull et al.<sup>[20]</sup> showed that patients with obesity had lower levels of vitamin D before surgery, consistent with our study findings. Bariatric surgery may also lead to calcium deficiency due to altered absorption and impaired gastric acid secretion. Calcium deficiency contributes to bone loss and osteoporosis.<sup>[21]</sup> Supplementation and dietary modifications are necessary to prevent these complications.<sup>[22]</sup> Our study showed a statistically significant increase in serum levels of vitamin D in patients one year after LSG.

Following bariatric surgery, vitamin B12 deficiency is common due to decreased intrinsic factor production and changes in the digestive tract.<sup>[23]</sup> Long-term supplementation and monitoring are essential to prevent anemia and neurological complications.<sup>[24]</sup> In the study by Mulita et al.,<sup>[6]</sup> one year after SG, 15% of the study population had vitamin B12 deficiency. Vitamin B12 deficiency, particularly in malabsorptive BS, may manifest after three years of inadequate intake, causing megaloblastic anemia and neuropathy.<sup>[25,26]</sup> In contrast, there was no significant difference in vitamin B12 levels before and after LSG in our study.

Iron deficiency is a significant concern following bariatric surgery due to reduced gastric acid secretion and alterations in the absorption sites within the intestines.<sup>[27]</sup> Patients often require iron supplementation and dietary modifications to manage this deficiency.<sup>[15]</sup> Several studies have shown that the prevalence of this anemia can be up to 17% after surgery.<sup>[28]</sup> Iron deficiency occurs in 33 to 49% of patients within two years post-bariatric surgery. <sup>[29]</sup> Symptoms include microcytic anemia, fatigue, and lethargy. In our study, no decrease in serum ferritin was observed at one year, which can be attributed to differences in the follow-up period of patients, as well as the administered multivitamin supplement.

121

Previous studies have also shown an increased risk of vitamin A deficiency following bariatric surgery.<sup>[30]</sup> Vitamin A, a fat-soluble vitamin, requires adequate dietary fat for absorption, which may be compromised due to reduced dietary intake and malabsorption post-surgery.<sup>[31]</sup> In our study, no decrease in serum vitamin A was observed at one year.

Nonetheless, there are some limitations to this study. First, the single-center, retrospective design potentially leads to analytic bias. Second, we could only evaluate short-term results. Further large-scale, long-term, prospective studies are warranted to evaluate the long-term effects of LSG on micronutrient status and the efficacy of different supplementation regimens.

### Conclusion

In conclusion, nutritional deficiencies are a significant concern both before and after bariatric surgery. The results of the present study showed that laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy is one of the most effective surgical methods that does not cause long-term nutrient and vitamin deficiencies.

Effective management of nutritional deficiencies, which imposes exorbitant costs on patients, involves a multidisciplinary approach, including preoperative screening and postoperative monitoring. Nutritional counseling, regular blood tests, and appropriate supplementation are critical to addressing and preventing deficiencies. Customized dietary plans and patient education are essential for ensuring adequate nutrient intake and addressing potential absorption issues.

# Disclosures

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the Istanbul Yeniyuzyil University Ethics Committee (15.10.2024 - 2024/10-1332).

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

Authorship Contributions: Concept – N.O., E.H.; Design – N.O., E.H.; Supervision – N.O., E.H.; Materials – N.O., E.H.; Data collection and/or processing – N.O., E.H.; Analysis and/ or interpretation – N.O., E.H.; Literature search – N.O., E.H.; Writing – N.O., E.H.; Critical Review – N.O., E.H.

# References

- Buchwald H, Avidor Y, Braunwald E. Bariatric surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2004;292(14):1724–37.
- Brethauer SA, Rogula T, Schauer PR. Nutritional deficiencies after bariatric surgery. Gastroenterol Hepatol NY 2015;11(6):400-9.
- Kumar N, Mahajan A, Khan MA. Micronutrient deficiencies in obesity and weight loss surgery. J Obes Weight Loss Ther 2017;7(2):1–8.
- Leiva B, Rivas R, Lillo C. Postoperative micronutrient deficiencies in patients undergoing sleeve gastrectomy: A review. Obes Surg 2018;28(10):3300-7.
- Rashnoo F, Seifinezhad A, Zefreh H, Sheikhbahaei E, Irajpour AH. The effect of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy on serum levels of vitamin A, D and B12 and iron profile in patients with morbid obesity. Adv Biomed Res 2023;12:211.
- Mulita F, Lampropoulos C, Kehagias D, Verras GI, Tchabashvili L, Kaplanis C, et al. Long-term nutritional deficiencies following sleeve gastrectomy: A 6-year single-centre retrospective study. Prz Menopauzalny 2021;20(4):170–6.
- Lespessailles E, Toumi H. Vitamin D alteration associated with obesity and bariatric surgery. Exp Biol Med Maywood 2017;242(10):1086–94.
- Eisenberg D, Shikora SA, Aarts E, Aminian A, Angrisani L, Cohen RV, et al. 2022 American Society for Metabolic and Bariatric Surgery (ASMBS) and International Federation for the Surgery of Obesity and Metabolic Disorders (IFSO): Indications for metabolic and bariatric surgery. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2022;18(12):1345–56.
- 9. World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight. Accessed Oct 15, 2024.
- 10. Hng KN, Ang YS. Overview of bariatric surgery for the physician. Clin Med Lond 2012;12(5):435–40.
- 11. Al-Mulhim AS. Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy and nutrient deficiencies: A prospective study. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2016;26(3):208–11.
- 12. Karmali S, Johnson SC, Sharma A, Stadnyk J, Christiansen S, Cottreau D, et al. Bariatric surgery: A primer. Can Fam Physician 2010;56(9):873–9.
- Qadhi AH, Almuqati AH, Alamro NS, Azhri AS, Azzeh FS, Azhar WF. The effect of bariatric surgery on dietary behavior, dietary recommendation adherence, and micronutrient deficiencies one year after surgery. Prev Med Rep 2023;35:102343.
- 14. Broussard B, Rosenfeld W. Nutritional deficiencies in gastric

sleeve patients. Nutr Rev 2018;76(6):379-93.

- Maggard MA, Shugarman LR. Meta-analysis: Vitamin and mineral deficiencies after gastric bypass surgery. Ann Intern Med 2005;142(9):681–9.
- Moizé V, Deulofeu R, Torres F, de Osaba JM, Vidal J. Nutritional intake and prevalence of nutritional deficiencies prior to surgery in a Spanish morbidly obese population. Obes Surg 2011;21(9):1382–8.
- Gebler L, Charuvastra M, Silver D. Nutritional deficiencies associated with obesity. J Obes Weight Loss Ther 2015;5(252):2.
- Brouwer IA, van Dijk AE. Effects of bariatric surgery on vitamin D status. Clin Nutr 2009;28(2):158–63.
- 19. Kovacs CS, Fuleihan GE. Vitamin D in bone health: Update. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013;98(7):2630-8.
- 20. Kull M Jr, Kallikorm R, Tamm A, Lember M. Seasonal variance of 25-(OH) vitamin D in the general population of Estonia, a Northern European country. BMC Public Health 2009;9:22.
- 21. Kaufman HS, Freeman R. Calcium deficiency and osteoporosis after bariatric surgery. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 2011;18(1):38-44.
- Tseng YH, Hsu HH. Bone health and calcium deficiency following bariatric surgery. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25(12):2741– 53.
- 23. Schauer PR, Bhatt DL. Vitamin B12 deficiency following Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery: Prevalence and prevention. Obes Surg 2014;24(1):43–7.
- Jorgensen NB, Madsbad S. Management of vitamin B12 deficiency after bariatric surgery. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2013;9(5):697–704.
- 25. Kwon Y, Ha J, Lee YH, Kim D, Lee CM, Kim JH, et al. Comparative risk of anemia and related micronutrient deficiencies after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy in patients with obesity: An updated meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Obes Rev 2022;23(4):e13419.
- 26. Bal BS, Finelli FC, Shope TR, Koch TR. Nutritional deficiencies after bariatric surgery. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2012;8(9):544–56.
- 27. Morris DL, Munro D. Iron deficiency after bariatric surgery: Management strategies. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 2012;41(1):129–46.
- Tussing-Humphreys L, Pustacioglu C, Nemeth E, Braunschweig C. Rethinking iron regulation and assessment in iron deficiency, anemia of chronic disease, and obesity: Introducing hepcidin. J Acad Nutr Diet 2012;112:391–400.
- 29. Lupoli R, Lembo E, Saldalamacchia G, Avola CK, Angrisani L, Capaldo B. Bariatric surgery and long-term nutritional issues. World J Diabetes 2017;8(11):464–74.
- Gomis R, De R. Vitamin A deficiency in obese patients undergoing bariatric surgery: A review. Obes Surg 2014;24(1):29– 36.
- Al-Qahtani AR, Mulla S. Impact of bariatric surgery on vitamin A levels: A systematic review. J Obes Metab Syndr 2016;25(2):45-52.

# Contributions and outcomes of terminal ileum intubation in a surgical endoscopy unit: Retrospective cohort study

Burak Dinçer,<sup>1</sup> Sinan Ömeroğlu<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Surgical Oncology, Ankara Oncology Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of General Surgery, Sisli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye

# ABSTRACT

**Introduction:** The necessity of routine terminal ileum intubation during colonoscopy is controversial, with literature suggesting it has a low impact on clinical outcomes. Our study aimed to evaluate the effect of terminal ileum intubation on the clinical approach in a surgical endoscopy unit.

**Materials and Methods:** This retrospective study included 137 patients over the age of 18 who underwent colonoscopy with successful terminal ileum intubation in 2023. The patients were evaluated based on their demographic, clinical, endoscopic, and pathological data.

**Results:** The median age was 55 years (range 18–86), and 77 (56.2%) of the 137 patients included in the study were female. A total of 5 (3.5%) patients had a pathological appearance in the terminal ileum mucosa, necessitating an ileal biopsy. Of these 5 patients, 3 (2.2%) were referred for colonoscopy due to diarrhea, 1 (0.7%) due to abdominal pain, and 1 (0.7%) due to radiological findings. All biopsies resulted in a diagnosis of non-specific ileitis.

**Conclusion:** In surgical endoscopy units, terminal ileum intubation has minimal impact on the clinical approach and can be applied selectively based on the indication.

Keywords: Colonoscopy, Diarrhea, Terminal Ileum Intubation

# Introduction

Colonoscopy is an endoscopic method that allows for the examination of the colon and rectal mucosa under direct visualization. This method enables the visual inspection of the colon, as well as obtaining tissue diagnoses through biopsies from pathological areas. Colonoscopy, regarded as the gold standard for colorectal cancer screening, allows for the detection of premalignant lesions, such as adenomatous polyps, and facilitates their treatment through endoscopic methods, such as polypectomy.<sup>[1]</sup>

For a colonoscopy to be considered complete, it is necessary to reach the cecal base and examine the entire colon, including the cecum. However, the necessity of routine terminal ileum intubation remains controversial in the literature.<sup>[2-5]</sup> Although terminal ileum intubation is considered evidence of reaching the cecum when the landmarks of the cecal floor cannot be clearly evaluated, some publications state that its diagnostic contribution is low. <sup>[2,6]</sup> However, it is also noted that evaluating and biopsying the terminal ileum can aid in diagnosing inflammatory





bowel diseases (IBD) in patients with chronic diarrhea, radiologic findings of terminal ileum pathology, or right lower quadrant pain.<sup>[2,5]</sup>

Our study aimed to assess the outcomes of patients who underwent terminal ileum intubation during colonoscopy in the surgical endoscopy unit.

# **Materials and Methods**

In our study, we examined 236 patients over the age of 18 who underwent colonoscopy in 2023 and included 137 patients who underwent terminal ileum intubation. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Institutional Review Board (Approval Date: 30.04.2024, Protocol Number: 2627).

We retrospectively examined colonoscopies performed by a single endoscopist on patients over the age of 18 for any indication in 2023. Out of 236 colonoscopies, 137 patients who underwent terminal ileum intubation were included in the study. Patients who did not undergo terminal ileum intubation or had missing data were excluded. The patients were then evaluated based on their demographic, clinical, endoscopic, and pathological data.

#### **Colonoscopy Technique**

In our center, colonoscopy procedures are conducted under deep sedation with the supervision of an anesthesiologist as per standard protocol. Patients are initially positioned in the left lateral decubitus position following monitoring and intravenous line establishment, and sedation is administered using propofol. In selected cases, colonoscopy without sedation may be offered to high-risk patients with comorbidities or those who prefer it.

We utilize Fujifilm® EC-760R colonoscopes in our endoscopy unit, with routine examinations performed under white light or Linked Color Imaging (LCI)®. Additionally, for enhanced mucosal pathology and polyp detection, virtual chromoendoscopy is available using Blue Light Imaging (BLI)®.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) version 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Categorical data were expressed as numbers and percentages, while continuous data were expressed as mean±standard deviation or median and range, depending on the normality of their distribution. The normality of continuous data was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Chi-square tests (Pearson chi-square, Fisher's exact test, etc.) were used to compare categorical data. All p-values were two-sided, and results were evaluated at a significance level of p<0.05 with a 95% confidence interval.

# **Results**

A total of 137 patients, out of 236 colonoscopies performed, were included in the study, yielding a terminal ileum intubation rate of 58%. The median age of all patients was 55 years (range 18–86), with 77 (56.2%) being female. Among them, 76 (55.4%) were aged between 50 and 69 years. Regarding indications for colonoscopy, 59 (43.1%) patients underwent screening, 37 (27%) presented with abdominal pain and constipation, 30 (21.9%) had diarrhea, 6 (4.4%) reported a history of gastrointestinal bleeding, and 5 (3.6%) had colonoscopy due to radiological findings (Table 1).

When evaluating colonoscopy-related parameters, the median Boston Bowel Preparation Score was 8 (IQR 7–9). The adenoma detection rate was 29.2% among the 137 colonoscopies reviewed. Malignancy was identified in a total of 2 (1.4%) patients. Terminal ileum mucosa was as-

Table 1. Demographic and clinicalparticipants	features of the
Variables	All patients (n=137)
Age (Years, Median, Range) Age Groups (n, %)	55 (18-86)
18-49	44 (32.1)
50-69	76 (55.4)
≥70	17 (12.5)
Sex (n, %)	
Female	77 (56.2)
Male	60 (43.8)
Colonoscopy Indication (n, %)	
Screening	59 (43.1)
Abdominal Pain/Constipation	37 (27)
Diarrhea	30 (21.9)
GI Bleeding History	6 (4.4)
Radiologic Findings	5 (3.6)

FOBT: Fecal occult blood test; GI: Gastrointestinal.

Table 2. Co	lonoscopy-re	lated	parameters
-------------	--------------	-------	------------

Variables	All patients (n=137)
BBPS (Median, IQR)	8 (7-9)
Appearance of Terminal Ileum (n, %)	
Normal	132 (96.5)
Mucosal Nodularity	1 (0.7)
Erosions	2 (1.4)
Ulcerations	2 (1.4)
Polyp	0 (0)
Biopsy from Terminal Ileum (n, %)	
No	132 (96.5)
Yes	5 (3.5)
Adenoma Detection (n, %)	
No	97 (70.8)
Yes	40 (29.2)
Malignancy Detection (n, %)	
No	135 (98.6)
Yes	2 (1.4)

BBPS: Boston bowel preparation score; IQR: Interquartile range.

sessed as normal in 132 (96.5%) patients, while mucosal pathology necessitating biopsy was observed in 5 (3.5%) patients. Among these, mucosal erosion was noted in 2 (1.4%) patients, ulceration in 2 (1.4%) patients, and nodularity in 1 (0.7%) patient (Table 2).

The detection rates of abnormal terminal ileum findings according to colonoscopy indications were found to be statistically significant (p=0.028). Among the patients with abnormal terminal ileum findings, 3 (2.2%) were referred for colonoscopy due to diarrhea, 1 (0.7%) due

to radiological findings, and 1 (0.7%) due to abdominal pain (Table 3). In our study, none of the patients who underwent endoscopy were diagnosed with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), and the pathology results were consistent with non-specific ileitis.

# **Discussion**

The role and necessity of terminal ileum intubation in routine colonoscopy remain controversial, yet it is believed to offer advantages such as confirming the completion of colonoscopy and identifying potential ileal pathologies.<sup>[2-5]</sup> However, across various series in the literature, the clinical contribution of terminal ileum intubation is reported to be relatively low.<sup>[2-4]</sup> In our study, among the patients undergoing terminal ileum intubation in the surgical endoscopy unit, macroscopic abnormalities in the ileum were identified in only 5 (3.5%) out of 137 patients. This observation may be attributed to the tendency of patients seeking care at the surgical endoscopy unit to present more with surgical pathologies, whereas internal pathologies such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and terminal ileitis are less prevalent among this cohort.

The literature suggests that terminal ileum intubation may offer benefits in cases of diarrhea, iron deficiency anemia, and right lower quadrant pain, with higher rates of detecting pathology in the terminal ileum among these patients. <sup>[4,7]</sup> In another study where terminal ileum intubation was conducted and biopsies were taken upon detecting pathological appearance, it was noted that biopsies, apart from those taken under suspicion of IBD, typically yielded nonspecific results. Therefore, the decision to perform a biopsy should be individualized for each patient.<sup>[8]</sup>

Table 3. Abnormal macroscopic ileal finding rates according to indications									
Variables	All patients (n=137)	Normal Terminal Ileum	Abnormal Terminal Ileum	р					
Colonoscopy Indication (n, %)									
Screening	59 (43.1)	59 (43.1)	0 (0)	0.028ª					
Abdominal Pain/Constipation	37 (27)	36 (26.2)	1 (0.7)						
Diarrhea	30 (21.9)	27 (19.7)	3 (2.2)						
GI Bleeding History	6 (4.4)	6 (4.4)	0 (0)						
Radiologic Findings	5 (3.6)	4 (2.9)	1 (0.7)						
<sup>a</sup> Fisher's exact test; GI: Gastrointestinal.									

In our study, among the 5 patients who underwent biopsies due to abnormal mucosal appearance in the terminal ileum, referrals to colonoscopy were made due to symptoms such as diarrhea, abdominal pain, and radiological findings. The biopsies resulted in non-specific ileitis.

The limitations of our study include its retrospective nature, the focus on cases conducted by a single surgeon, and the relatively small sample size. However, given the scarcity of studies on terminal ileum intubation in surgical endoscopy units, we believe that our findings will provide valuable contributions to the existing literature in this area.

# Conclusion

Routine terminal ileum intubation and biopsy in surgical endoscopy units are unlikely to significantly alter the clinical approach and may be selectively applied in patients presenting with symptoms such as diarrhea, radiological evidence of terminal ileum pathologies, or right lower quadrant pain. However, in situations where cecal landmarks are not clearly visualized, terminal ileum intubation may be performed to confirm completion of the colonoscopy.

# Disclosures

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Institutional Review Board (Approval Date: 30.04.2024, Protocol Number: 2627).

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

Authorship Contributions: Concept – B.D., S.Ö.; Design – B.D., S.Ö.; Supervision – S.Ö.; Materials – B.D., S.Ö.; Data collection and/or processing – B.D.; Analysis and/ or interpretation – B.D.; Literature search – B.D., S.Ö.; Writing – B.D.; Critical review – B.D., S.Ö.

### References

- 1. Shine R, Bui A, Burgess A. Quality indicators in colonoscopy: An evolving paradigm. ANZ J Surg 2020;90(3):215–21.
- Neilson LJ, Bevan R, Panter S, Thomas-Gibson S, Rees CJ. Terminal ileal intubation and biopsy in routine colonoscopy practice. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015;9(5):567– 74.
- Leiman DA, Jawitz NG, Lin L, Wood RK, Gellad ZF. Terminal ileum intubation is not associated with colonoscopy quality measures. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020;35(9):1503–8.
- Kundrotas LW, Clement DJ, Kubik CM, Robinson AB, Wolfe PA. A prospective evaluation of successful terminal ileum intubation during routine colonoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc 1994;40(5):544-6.
- Meral M, Bengi G, Kayahan H, Akarsu M, Soytürk M, Topalak Ö, et al. Is ileocecal valve intubation essential for routine colonoscopic examination? Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018;30(4):432–7.
- Powell N, Knight H, Dunn J, Saxena V, Mawdsley J, Murray C, et al. Images of the terminal ileum are more convincing than cecal images for verifying the extent of colonoscopy. Endoscopy. 2011;43(3):196–201.
- Jeong SH, Lee KJ, Kim YB, Kwon HC, Sin SJ, Chung JY. Diagnostic value of terminal ileum intubation during colonoscopy. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008;23(1):51–5.
- Velidedeoğlu M, Enes Arıkan A, Kağan Zengin A. Diagnostic value of terminal ileum biopsies in patients with abnormal terminal ileum mucosal appearance. Ulus Cerrahi Derg 2015;31(3):152–6.



# Midterm outcomes of one anastomosis gastric bypass versus Roux-en-y gastric bypass: Single center experience

Servet Karagül,<sup>1</sup> Serdar Şenol,<sup>1</sup> Oktay Karaköse,<sup>2</sup> Hüseyin Eken<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Gastroenterological Surgery, Samsun Training and Research Hospital, Samsun, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of Surgical Oncology, Samsun Training and Research Hospital, Samsun, Türkiye <sup>3</sup>Private Clinic of General Surgery, Izmir, Türkiye

# ABSTRACT

**Introduction**: One anastomosis gastric bypass (OAGB) and Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) are successful surgical treatment options for morbid obesity. In this study, we aimed to share our results by comparing these two bypass techniques in a retrospective analysis.

**Materials and Methods:** A retrospective study was conducted at a single center at Samsun Training and Research Hospital. The outcomes of two groups, laparoscopic OAGB and laparoscopic RYGB, were compared. Patients with a BMI over 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and patients with a BMI over 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> with obesity-related comorbidities were included. Patient demographics, obesity-related comorbidities, medications, postoperative outcomes, percentage excess weight loss (%EWL), percentage total weight loss (%TWL), and postoperative BMI were recorded retrospectively.

**Results:** A total of 64 patients were retrospectively analyzed. Fifty-one of the patients were female, and thirteen were male. There were 21 patients in the OAGB group and 43 patients in the RYGB group. The mean follow-up period was 42.86±3.54 months in the OAGB group and 52.21±11.58 months in the RYGB group (p<0.05).

The mean %TWL was  $35.43\pm5.26$  in the OAGB group and  $34.70\pm11.31$  in the RYGB group (p>0.05). The mean %EWL was  $83.02\pm18.95$  and  $76.08\pm22.84$ , respectively (p>0.05). The mean BMI was  $29.62\pm5.42$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> in the OAGB group and  $30.14\pm5.05$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> in the RYGB group (p>0.05).

There was no significant difference in the improvement of obesity-related comorbidities. However, de novo reflux was significantly higher in OAGB patients.

**Conclusion:** OAGB and RYGB are both effective procedures for treating morbid obesity. Both procedures provide similar improvements in obesity-related diseases, although de novo reflux appears to be more common in OAGB patients.

Keywords: Morbid obesity, one anastomosis gastric bypass, Roux-n-Y gastric bypass





#### Introduction

Obesity has become one of the most serious public health challenges of our time. It is known to be a cause of certain cancers and is associated with numerous other problems, such as type 2 diabetes, hypertension, sleep apnea, and coronary heart disease.<sup>[1-6]</sup> In 2016, more than 1.9 billion adults aged 18 years and older were overweight, and more than 650 million adults were obese. The global prevalence of obesity nearly tripled between 1975 and 2016.<sup>[7]</sup> Unfortunately, the food industry, lifestyle changes, and environmental conditions negatively impact people, causing them to gain excess weight.<sup>[8-15]</sup>

Diet and physical activity are typically the starting points in treating obesity. However, the rate of permanent weight loss in morbidly obese patients using these treatment options is very low because patients struggle to adhere to diet and exercise programs for extended periods. There are currently no medical treatments with long-term success. Today, the most effective treatment for morbid obesity is surgery. One anastomosis gastric bypass (OAGB) and Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) are successful surgical options for the treatment of morbid obesity.<sup>[16-27]</sup>

Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) has been used safely in bariatric surgery for many years with successful longterm outcomes. One anastomosis gastric bypass (OAGB) is a restrictive and malabsorptive procedure like RYGB, first reported by Rutledge in 2001.<sup>[23]</sup> Since no enteroenterostomy is performed, the procedure is completed with a single anastomosis between the stomach and small intestine. The absence of a second anastomosis was expected to reduce morbidity by preventing surgical complications, such as internal herniation, anastomotic leakage, and bleeding. Both procedures are effective in treating obesity-related conditions. This study aimed to share our results by comparing these two bypass techniques in a retrospective analysis.

# **Materials and Methods**

This retrospective study was conducted between January 2016 and December 2020 at a single center, Samsun Training and Research Hospital. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee at the Ethics Committee of Samsun University Hospital (no GOKAEK 2024/5/11). The outcomes of two groups, laparoscopic OAGB and laparoscopic RYGB, were compared. Patients with a body mass index (BMI) over 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and those with a BMI over 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> with obesity-related comorbidities were included. Morbidly

obese patients aged 18 to 65 years were eligible for the study. Patients who underwent a revision of any gastric bypass procedures, were lost to follow-up, or could not be contacted to obtain current data were excluded from the study.

All patients underwent preoperative endoscopy. RYGB was preferred by surgeons for patients with gastroesophageal reflux, hiatal hernia, or esophagitis. After surgery, patients were given a clear liquid diet. They remained on a liquid diet for two weeks, followed by pureed food for four weeks. After this period, patients were gradually reintroduced to a normal diet, provided they chewed thoroughly. Multivitamins were given postoperatively, and physical activity was planned by a sports specialist. To prevent muscle atrophy, patients began aerobic exercise two weeks after surgery and resistance exercise two months later.

Demographic characteristics, including age, sex, and BMI, were recorded. Obesity-related comorbidities and medications were recorded retrospectively. Patients were called in for clinic assessment. Type 2 diabetes remission was defined as HbA1c below 6% and normal fasting glucose without medication. Sleep apnea remission was defined as no longer needing continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP), and asthma and hypertension remission was defined as no longer requiring drug therapy. Updated information was obtained by telephone for patients unable to attend follow-up appointments.

## **Statistical Methods**

Scaled values were described using means and standard deviations, while nominal and ordinal parameters were described using frequency analysis. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to assess the normality of the scaled parameters. The independent samples t-test was used to compare normally distributed values, while the Mann-Whitney U test was used for non-normally distributed parameters. Fisher's exact test was used to compare categorical variables. A 95% confidence interval and a significance level of 0.05 were used. SPSS 25.0 for Windows was employed to assess the research parameters.

#### **Surgical Techniques**

In RYGB, a gastric pouch was created using an endoscopic stapler with a volume of 30–40 ml. A 35 mm antecolic anastomosis was performed between the bowel loop, 50 cm from the ligament of Treitz, and the newly created gas-

tric pouch using a linear stapler. The biliopancreatic limb was transected just proximal to the gastroenterostomy and anastomosed to 150 cm of the alimentary limb. The stapler orifice was closed with polypropylene running sutures, and the mesenteric defect was closed with non-absorbable sutures.

In OAGB, dissection was performed along the lesser curvature below the crow's foot to enter the lesser sac. The gastric pouch was created using endoscopic staplers guided by a 36F gastric calibration tube. An anastomosis was created between the jejunum, 200 cm from the ligament of Treitz, and the new gastric pouch. The stapler orifices were closed with polypropylene running sutures.

# **Results**

A total of 64 patients were analyzed retrospectively. Fiftyone of the patients were women, and thirteen were men. There were 21 patients in the OAGB group and 43 in the RYGB group. No significant differences were observed between the groups in terms of age, gender, or BMI. The groups were similar in terms of obesity-related diseases (Table 1).

The mean follow-up was 42.86±3.54 months in the OAGB group and 52.21±11.58 months in the RYGB group, showing a significant difference. The mean percentage total weight loss (%TWL) was 35.43±5.26 in the OAGB group and 34.70±11.31 in the RYGB group, with no significant difference between the groups. The mean percentage excess weight loss (%EWL) was 83.02±18.95 and 76.08±22.84, respectively, and was similar between the groups. At the end of follow-up, the mean BMI was 29.62±5.42 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in the OAGB group and 30.14±5.05 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in the RYGB group, with no significant difference. There was also no difference in the improvement of obesity-related comorbidities, such as asthma, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and obstructive sleep apnea, between the groups. Postoperatively, B12 deficiency, vitamin D deficiency, and iron deficiency were observed at similar rates in both groups. However, de novo reflux was significantly higher in OAGB patients (Table 2).

# **Discussion**

Although many treatment options exist for obesity, surgery remains the most effective. Currently, there is ongoing research into endoscopic procedures and medical treatments. While these options have not yet shown consistent success, they may supplement surgical treatment in the future. OAGB and RYGB are two well-established surgical options with high success rates. RYGB has been safely performed for decades and is one of the most widely accepted procedures worldwide. Although OAGB is a newer procedure, it is considered a successful and safe method with long-term results.

In our study, RYGB patients had a longer follow-up period (42.86±3.54 months in the OAGB group and 52.21±11.58 months in the RYGB group). This difference is attributed to

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the patients							
	OAGB (n=21)	RYGB (n=43)	р				
Gender, n (%)			0.313ª				
Female	18 (85.7)	33 (76.7)					
Male	3 (14.3)	10 (23.3)					
Age, mean±SD	42.43±12.08	42.56±12.18	0.968 <sup>b</sup>				
BMI, mean±SD	45.95±8.09	46.57±5.84	0.587°				
Type 2 DM preop, n (%)	13 (61.9)	17 (39.5)	0.078ª				
Oral antidiabetic drug, n (%)	13 (61.9)	17 (39.5)	0.078ª				
İnsulin, n (%)	4 (19.0)	5 (11.6)	0.329ª				
HT preop, n (%)	9 (42.9)	12 (27.9)	0.180ª				
Asthma, n (%)	3 (14.3)	5 (11.6)	0.525ª				
Sleep apnea, n (%)	3 (14.3)	3 (7.0)	0.303ª				
Dispnea, n (%)	7 (33.3)	10 (23.3)	0.286ª				

<sup>a</sup>Fisher's Exact Test; <sup>b</sup>Independent Samples t-test; <sup>o</sup>Mann Whitney U Test; SD: Standard Deviation; OAGB: One anastomosis gastric bypass; RYGB: Roux-en-Y gastric bypass; BMI: Body mass index; DM: Diabetes mellitus; HT: Hypertension.

Table 2. Postoperative outcomes of the groups								
	OAGB (n=21)	RYGB (n=43)	р					
%EWL mean±SD	83.02±18.95	76.08±22.84	0.233ª					
%TWL mean±SD	35.43±5.26	34.70±11.31	0.723ª					
BMI (kg/m²) mean±SD	29.62±5.42	30.14±5.05	0.704ª					
Type 2 DM postop, n (%)	1 (4.8)	3 (7.0)	0.602ª					
Oral antidiabetic drug, n (%)	1 (4.8)	3 (7.0)	0.602ª					
İnsulin, n (%)	-	1 (2.3)	0.672ª					
HT postop, n (%)	3 (14.3)	4 (9.3)	0.417ª					
Denovo reflux, n (%)	4 (19.0)	-	0.009ª					
B12 deficiency, n (%)	6 (28.6)	10 (23.3)	0.432ª					
D Vit deficiency, n (%)	6 (28.6)	5 (11.6)	0.093ª					
Fe deficiency, n (%)	6 (28.6)	13 (30.2)	0.567ª					
Dumping, n (%)	1 (4.8)	4 (9.3)	0.466ª					
Follow up (month) mean±SD	42.86±3.54	52.21±11.58	0.000 <sup>b</sup>					

<sup>a</sup>Independent Samples t-test; <sup>b</sup>Mann Whitney U Test; SD: Standard Deviation; OAGB: One anastomosis gastric bypass; RYGB: Roux-en-Y gastric bypass; EWL: Excess weight loss; TWL: Total weight loss; BMI: Body mass index; DM: Diabetes mellitus; HT:Hypertension.

the fact that RYGB was adopted earlier in our clinic, while OAGB was introduced later. Initially, concerns about the single anastomosis in OAGB causing complications, such as contamination of small intestinal contents into the stomach, made RYGB the preferred surgical option. Consequently, RYGB procedures outnumber OAGB by nearly two to one. Despite initial concerns among many surgeons about the risk of gastric and esophageal cancer<sup>[28]</sup>, the shorter operation time and lower complication rate have gradually increased the popularity of OAGB.<sup>[28,29]</sup>

When comparing OAGB and RYGB in terms of weight loss, no significant differences were observed between the groups. The mean BMI decreased to 29.62±5.42 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in the OAGB group and 30.14±5.05 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in the RYGB group (p=0.704). Additionally, the %EWL and %TWL were similar between groups. We presented mid-term results from a single center, and although some studies have suggested that OAGB leads to more effective weight loss in the short term, long-term outcomes indicate that both operations have similar effects on weight loss.<sup>[30]</sup> However, it should be noted that a significant portion of these studies are not randomized, and few randomized trials have a follow-up period exceeding five years.<sup>[26,27,31:34]</sup>

According to the five-year data from the YOMEGA trial published by Robert et al.<sup>[30]</sup>, OAGB was not inferior to RYGB in terms of percentage excess BMI loss at five years,

with similar metabolic outcomes. However, they found that the most common adverse event in the OAGB group was clinical gastroesophageal reflux disease, and 8% of patients were converted from OAGB to RYGB. Initially, concerns about bile reflux in OAGB were tied to its resemblance to Billroth II surgery. However, due to the narrow and long gastric pouch and the narrow gastroenterostomy anastomosis, the adverse effects were less than expected. Additionally, the long biliary limb and the metabolic differentiation of bile in the intestine may reduce the impact of bile reflux. In our study, postoperative reflux was the most significant comorbidity in OAGB patients, but it was managed effectively with medical treatment.

Both gastric bypass procedures cause anatomical changes in the gastrointestinal system, reducing stomach volume and gastric acid secretion, which hampers proper food digestion. The postoperative liquid and pureed diets also affect vitamin intake. We observed vitamin D, B12, and iron deficiencies in our patients, with no significant difference between groups. OAGB and RYGB are both malabsorptive procedures requiring careful attention to potential nutritional deficiencies. Overlooking these deficiencies can lead to serious problems, including protein malnutrition and negative effects on bone metabolism.<sup>[35-37]</sup> We recommend lifelong follow-up to monitor vitamin levels and provide necessary supplements. One limitation of our study is that it was retrospective. There is a lack of literature on this topic, largely due to the small number of prospective studies and the short followup periods of existing studies. Additionally, the method for measuring small bowel length, which provides valuable information for standardizing groups, was not recorded in this study. Another limitation is the absence of preoperative nutritional assessments, which hinders a comprehensive evaluation of postoperative outcomes.

# Conclusion

Both OAGB and RYGB are effective procedures for treating morbid obesity, providing similar improvements in obesity-related diseases. Large, randomized trials with longterm follow-up are needed to evaluate these operations in terms of nutritional outcomes and complications.

#### Disclosures

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This prospective anatomical and clinical study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Ethics Committee of Samsun University Research and Training Hospital (Approval Number: 2024/5/11) and was conducted in the Department of Surgery at Samsun Training and Research Hospital Research and Training Hospital.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

Authorship Contributions: Concept – S.K.; Design – S.K., S.S., O.K., H.E.; Supervision – S.K.; Materials – S.S.S.K.O.K.; Data collection and processing – S.K., S.S.; Analysis and interpretation – O.K., H.E.; Literature search – S.K., S.S.; Writing – S.K.; Critical review – S.K., S.S., O.K., H.E.

# References

- Li H, Boakye D, Chen X, Hoffmeister M, Brenner H. Association of body mass index with risk of early-onset colorectal cancer: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol 2021;116(11):2173–83.
- Ma Q, Shambhu S, Arterburn DE, McTigue KM, Haynes K. Interventions and operations after bariatric surgery in a health plan research network cohort from the PCORnet, the national patient-centered clinical research network. Obes Surg 2021;31(8):3531-40.
- Esposito K, Chiodini P, Colao A, Lenzi A, Giugliano D. Metabolic syndrome and risk of cancer: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Diabetes Care 2012;35(11):2402–11.
- 4. Miras AD, Kamocka A, Patel D, Dexter S, Finlay I, Hopkins JC, et al. Obesity surgery makes patients healthier and more

functional: Real world results from the United Kingdom National Bariatric Surgery Registry. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2018;14(7):1033-40.

- 5. Schauer DP, Feigelson HS, Koebnick C, Caan B, Weinmann S, Leonard AC, et al. Bariatric surgery and the risk of cancer in a large multisite cohort. Ann Surg 2019;269(1):95–101.
- Lauby-Secretan B, Scoccianti C, Loomis D, Grosse Y, Bianchini F, Straif K; International Agency for Research on Cancer Handbook Working Group. Body fatness and cancer-viewpoint of the IARC working group. N Engl J Med 2016;375(8):794-8.
- World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight. Accessed May 23, 2023.
- Monteiro CA, Moubarac JC, Cannon G, Ng SW, Popkin B. Ultra-processed products are becoming dominant in the global food system. Obes Rev 2013;14(Suppl 2):21–8.
- Askari M, Heshmati J, Shahinfar H, Tripathi N, Daneshzad E. Ultra-processed food and the risk of overweight and obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Int J Obes Lond 2020;44(10):2080–91.
- Juul F, Martinez-Steele E, Parekh N, Monteiro CA, Chang VW. Ultra-processed food consumption and excess weight among US adults. Br J Nutr 2018;120(1):90–100.
- Silveira EA, Mendonça CR, Delpino FM, Elias Souza GV, Pereira de Souza Rosa L, de Oliveira C, et al. Sedentary behavior, physical inactivity, abdominal obesity, and obesity in adults and older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Nutr ESPEN 2022;50:63–73.
- Day K, Alfonzo M, Chen Y, Guo Z, Lee KK. Overweight, obesity, and inactivity and urban design in rapidly growing Chinese cities. Health Place 2013;21:29–38.
- Vitiello A, Angrisani L, Santonicola A, Iovino P, Pilone V, Forestieri P. Bariatric surgery versus lifestyle intervention in class I obesity: 7–10-year results of a retrospective study. World J Surg 2019;43(3):758–62.
- Hofsø D, Nordstrand N, Johnson LK, Karlsen TI, Hager H, Jenssen T, et al. Obesity-related cardiovascular risk factors after weight loss: A clinical trial comparing gastric bypass surgery and intensive lifestyle intervention. Eur J Endocrinol 2010;163(5):735–45.
- Anderson JW, Konz EC, Frederich RC, Wood CL. Long-term weight-loss maintenance: A meta-analysis of US studies. Am J Clin Nutr 2001;74(5):579–84.
- Buchwald H, Avidor Y, Braunwald E, Jensen MD, Pories W, Fahrbach K, et al. Bariatric surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2004;292(14):1724–37.
- Edholm D, Svensson F, Näslund I, Karlsson FA, Rask E, Sundbom M. Long-term results 11 years after primary gastric bypass in 384 patients. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2013;9(5):708–13.
- Nguyen NT, Root J, Zainabadi K, Sabio A, Chalifoux S, Stevens CM, et al. Accelerated growth of bariatric surgery with the introduction of minimally invasive surgery. Arch Surg 2005;140(12):1198–202.
- 19. Sharples AJ, Mahawar K. Systematic review and meta-anal-

ysis of randomised controlled trials comparing long-term outcomes of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrec-tomy. Obes Surg 2020;30(2):664–72.

- Himpens J, Verbrugghe A, Cadière GB, Everaerts W, Greve JW. Long-term results of laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass: Evaluation after 9 years. Obes Surg 2012;22(10):1586– 93.
- Shoar S, Saber AA. Long-term and midterm outcomes of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy versus Roux-en-Y gastric bypass: a systematic review and meta-analysis of comparative studies. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2017;13(2):170–80.
- 22. Li JF, Lai DD, Lin ZH, Jiang TY, Zhang AM, Dai JF. Comparison of the long-term results of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy for morbid obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized and nonrandomized trials. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2014;24(1):1–11.
- 23. Rutledge R. The mini-gastric bypass: Experience with the first 1,274 cases. Obes Surg 2001;11(3):276-80.
- Musella M, Susa A, Manno E, De Luca M, Greco F, Raffaelli M, et al. Complications following the mini/one anastomosis gastric bypass (MGB/OAGB): A multi-institutional survey on 2678 patients with a mid-term (5 years) follow-up. Obes Surg 2017;27(11):2956–67.
- 25. Lee WJ, Ser KH, Lee YC, Tsou JJ, Chen SC, Chen JC. Laparoscopic Roux-en-Y vs mini-gastric bypass for the treatment of morbid obesity: A 10-year experience. Obes Surg 2012;22(12):1827–34.
- Singh B, Saikaustubh Y, Singla V, Kumar A, Ahuja V, Gupta Y, et al. One anastomosis gastric bypass (OAGB) vs Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) for remission of T2DM in patients with morbid obesity: A randomized controlled trial. Obes Surg 2023;33(4):1218–27.
- Level L, Rojas A, Piñango S, Avariano Y. One anastomosis gastric bypass vs Roux-en-Y gastric bypass: A 5-year follow-up prospective randomized trial. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2021;406(1):171-9.
- Balamurugan G, Leo SJ, Sivagnanam ST, Balaji Prasad S, Ravindra C, Rengan V, et al. Comparison of efficacy and safety between Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) vs one anastomosis gastric bypass (OAGB) vs single anastomosis duodeno-ileal bypass with sleeve gastrectomy (SADI-S): A systematic review of bariatric and metabolic surgery. Obes Surg 2023;33(7):2194-2209.

- Rheinwalt KP, Plamper A, Rückbeil MV, Kroh A, Neumann UP, Ulmer TF. One anastomosis gastric bypass-mini-gastric bypass (OAGB-MGB) versus Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB): A mid-term cohort study with 612 patients. Obes Surg 2020;30(4):1230-40.
- Robert M, Poghosyan T, Maucort-Boulch D, Filippello A, Caiazzo R, Sterkers A, et al. Efficacy and safety of one anastomosis gastric bypass versus Roux-en-Y gastric bypass at 5 years (YOMEGA): A prospective, open-label, non-inferiority, randomised extension study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2024;12(4):267-76.
- Robert M, Espalieu P, Pelascini E, Caiazzo R, Sterkers A, Khamphommala L, et al. Efficacy and safety of one anastomosis gastric bypass versus Roux-en-Y gastric bypass for obesity (YOMEGA): A multicentre, randomised, open-label, non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2019;393(10178):1299–309.
- Lee WJ, Yu PJ, Wang W, Chen TC, Wei PL, Huang MT. Laparoscopic Roux-en-Y versus mini-gastric bypass for the treatment of morbid obesity: A prospective randomized controlled clinical trial. Ann Surg 2005;242(1):20–8.
- Eskandaros MS, Abbass A, Zaid MH, Darwish AA. Laparoscopic one anastomosis gastric bypass versus laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass effects on pre-existing mildto-moderate gastroesophageal reflux disease in patients with obesity: A randomized controlled study. Obes Surg 2021;31(11):4673-81.
- 34. Katayama RC, Arasaki CH, Herbella FAM, Neto RA, Lopes Filho GJ. One-anastomosis and Roux-en-Y gastric bypass promote similar weight loss, patient satisfaction, quality of life, inflammation grade, and cellular damage in the esophagus and gastric pouch in a short-term follow-up. J Obes Metab Syndr 2021;30(4):396–402.
- 35. Issa M, Salman MA, Salman A, Shaaban HE, Safina A, Elias AA, et al. Nutritional complications after laparoscopic Rouxen-Y gastric bypass and one-anastomosis gastric bypass: A comparative systematic review and meta-analysis. Cureus 2022;14(1)
- Lupoli R, Lembo E, Saldalamacchia G, Avola CK, Angrisani L, Capaldo B. Bariatric surgery and long-term nutritional issues. World J Diabetes 2017;8(11):464–74.
- Ivaska KK, Huovinen V, Soinio M, Hannukainen JC, Saunavaara V, Salminen P, et al. Changes in bone metabolism after bariatric surgery by gastric bypass or sleeve gastrectomy. Bone 2017;95:47–54.

# Comparison of the effects of endoscopic intragastric balloons: A single-center study

Burak Yalçın Kara,<sup>1</sup> Hahya Özel,<sup>2</sup> Süleyman Çağlar Ertekin,<sup>3</sup> Samet Yardımcı<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of General Surgery, Bahcesehir University, Istanbul, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of General Surgery, Dogus University, Istanbul, Türkiye <sup>3</sup>Department of General Surgery, Altinbas University, Izmir, Türkiye <sup>4</sup>Department of General Surgery, Istinye University, Istanbul, Türkiye

# ABSTRACT

**Introduction**: Obesity is a major health care problem and one of the sustained solutions of obesity is bariatric surgery and bariatric endoscopic procedures. An endoscopic intragastric balloon (IGB) is a procedure for achieving weight loss in obese patients. This study evaluated the effects of two types of endoscopic IGBs and compared their outcomes at our center.

**Materials and Methods:** This retrospective analysis included patients who had endoscopic IGBs between 2021–2024 and recorded their demographic data: age, gender, weight, height, and body mass index (BMI). The patients were divided into two groups according to balloon type–adjustable IGB and non-adjustable IGB–to compare their weight loss, excess weight loss percentage (EWL%), and total weight loss percentage (TWL%). We also analyzed initial balloon volume, increase in balloon volume, balloon intolerance, and balloon complications.

**Results:** Among the 93 patients included, 50 had non-adjustable IGBs, and 43 had adjustable IGBs. Their mean age was 34.9±8.8 years, 82.8% were women, and the mean BMI was 32.7±4.2 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Eight patients (8.6%) removed the balloon due to intolerance. The mean weight loss was 9.1±7.6 kg, the mean TWL% was 9.9±7.9, and the mean EWL% was 42.6±66%. IGBs achieved sufficient weight loss (p<0.00), with no significant difference in weight loss, EWL%, or TWL% changes found between the adjustable IGB and the non-adjustable IGB groups. Furthermore, no relationship was observed between balloon type or initial balloon volume in patients with early removal. No major complication was observed.

**Conclusion:** Endoscopic IGBs achieved significant weight loss in patients with obesity, with low complication rates and no significant difference in weight loss between adjustable or non-adjustable IGBs of different volumes.

Keywords: Bariatric Endoscopy, Endoscopic Balloon, Intragastric Balloon, Weight Loss

# Introduction

Obesity is a major health care problem affecting more than 600,000 patients worldwide, according to the World Health Organization. The increase in obesity and obesity-related comorbidities has increased the number of patients presenting at bariatric centers. Bariatric surgeries and bariatric endoscopic interventions are frequently performed to solve these conditions.<sup>[1-6]</sup>





The use of balloons as a bariatric intervention was inspired by the notion of placing objects, such as bezoars, to take up volume in the stomach. The first intragastric balloon (IGB) was produced by Nieben in 1982 after observing the early satiety effect of gastric bezoars in the stomach.<sup>[2,7]</sup> An additional mechanism of weight loss is achieved by delaying gastric emptying time through the closing of the stomach antrum.<sup>[8]</sup> The balloons are classified in many different ways, including endoscopic balloons or swallowable balloons, air-filled balloons or fluid-filled balloons, adjustable balloons, or non-adjustable balloons. The balloons are made to reach the desired volume by filling with 400–700 ml of air, saline with or without methylene blue, as approved by the Food and Drug Administration.<sup>[78]</sup>

IGB has gained popularity due to its minimally invasive, reversible, and nonsurgical nature. It is mostly used for weight loss in the patient population with a body mass index (BMI) between 27–35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Additionally, fear of bariatric surgery complications, such as bleeding, leakage, and venous thrombosis, may cause patients to prefer balloon application. Furthermore, surgeons refer male patients with a BMI over 50 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, high subcutaneous fat tissue thickness, high volume of left side of liver, and thick mesentery, as well as patients with high comorbid diseases, for balloon applications as a bridging treatment before surgery.<sup>[2,4,5,9]</sup>

Many studies have suggested the safety and effectiveness of IGBs. A study from Brazil showed that the mean total weight loss percentage (TWL%) and mean weight loss were 18.4 $\pm$ 2.3% (range 0–52%) and 18.3 $\pm$ 4.4 kg (range 0–87.5), respectively.<sup>[2,10]</sup> Another study suggested that balloons showed the same effectiveness with adolescent populations, with a reduction in BMI of 5.87 $\pm$ 3.4.<sup>[11]</sup>

However, IGBs may cause complications. Balloon intolerance, described by symptoms such as nausea, vomiting, and abdominal pain, was frequently observed. Spontaneous deflation of the balloon and removal of the balloon before the expected time could be considered minor complications. However, in rare cases, serious complications, such as esophageal or stomach perforation, intestinal obstruction or perforation, and gastric bleeding, may occur, and patients need emergent surgical intervention.<sup>[2,7,12]</sup>

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effects of endoscopic IGBs and compare adjustable intragastric balloons (aIGBs) and non-adjustable intragastric balloons (naIGBs) in our center.

## **Materials and Methods**

The study was designed as a retrospective data analysis. Patients who had endoscopic IGBs at our bariatric center between January 2021 and January 2024 were included in the study. Patient demographic data, such as patients' age, gender, pre-balloon weight, height, BMI value, and weight loss, were collected from patient files retrospectively. TWL% and excess weight loss percentage (EWL%) were analyzed statistically. Balloon removal due to patient intolerance, gastric ulcers, or balloon deflations before the expected balloon removal time was recorded. Further, balloon starting volume and increasing balloon volume data were documented and analyzed. Informed consent was not applied due to retrospective study.

# Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

The included patients were those who underwent endoscopic intragastric balloon application with naIGBs and aIGBs. Patients who underwent non-endoscopic intragastric balloon application and those whose data were inaccessible were excluded. A total of 128 patients who underwent intragastric balloon application were accessed from January 2021 to January 2024. Eighteen patients were excluded due to non-endoscopic balloons. Seventeen patients were excluded from the study due to the inaccessibility of their data. Finally, after the exclusion, 93 patients were included in the study: 43 patients who had aIGB for 12 months (Spatz III®), 50 patients who had naIGB for 6 months (MEDSIL®) (Fig. 1).



**Figure 1.** Patient selection data and exclusion process. IGB: Intra-gastric balloon; aIGB: Adjustable IGB; naIGB: Non-adjustable IGB

#### **Balloon Insertion Technique**

Intragastric balloon insertion was performed under sedo-analgesia. Routine esophago-gastro-duodenoscopy was performed to control the inside of the upper gastrointestinal tract for esophageal disease, gastric ulcers, gastric malignancy, or giant hiatal hernia. Balloons were then sent into the stomach, and their volume was increased by saline added methylene blue under direct vision. After all the procedures were completed, a third endoscopy was performed to confirm that there were no complications. The aIGBs remained in the stomach for 12 months, while the naIGBs remained in the stomach for 6 months. After the balloon time expired, they were removed endoscopically under sedo-analgesia.

## **Anti-Emetic Protocol**

Aprepitant was routinely administered to each patient two hours before the endoscopic evaluation. After the balloon was placed, proton pump inhibitors, metoclopramide, ondansetron, hyoscine butylbromide, and paracetamol were applied by parenterally. Only liquid diets were allowed for the first three days. Aprepitant (2 more days, once a day), ondansetron (1 week, twice a day), and metoclopramide (1 week, 3 times a day) were administered to all patients.

# Calculation of TWL% and EWL%

The total weight loss percentage was obtained by dividing the amount of weight loss by the total body weight. To calculate the excess weight loss percentage (EWL%), the ideal weight was calculated by accepting the BMI as 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. The amount of excess weight was determined by subtracting the ideal weight from the starting weight. EWL% was calculated by dividing weight loss by excess weight. The primary outcome of the study was to evaluate the effect of IGB and compare the effects of IGB in our unit.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Mean, standard deviation, median, minimum, maximum, frequency, and ratio values were used in the descriptive statistics of the data. The distribution of variables was measured using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov and Shapiro–Wilk tests. An independent sample t-test was used in the analysis of quantitative independent data with a normal distribution. The Mann–Whitney U test was used in the analysis of quantitative independent data with a non-normal distribution. The Wilcoxon test was used in the analysis of dependent quantitative data, and the chi-square test was used in the analysis of qualitative independent data. Spearman correlation analysis was used in the correlation analysis. The SPSS 27.0 program was used in all analyses.

### Complications

A total of 14 patients (15.1%) had to remove their balloons before the expected expiry date, eight (8.6%) of whom presented with complaints of severe abdominal pain, nausea, and vomiting in the first 10 days; thus, their balloons were removed due to intolerance. In three (3.2%) patients, the balloon had to be removed before its expiry date because of discontinuation of gastric protection medication, which caused gastric ulcers. Spontaneous deflation of the balloon caused early balloon removal in another three (3.2%) patients. Severe complications such as bleeding, gastric, or esophageal perforation, and balloon migration to the intestine were not observed.

# Results

The study included 93 patients with a mean age of  $34.9\pm8.8$  and a mean BMI value of  $32.7\pm4.2$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> and of whom 82.8% were women. Fourteen patients had their balloons removed before the expected time, and eight patients (8.6%) could not tolerate the balloon procedure (5 cases: 10% naIGB, 3 cases: 6.9% aIGB). Thus, for a subgroup analysis, 50 patients (53.8%) were included in the naIGB group, and 43 patients (46.2%) were included in the aIGB group. The mean weight loss in both balloon groups was 9.1\pm7.6 kg. The mean TWL% was 9.9±7.9, and the EWL% was 42.6\pm66%. The mean balloon volume was 449.3±54.1 ml, and 55.8% of the adjustable balloons showed an increased volume. The patients' demographic data are shown in Table 1.

An examination of all patients revealed that they all achieved statistically significant weight loss (p=0.000) (Table 2, Fig. 2).

We divided the patients according to their balloon removal time, yielding two groups: the early balloon removal group and the on-time balloon removal group. A comparison of the groups revealed no significant difference between the two groups in terms of demographic features or BMI values. There was also no relationship between balloon type and balloon volume or balloon removal time (Table 3).

Table 1. Patient demographics				
	Min-Max	Median		Mean±SD
			n	%
Age	17.0-55.0	35.0		34.9±8.8
Gender				
Female			77	82.8
Male			16	17.2
Weight	64.0-140.0	88.0		90.6±15.3
Weight loss	0.0-40.0	9.0		9.1±7.6
Height (m)	1.5-1.9	1.7		1.7±0.1
BMI	23.0-44.1	32.8		32.7±4.2
BMI at the removal time	20.5-44.1	29.5		29.6±4.2
TWL%	0.0-38.1	10.2		9.9±7.9
EWL%	-390.6-242.5	37.3		42.6±66.0
Balloon volume (ml)	350.0-550.0	450.0		449.3±54.1
Last balloon volume (ml)	350.0-720.0	550.0		530.3±82.4
Increase of balloon volume				
(-)			19	44.2
(+)			24	55.8
Early removal of balloon				
(+)			14	15.1
(-)			79	84.9
Balloon type				
nalGB			50	53.8
alGB			43	46.2

Min-Max: minimum-maximum; SD: standard deviation; BMI: body mass index; TWL%: Total weight loss percentage; EWL%: excess weight loss percentage; naIGB: non-adjustable intragastric balloon; aIGB: adjustable intragastric balloon.

Table 2. Comparison of weight loss								
	Pre-balloon weight		Last	р				
	Mean±SD	Median	Mean±SD	Median				
Weight	90.6±15.3	88.0	81.5±14.8	80.0	0.000 <sup>w</sup>			
"Wilcoxon test.								

Based on the type of balloon, patients in the aIGB group had significantly higher BMI and weight than the naIGB group (p<0.05). There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups in the analysis of weight loss, EWL%, and TWL%, as shown in Table 4.

Further comparison of two aIGB patient subgroups—those who had and those who did not have increased balloon—revealed no significant difference in terms of weight loss, EWL%, TWL% or balloon removal time (Table 5).

# Discussion

Obesity has become an epidemic disease, and the number of obese or overweight individuals is increasing daily, with concurrent increases in patients treated at bariatric centers for bariatric surgical operations or bariatric endoscopic procedures. Endoscopic methods for weight loss are frequently preferred by patients because they are reversible and have low complication rates. IGBs are being used in in-



Figure 2. Weight and BMI loss.

creasing numbers due to weight loss, bridging treatments, or fear of complications from bariatric surgeries.<sup>[2,13–17]</sup>

Many studies have suggested that IGBs provide statistically significant weight loss. A systematic review of 26 studies and over than 6000 patients demonstrated a mean weight loss of 15.7±5.3 kg and a mean BMI change of 5.9±1.0 kg/m2 with naIGB. The findings also showed that the EWL% changed by 36.2±6.3%.<sup>[7]</sup> Another study from Brazil consisting of 41863 patients suggested a mean weight loss

of 18.3±4.4 kg and a mean total weight loss percentage of 18.4±2.9%.<sup>[2]</sup> A randomized controlled study related to aIGB indicated that median weight loss was 15 kg (0-34 kg) in 1 year.<sup>[3]</sup> A meta-analysis and review showed that IGBs decrease total body weight loss percentage by 7.6-14.1% at 6 months and 7.5–14% at 12 months.<sup>[1]</sup> Our results are compatible with the literature, as we recorded a mean weight loss of 9. 1±7.6 kg, a mean TWL% of 9.9±7.9%, and a mean EWL% of 42.6±66.0% (Table 1). When the weight loss was compared according to balloon types, no significant difference was observed in terms of TWL%, EWL% or weight loss in both balloon types. Although the BMI and excess weight of patients who underwent aIGB were statistically significantly higher and aIGB was used for longer period of time, our study showed that there was no significant difference in terms of weight loss between aIGB and naIGB. It could be said that naIGB provides same efficiency (in term of weight loss) in a shorter time than aIGB (Table 4).

A systematic review and meta-analysis consisting of 5549 patients suggested that there was no relationship between

Table 3. Comparison of groups according to balloon removal time									
	Early balloon removal				р				
	Mean±SD		Median	Mea	n±SD	Median			
	n	%		n	%				
Age	36.4	1±9.2	38.5	34.6	5±8.8	35.0	0.500 <sup>t</sup>		
Gender									
Female	12	85.7		65	82.3		0.754 <sup>x<sup>2</sup></sup>		
Male	2	14.3		14	17.7				
Weight	83.8±9.70 83		83.5	91.8±15.8		89	0.095 <sup>m</sup>		
Height	166.2±6.6		165.2	169.4±7.5		168.1	0.109 <sup>m</sup>		
BMI	31.7±4.0		32.6	32.9±4.2		32.9	0.327 <sup>t</sup>		
TWL%	4.8	±6.1	0.0	10.8±7.9		10.9	0.011 <sup>m</sup>		
EWL%	17.9	±22.6	0.0	47.0	±70.1	41.7	0.006 <sup>m</sup>		
Balloon volume (ml)	426.8	3±47.5	400.0	453.3	3±54.5	475.0	0.084 <sup>m</sup>		
Last balloon volume (ml)	550.	0±0.0	550.0	528.	5±85.9	550.0	0.734 <sup>m</sup>		
Increase in balloon volume	e								
(-)	6	66.7		13	38.2		0.127 <sup>x<sup>2</sup></sup>		
(+)	3	33.3		21	61.8				
Balloon type									
NalGB	5	35.7		45	57.0		0.142 <sup>X<sup>2</sup></sup>		
alGB	9	64.3		34	43.0				

tindependent sample t-test; <sup>m</sup>Mann–Whitney U test; <sup>x</sup>chi-square test; TWL%: total weight loss percentage; EWL%: excess weight loss percentage; BMI: body mass index.

Table 4. Comparison of ba	alloon ty	pes						
	NalGB			alGB			р	
	Mean±SD		Median	Mea	n±SD	Median		
	n	%		n	%			
Age	36.3±8.6		37.0	33.3	3±8.9	32.0	0.105 <sup>t</sup>	
Gender								
Female	42	84.0		35 81.4			0.740 <sup>X<sup>2</sup></sup>	
Male	8	16.0		8	18.6			
Weight	87.5±14.0		84.0	94.2±16.0		90.0	0.035 <sup>m</sup>	
Weight loss	8.5±7.3		9.0	9.9±8.0		9.0	0.501 <sup>m</sup>	
Change in groups p	0.000 <sup>w</sup>			0.000 <sup>w</sup>				
Height	169.4±7.6		67.7	168.4±7.2		168.1	0.784 <sup>m</sup>	
BMI	31.4	±4.0	31.1	34.3±3.8		34.6	0.000 <sup>m</sup>	
TWL%	9.2:	±7.6	10.0	10.7	7±8.3	10.7	0.463 <sup>m</sup>	
EWL%	49.6:	±50.5	39.1	34.4±80.2		37.3	0.652 <sup>m</sup>	
Balloon volume (ml)	487.1	±23.4	500.0	405.3±45.8		400.0	0.000 <sup>m</sup>	
Excess Weight	19.7:	±10.2	19.7	25.8±11.7		25.6	0.011 <sup>t</sup>	
Early removal of balloon								
(+)	5	10.0		9	20.9		0.142 <sup>X<sup>2</sup></sup>	
(-)	45	90.0		34	79.1			

tindependent sample t-test; "Mann–Whitney U test; x²chi-square test; NaIGB: non-adjustable intragastric balloon; aIGB: adjustable intragastric balloon; TWL%: total weight loss percentage; EWL%: excess weight loss percentage; BMI: body mass index.

balloon volume and weight loss and that an increased volume of up to 700 ml did not cause early removal. The analysis also found that decreased volume could cause distal esophagitis.<sup>[18]</sup> In our study, the mean balloon volume was 449.3±54.1 ml. Change in balloon volume or increased balloon volume did not result in a statistically significant difference in weight loss, EWL%, or TWL%, as in the literature (Table 5).

Although IGBs take up space in the stomach and provide early satiety, it was observed that four patients in the naIGB group gained weight with the balloon in their stomachs. Furthermore, we had five patients who, although lost weight with the balloon, could not lose any weight as soon as the balloon was removed. Thus, 18% of the patients with naIGB did not benefit from the balloon. We also observed that six patients in the aIGB group lost weight but remained at the same weight after the balloon was removed. These findings show that 16.1% of all patients in our study did not achieve weight loss with balloons, which indicates that the balloon should be supported with a strict diet program and exercise and that it does not produce the same results for every patient. One of the most undesirable aspects of balloon application is early balloon removal due to intolerance, which manifests as severe abdominal pain, nausea, and vomiting following insertion. In the literature, balloon removal rates due to intolerance vary widely. A study related to aIGB showed that balloon removal due to intolerance was 17%.<sup>[3]</sup> A systemic review showed that the rate of early balloon removal was 3.5%.<sup>[7]</sup> Another study suggested an early removal rate of 2.2% that consisted of 2.5% with aIGBs, 2.4% with naIGBs, and 0.8% with air-filled IGBs. <sup>[2]</sup> A study that consisted of 1770 elipse gastric balloons suggested that the early removal rate was 2.9%. In our study, the early removal of IGBs due to intolerance was 8.6%, which is compatible with the literature. All patients who could not tolerate the balloon were female, and the intolerant patients in the balloon group had a statistically lower BMI. Additionally, neither balloon type nor initial balloon volume resulted in a change in balloon tolerance (Table 4).

A Brazilian study showed 141 gastric ulcers with IGBs and the need for removal in 28 cases. The authors suggested that the percentage of gastric ulcers with aIGB was 5.7%. Table 5. Comparison of groups due to increase of halloon volume

	Increase of balloon volume (-)		Increase of balloon volume (+)			р	
	Mean±SD		Median		n±SD	Median	
	n	%		n	%		
Age	34.3	3±8.7	37.0	32.	5±9.2	31.0	0.527 <sup>t</sup>
Gender							
Female	16	84.2		19	79.2		0.673 <sup>X²</sup>
Male	3	15.8		5	20.8		
Weight	89.9±14.8		86.0	97.6±16.4		95.5	0.056 <sup>m</sup>
Height	166.0±7.1		64.0	170.3±6.8		70.6	0.047 <sup>t</sup>
BMI	33.9±3.0		34.4	34.6	6±4.3	34.8	0.553 <sup>t</sup>
TWL %	9.3	±6.8	10.0	11.8	8±9.3	13.1	0.335 <sup>t</sup>
EWL %	36.6	±28.5	34.4	32.8:	±105.4	40.7	0.749 <sup>m</sup>
Balloon volume (ml)	428.9	9±45.1	400.0	386.	7±37.5	377.5	0.001 <sup>m</sup>
Early balloon removal							
(+)	6	31.6		3	12.5		0.127 <sup>x²</sup>
(-)	13	68.4		21	87.5		
tindependent sample t-test	t; ™Mann−V	Vhitney U test; <sup>&gt;</sup>	<sup>(²</sup> chi-square test.				

<sup>[2]</sup> Although we recommended the use of proton pump inhibitors for all patients, we had to remove the balloon before its expiry date due to gastric ulcers in three patients (3.2%). Gastric ulcers were seen in patients with aIGB insertion, one of whom was removed in the fourth month and the other two in the third month. This can be related to the balloon or balloon volume increasing to erode the stomach wall and causing ulcers.

IGBs are preferred as an option for patients who want to lose weight but are afraid of the complications of bariatric surgeries. However, although very rare, IGBs can lead to mortal complications and the need for urgent surgery. In the literature, there are case reports of cases that caused intestinal obstruction due to intestinal migration with balloon deflation, cases that required urgent laparoscopic exploration due to gastric perforation, and cases that underwent emergency surgery due to esophageal rupture. <sup>[19–22]</sup> A review suggested that 22 gastric perforations, 2 esophageal perforations, and 12 bowel obstructions have been reported in the literature.<sup>[23]</sup> No such major complications were observed in our study. According to our experience, inflating the balloon under direct endoscopic vision protects patients from incidental iatrogenic esophageal injuries. This is one aspect that makes endoscopic balloons more applicable than non-endoscopic balloons.

Furthermore, the fact that intestinal obstruction cases are rarely seen in non-endoscopic balloons<sup>[24]</sup> is provoking investigations into the reliability of leaving balloons to be excreted through the gastro-intestinal tract rather than removing balloons endoscopically. We noted the benefit of inflating the balloon with methylene blue in three of our patients (3.2%). We prevented the migration of balloons and intestinal obstructions by removing the balloon endoscopically due to the presence of methylene blue in the urine before the expected balloon expiry date.

# Limitations

This study was a single-center retrospective study. A multi-center and prospective study might have achieved more statistically significant results in both types of IGBs. Loss of follow-up rates in the obese population and single-day discharge conditions of endoscopic balloon procedures caused the loss of many patient data, thereby reducing the number of patients in the study. Gastric ulcers that occurred due to discontinuing their stomach-protecting agent medications caused early balloon removal, further reducing the number of patients who reached the balloon expiration date. Establishing a more stringent follow-up program can help reduce the loss of patients to follow-up and patients' data.
### Conclusion

Endoscopic IGBs achieved sufficient weight loss in both groups without major complications. Balloon type, increase in balloon volume, and initial balloon volume did not cause statistically significant differences in weight loss or TWL%. Further multi-center prospective studies are needed on the sustainability of this weight loss and weight regain rate.

#### Disclosures

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the İzmir Bakırçay University Non-Interventional Clinical Trials Ethics Committee on 10.07.2024 with the 1693 decision no 1693.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

Authorship Contributions: Concept – B.K., Y.O.; Design – B.K., S.Ç.E.; Supervision – S.Y., Y.O.; Materials – B.K.; Data Collection – S.Y., Y.O..; Analysis and/ or interpretation – B.K., S.Y.; Literature Search – B.K., S.Ç.E.; Writing – B.K., S.Ç.; Critical Review – S.Y.

### References

- Weitzner ZN, Phan J, Begashaw MM, Mak SS, Booth MS, Shekelle PG, et al. Endoscopic therapies for patients with obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Surg Endosc 2023;37:8166-77.
- Neto MG, Silva LB, Grecco E, de Quadros LG, Teixeira A, Souza T, et al. Brazilian Intragastric Balloon Consensus Statement (BIBC): Practical guidelines based on experience of over 40,000 cases. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2018;14(2):151– 9.
- Abu Dayyeh BK, Maselli DB, Rapaka B, Lavin T, Noar M, Hussan H, et al. Adjustable intragastric balloon for treatment of obesity: A multicentre, open-label, randomised clinical trial. Lancet 2021;398(10315):1965–73.
- Loo JH, Lim YH, Seah HL, Chong AZQ, Tay KV. Intragastric balloon as bridging therapy prior to bariatric surgery for patients with severe obesity (BMI ≥ 50 kg/m<sup>2</sup>): A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Surg 2022;32:489–502.
- Martines G, Dezi A, Giove C, Lantone V, Rotelli MT, Picciariello A, et al. Efficacy of intragastric balloon versus liraglutide as bridge to surgery in super-obese patients. Obes Facts 2023;16(5):457–64.
- Ataey A, Jafarvand E, Adham D, Moradi-Asl E. The relationship between obesity, overweight, and the human development index in World Health Organization Eastern Mediterranean Region countries. J Prev Med Public Health 2020;53(2):98– 105.

- Yorke E, Switzer NJ, Reso A, Shi X, de Gara C, Birch D, et al. Intragastric balloon for management of severe obesity: a systematic review. Obes Surg 2016;26:2248–54.
- Klingler MJ, Kroh M. Endoscopic balloon therapy. Surg Clin North Am 2021;101:355–71.
- Kara YB, Buluc H, Elgezen M, Yildiz E, Yardimci S. A simple way to estimate a difficult sleeve gastrectomy prior to operating. Obes Surg 2024;34(4):1159–67.
- Alsabah S, Al Haddad E, Ekrouf S, Almulla A, Al-Subaie S, Al Kendari M. The safety and efficacy of the procedureless intragastric balloon. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2018;14(3):311–7.
- Fittipaldi-Fernandez RJ, Guedes MR, Galvao Neto MP, Klein MRST, Diestel CF. Efficacy of intragastric balloon treatment for adolescent obesity. Obes Surg 2017;27(10):2546–51.
- 12. Foula MS, Amer NM, Zakaria H, Ismail MH, Alshomimi SJ, Al Bisher HM, et al. Surgical management of intra-gastric balloon complications: Single-center experience and literature review. Obes Surg 2023;33(9):2718–24.
- Eisenberg D, Shikora SA, Aarts E, Aminian A, Angrisani L, Cohen RV, et al. 2022 American Society for Metabolic and Bariatric Surgery (ASMBS) and International Federation for the Surgery of Obesity and Metabolic Disorders (IFSO): Indications for metabolic and bariatric surgery. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2022;18(12):1345–56.
- Stenberg E, dos Reis Falcão LF, O'Kane M, Liem R, Pournaras DJ, Salminen P, et al. Guidelines for perioperative care in bariatric surgery: Enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) Society recommendations: A 2021 update. World J Surg 2022;46:729–51.
- Demirpolat MT, Şişik A. Effectiveness of the modified hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet score in predicting weight loss after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2024;34(1):61–6.
- Ertekin SC. The efficacy of omentopexy during laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: Comparative analysis of surgical outcomes, complications, and quality of life. Cureus 2023;15(9):e45201.
- 17. Kara YB, Ozel Y, Yardimci S. Efficacy of omentopexy on complications of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. Obes Surg 2024;34(9):3298-305.
- Kumar N, Bazerbachi F, Rustagi T, McCarty TR, Thompson CC, Galvao Neto MP, et al. The influence of the Orbera intragastric balloon filling volumes on weight loss, tolerability, and adverse events: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Surg 2017;27(9):2272–8.
- Al Shammari NM, Alshammari AS, Alkandari MA, Abdulsalam AJ. Migration of an intragastric balloon: A case report. Int J Surg Case Rep 2016;27:10–2.
- 20. Almuhanna A, Althwanay R, Alshehri R, AlGarni BA. Migrating BioEnterics® intragastric balloon in a patient presenting with symptoms of intestinal obstruction: A case report. Cureus 2023;15(3):e36515.
- 21. Ermerak NO, Uprak KT, Emran M, Lacin T, Yildizeli B, Yegen C. Esophageal perforation during intragastric balloon ther-

apy: Management of a patient with late referral. Obes Surg 2024;34:272-3.

- 22. Dayan D, Sagie B, Fishman S. Late intragastric balloon-induced gastric perforation. Obes Surg 2016;26(5):1138-40.
- 23. Stavrou G, Tsaousi G, Kotzampassi K. Life-threatening visceral complications after intragastric balloon insertion: Is the

device, the patient, or the doctor to blame? Endosc Int Open 2019;7(2):E122-9.

24. Ienca R, Al Jarallah M, Caballero A, Giardiello C, Rosa M, Kolmer S, et al. The procedureless Elipse gastric balloon program: Multicenter experience in 1770 consecutive patients. Obes Surg 2020;30(9):3354–62.

# A rare case in the literature; isolated cystic duct cyst

## 💿 Serhat Doğan

Department of General Surgery, Kayseri Special Acibadem Hospital, Kayseri, Türkiye

A 38-year-old female patient presents to an external center with dyspeptic complaints. Cholelithiasis is detected in her ultrasonography, and preparations are made for the operation. During laparoscopic cholecystectomy, a choledochal cyst is observed, which was not detected on ultrasonography because it mimicked the gallbladder. The procedure is terminated, and she is referred to our clinic for further examination.

The patient's physical examination is normal; there is no additional illness in her medical history, and no history of drug use. Laboratory values are also normal. The patient undergoes MRCP (Fig. 1), and the report indicates a chole-dochal cyst, type II.

During the operation, a cystic structure next to the gall-

bladder with its own walls is observed (Fig. 2). When separated by sharp and blunt dissection, it is noted that the middle part of the cystic duct is dilated (Fig. 3). There is a narrow connection between the cystic structure and the gallbladder, leading to the conclusion that this part is the beginning of the cystic duct. The cyst is dilated in the middle section and enters the main hepatic duct by narrowing again. In the removed specimen, the part where the clip is located corresponds to the junction of the cystic duct and the main hepatic duct. The cystic duct is dilated in isolation.

When reviewing the literature, we find that three cases of isolated cystic duct dilatations have been presented before this case. We believe this to be the fourth reported case in the literature.



Figure 1. Images from the MRCP of the patient.



Received: 18.07.2024 Revision: 18.07.2024 Accepted: 29.08.2024 Correspondence: Serhat Doğan, M.D., Department of General Surgery, Kayseri Special Acibadem Hospital, Kayseri, Türkiye e-mail: drserhatdogan@gmail.com



Figure 2. In operation photo.



Figure 3. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy specimen.

Macroscopic examination of the surgical specimen did not reveal any biliary tract pathology that could explain the dilatation of the cystic duct. Cholecystectomy was performed, and the specimen was removed en bloc.

Cystic dilatation of the bile ducts is a very rare condition, with an incidence of approximately 1 in 150,000.<sup>[1]</sup> It is more common in Asia, with a female-to-male ratio of 4:1, making it more frequent in women. Almost half of the cases (20%-50%) are encountered in adulthood.

It has been reported that the incidence of choledochal cancer in cases of cystic duct dilatation is up to 100 times higher than in the general population.<sup>[2]</sup>

Choledochal cysts are most commonly classified according to the Todani classification, which includes five types. <sup>[13]</sup> However, dilatation of the cystic duct is not included in Todani's classification. Due to its rarity, no formal classification has been established in the literature. Nonetheless, Serena et al. have named isolated cystic dilatation of the cystic duct as type VI in a modified Todani classification.<sup>[4]</sup>

Ultrasound, computed tomography, MRCP, and endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography can reveal malformations of the biliary tree;<sup>[1:5]</sup> however, in some cases, these may not be identified, and detection during surgery is also possible. If necessary, the case should be referred to a higher-level clinic.

Biliary abnormalities should be surgically addressed due to the risk of serious complications such as pancreatitis, acute cholecystitis, and cholangitis. The treatment of cystic duct dilatation is similar to that of other dilatations, with surgical intervention being the standard approach, as in the treatment of dilatations classified by Todani.

### Disclosures

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

### References

1. Crozier F, Hardwisgen J, Jaoua S, Charrier A, Aillaud S, Bourlière B, et al. Choledocal cyst associated with congenital cystic duct dilatation: Report of two cases. Ann Chir [Article in French] 2003;128(7):459-61.

- Kianmanesh R, Régimbeau JM, Belghiti J. Biliopancreatic junction abnormalities and congenital cystic dilatations of the bile ducts in adults. J Chir [Article in French] 2001;138:196-204.
- Loke TKL, Lam SH, Chan CS. Choledochal cyst: An unusual type of cystic dilatation of the cystic duct. AJR 1999;173:619– 20.
- 4. Serena Serradel AF, Santamaria Linares E, Herrera Goepfer R. Cystic dilatation of the cystic duct: A new type of biliary cyst. Surgery 1991;109:320–22.
- 5. Bode WE, Aust JB. Isolated cystic dilatation of the cystic duct. Am J Surg 1983;145:828-29.